Plankton vertical migrations

Implications for the pelagic ecosystem

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Naturwissenschaften Dr. rer. nat. der Fakultät für Biologie der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Florian Haupt



Zur Beurteilung eingereicht im April 2011

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 04.10.2011

Gutachter:

- 1. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Herwig Stibor
- 2. Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Wilfried Gabriel

Abstract

Habitat selection is an important behavior of many organisms. The direction and strength of this behavior is often characterized as a result of a trade off between predator avoidance and obtaining resources. A characteristic example of this trade off may be seen in organisms in the pelagic ecosystem in the form of vertical migrations. Diel vertical migration (DVM) is a predator avoidance behavior of many zooplankton species, which is marked by a significant shift in the vertical distribution of the zooplankton where night time is spent in the epilimnion and day time in the hypolimnion While the causes of DVM and its ecophysiological consequences for the zooplankton are well studied, little is known about the consequences of DVM for the pelagic food ecosystem. Vertical migrations are not only restricted to zooplankton but are often exhibited by phytoplankton species, which respond to vertical gradients of light and nutrient availability. Many phytoplankton species cope with light and nutrient gradients by changing their position in the water column through active movement or buoyancy adjustment. The costs and consequences of this phytoplankton behavior are hardly studied.

In my thesis, I studied the consequences of zooplankton DVM for the pelagic food web and the consequences of phytoplankton vertical migrations on individual growth and biomass composition through both field and laboratory experiments.

I, Upward phosphorus transport by Daphnia DVM

During stagnation periods of the water column, physical upward transport processes are very unlikely and nutrients become scarce in the photic zone of many lakes. DVM of zooplankton could be a mechanism of nutrient repletion in the epilimnion. I experimentally examined the upward transport of phosphorus by *Daphnia* DVM. Results revealed that *Daphnia* DVM caused an upward nutrient transport. The amount of phosphorus transported and released by *Daphnia* in my study was within a biologically meaningful range: five percent of the estimated daily maximum phosphorus uptake of the phytoplankton community in the epilimnion. Therefore, nutrient transport by *Daphnia* DVM could be a significant mechanism in fuelling primary production in the phosphorus limited epilimnion.

II, Daphnia DVM: implications beyond zooplankton

DVM creates a temporal and spatial predator-free niche for the phytoplankton, and theoretical models predict that parts of the phytoplankton community could use this niche. I experimentally investigated the influence of *Daphnia* DVM on the phytoplankton community of an oligotrophic lake in field mesocosms. My results suggest that *Daphnia* DVM had significant effects on quantitative and qualitative characteristics of the phytoplankton community. Phytoplankton biomass was higher in "no DVM" treatments. DVM also increased diversity in the phytoplankton community. The analyses showed that the gelatinous green algae *Planktosphaeria gelatinosa* was the main species influencing phytoplankton dynamics in the experiment, and therefore the effects of *Daphnia* DVM were highly species specific.

III, Initial size structure of natural phytoplankton communities determines the response to *Daphnia* DVM

Previous studies have shown that the direction and strength of phytoplankton responses to zooplankton DVM most likely depends on the size of the phytoplankton species. To examine the influence of DVM on different sized phytoplankton communities, I manipulated the size distribution of a natural phytoplankton community *a priori* in field mesocosms. The results reveal that DVM oppositely affected the two different phytoplankton communities. A comparison of "DVM" and "no DVM" treatments showed that nutrient availability and total phytoplankton biovolume was higher in "no DVM" treatments of phytoplankton communities consisting mainly of small algae, whereas it was higher in "DVM" treatments of phytoplankton communities with a wide size spectrum of algae. It seemed that two different mechanisms on how DVM can influence the phytoplankton community were at work. In communities of mainly small algae nutrient recycling was important, seemed to be important, whereas in communities with a wide size spectrum of algae the refuge effect played the dominant role.

The ability to move actively should entail costs in terms of increased energy expenditure and the provision of specific cell structures for movement. In a laboratory experiment, I studied whether motile, flagellated and non-motile phytoplankton taxa differ with respect to their energetic costs, phosphorus requirements, and structural carbon requirements. The results show that flagellated taxa had higher respiration rates and higher light requirements for growth than non-motile taxa. Accordingly, both short-term photosynthetic rates and long-term biomass accrual were lower for flagellated than for non-motile taxa. My results point at significant costs of motility, which may explain why flagellated taxa are often outcompeted by non-motile taxa in turbulently mixed environments, where active motility is of little use. The data in this study also suggest that motility alone may not be sufficient to explain the lower C: P ratios of flagellates.

In summary, my results show that migrating phytoplankton and zooplankton species can act as a vector transporting energy, organic matter and ecological interaction. The complex consequences for the pelagic ecosystem are thereby determined by the organisms' activity and characterized by their life history.

Table of contents

Abstra	act	3		
Table	of contents	6		
Prefac	ce	8		
1	Vertical migrations – the history of its research	.10		
1.1	Zooplankton	.10		
1.2	Phytoplankton	.13		
2	Zooplankton diel vertical migration – consequences for the pelagic ecosystem	.15		
2.1	Reduced grazing	.15		
2.1.1	Discontinuous grazing	.15		
2.1.2	Temperature effects	.17		
2.2	Nutrient dynamics	.17		
3	Phytoplankton vertical migration – consequences for the phytoplankton	.20		
4	Hypotheses	.21		
5	Publications	.23		
5.1	Upward phosphorus transport by Daphnia diel vertical migration	.24		
5.2	Daphnia diel vertical migration: implications beyond zooplankton	.31		
5.3	Initial size structure of natural phytoplankton communities determines the response to <i>Daphnia</i> diel vertical migration			
5.4	Carbon sequestration and stoichiometry of motile and nonmotile green algae	.71		
6	Discussion of methods	.79		
6.1	Studying zooplankton DVM – problems and consequences	.79		
6.2	Experimental setup – field mesocosm studies	.80		
6.3	Experimental setup – laboratory mesocosm studies	.81		
6.4	Experimental setup – laboratory microcosm studies	.81		
7	General discussion of results	.83		
7.1	Predator avoidance migrations	.84		
7.2	Migrations to optimize resource uptake	.86		
7.3	Resume	.87		
8	Outlook	.88		
8.1	Zooplankton DVM effects on a global scale	.88		

8.2	Research with other zooplankton groups	89
8.3	Research with migrating phytoplankton	90
8.4	Methodological improvements in studying zooplankton DVM effects	91
8.5	Modelling the effects of migrations on pelagic ecosystems	92
Refe	rences	93
Pers	onal notes	102
Curri	culum vitae	102
Publi	cations	104
Pres	entations	105
Ackr	owledgments	106
Decl	aration	107

Preface

The open-water zone of lakes and oceans is known as the pelagic zone. The organisms of the pelagic ecosystem are traditionally divided in two communities: the plankton and the nekton communities, which are distinguished by their ability to swim. Plankton are suspended in the water column and passively transported by water movement, whereas nektonic organisms are swimmers, actively determining their position in the pelagic realm.

Plankton are subdivided in different functional levels: phytoplankton, bacterioplankton and zooplankton. The phytoplankton, as primary producers, consists of algae and cyanobacteria, or blue-green algae, ranging in size from 0.5 µm to 1 mm. The bacterioplankton have the most diverse trophic positions and are usually smaller than 1 µm. Bacterioplanctonic species can be decomposers and chemolithoautotroph primary producers in aerobic water zones or photolithoautotroph primary producers in anaerobic zones. Zooplankton are consumers and are made up mainly of protozoa, rotifera, cnidaria, thaliacea and crustacea with sizes ranging from a few micrometers up to 1 cm and even far above for jellyfish. In the zooplankton, different trophic levels exist: herbivory, bacteriovory and zooplanktivory. In addition to these three main groups, the plankton includes fungi, which can be decomposers or parasites, and planktonic viruses with mostly unknown ecological roles. The nekton is made up mainly of fish species, which may be either planktivores (usually zooplanktivores) or piscivores.

This strict, traditional view of plankton and nekton is not justified if one considers the ability for active swimming by many planktonic organisms, such as flagellates and many of the crustacean species. Most have the ability to move and migrate and to position themselves within the water column to a certain degree.

The reasons to migrate within the water column are manifold. Planktonic species can position themselves to optimize the uptake of resources. In phytoplankton light or mineral nutrients, which are normally not evenly distributed within the water column, can cause repositioning. Due to sedimentation and remineralization processes, light attenuates exponentially with depth, and nutrient concentrations often increase with depth.

Planktonic species can also migrate to avoid predation. Within the pelagic environment few structures exist that can be used for hiding; however, zooplankton can swim down to deeper waters where light is low and darkness provides cover. One of the most conspicuous features of zooplankton is the marked vertical migration of these small animals over large distances on a daily basis. This so called diel vertical migration (DVM) occurs in a wide range of both freshwater and marine zooplankton taxa and could represents the largest animal migration in terms of biomass in the world. In the case of phytoplankton, vertical migrations can surely be seen as the largest plant migration in terms of biomass.

In this thesis, I focus on the effects of zooplankton DVM on the ecological dynamics of the pelagic zone in freshwater ecosystems and additionally on the individual physiological consequences of migrating phytoplankton species.

1 Vertical migrations – the history of its research

1.1 Zooplankton

The first published observation about vertical migration behavior of zooplankton in freshwater ecosystems was published in the late 19th century (Weismann 1877, Forel 1877). It is not surprisingly that since the first descriptions of the vertical migration phenomenon in zooplankton, there has been extensive research on the adaptive significance and consequences for the wider ecosystem (e.g. Forel 1878, Hardy and Gunther 1935, Cushing 1951, Pearre 2003). The daily movement of the zooplankton was first studied in Lake Constance nearly one and a half century ago by Weismann (1877). At the end of the 19th and the beginning of the 20th century, several studies regarding zooplankton vertical migration in different lakes and ponds across Europe were published (Pavesi 1882, Francé 1884, Blanc 1898, Steuer 1901, Lozeron 1902). These studies established the ubiquity of the phenomenon in freshwater systems, and since then a large amount of studies dealing with zooplankton DVM have been conducted.

Due to the fact that DVM was best observed in deep, unproductive and thus transparent lakes, Lozeron (1902) compared lakes with different transparency levels. He noted that the amplitude of the migration behavior is larger in transparent lakes than in less transparent lakes. Kikuchi (1930) could show very clearly that the depth of the largest population (in his case the genus *Diaphanosoma*) depends on the transparency of the water column. As the light level in the water column decreases with increasing water depth and decreasing transparency, light was considered a controlling mechanism of migration behavior. During the whole 20th century, various authors could show that a light-mediated circadian rhythm underlies many cases of vertical migration of zooplankton (Dice 1914, Siebeck 1960, Ringelberg et al. 1967, Loose 1993).

Most evidence indicates that changes in light intensity trigger diurnal vertical migration (Enright and Hamner 1967). Ringelberg et al. (1967) demonstrated that migration stops when light changes more slowly than the threshold value, that is, when light change is slower than the eye. Movement itself can vary considerably depending on the size and

shape of the lake. Important distinguishing factors are underwater light conditions, season, predation pressure, predator presence, and age and sex of migrating species.

The most common migration behavior of zooplankton species is the upward migration from deeper waters to upper water strata at dusk and return to deeper strata at dawn. This behavior results in a maximum number of migrating individuals in the upper water strata somewhere between sunset and sunrise and is called nocturnal migration. Twilight migration, an unusual migration behavior, results in two surface maxima, one at dusk and one at dawn. Finally, the reverse migration is characterized by a surface maximum during daytime. However, variations in vertical migration, also within one of these three groups are great and the amplitude of migrations varies strongly during the year. The reasons for this are manifold. Some main aspects are a decrease of oxygen in deeper water layers during the course of the year and a change in light conditions resulting from seasonal changes in turbidity. Furthermore, changes in predation pressure may also be of importance.

The widespread occurrence of DVM in lakes and marine waters performed by many zooplankton taxa suggests that it has an adaptive value, and research has long focused on the ultimate cause of DVM. At first it seems unlikely that all zooplankton organisms in freshwater and marine environments are driven by the same ecological needs; however all grazing zooplankton species have comparable costs and benefits resulting from DVM. Migrating individuals spend the night in warmer, food-rich shallow water and the day in deeper, colder water where the quantity of food tends to be lower. The time spent in the deeper water is disadvantageous in terms of growth and reproduction, because low temperature slows down individual growth and egg development (Bottrell 1975, Reichwaldt et al. 2005). These two factors lower the reproduction rate, which shows that there is a strong selection pressure to stay in warmer and food richer upper layers. Therefore, migrating genotypes of a zooplankton population should be outcompeted by non-migrating ones very quickly, but this is not the case (Stich and Lampert 1981).

Since the early studies about zooplankton DVM, many theories about reasons and consequences of DVM for migrating zooplankton species have been stated. They can be summarized in two main categories. The first category deals with the fact that metabolic disadvantages experienced by migrating zooplankton species may be lower than previously assumed and that changing conditions during migration may even be of

advantage for the zooplankton due to a more efficient use of energy. The second category assumes that avoiding shallow water during the day reduces light dependent mortality. The hypothesis for the first category assumes that there is a metabolic advantage of switching between feeding at high temperatures and staying and growing at lower temperatures. All experimental tests of this hypothesis based on bioenergetics have concluded that it is energetically better to stay in shallow water (summarized in Lampert 1993). For this reason, the hypothesis belonging to the second category - stating increased fitness by reduced mortality as an advantage of DVM - seemed more likely.

Kozhov (1963) postulated a very convincing hypothesis: DVM is a strategy of zooplankton to avoid optical orientated predators, which are mainly fish. This "predator avoidance" hypothesis states, that zooplankton stay in darker water during daytime and migrate up to shallower water only during the night, thereby using the darkness as protection. This resulted in three predictions:

- 1. Zooplankton migrates up in the evening and down in the morning.
- 2. DVM should mainly occur in zooplankton that are visible to fish
- 3. The amplitude of the migration should be influenced by the activity and abundance of fish

These predictions cleary state that several general conditions have to been fulfilled to induce DVM. As mentioned above, light is the primary controlling (proximate) factor inducing and regulating the amplitude of DVM (Ringelberg 1991, 1993). The general controlling, evolutionary (ultimate) factor is the presence of fish (Zaret and Suffern 1976, Stich and Lampert 1981). Ringelberg et al. (1991) could show that zooplankton only migrate when fish are present. It was also shown that fish release kairomones, or predator released chemicals that could benefit the receiver, which can be detected by zooplankton and influence the migration behavior (Dawidowicz et al. 1990, Loose et al. 1993). Additionally, as shown in experiments, a reduction of fish abundance clearly resulted in a cessation of DVM behavior (Dini and Carpenter 1988).

The results of the studies in the past one and a half centuries show that DVM can be characterized as a synchronized vertical migration upward at dusk and downwards at dawn. These migrations occur mainly among zooplankton species, which are easily visible to fish in both marine and freshwater ecosystems. The amplitude of the vertical migration varies with water turbidity and presence and activity of fish. The controlling factors are changes in light intensity and kairomones released by fish.

As the general mechanisms of how DVM is induced and controlled were clarified, further studies focused on the effects of the migration behavior on the migrating zooplankton itself. Costs and benefits of DVM, created by changing food and temperature conditions between shallow and deep water and the dependency of amplitude of the migration due to external factors, were highly studied und discussed (Orcutt and Porter 1983, Stich and Lampert 1984, Lampert et al. 1988, Loose and Dawidowicz 1994, Lass et al. 2000, Pearre 2003, Reichwaldt et al. 2005).

Even though the causes and consequences for the migrating zooplankton individuals are well studied and understood nowadays, the consequences of DVM for the pelagic ecosystem are not yet studied in detail. This mismatch between individual and ecosystem approaches of DVM studies can be seen in a current textbook about DVM (Ringelberg 2010), entitled as "...the first critical discussion of the literature in 100 years of research..." that also lacks at least one chapter about the consequences of zooplankton DVM on the pelagic ecosystem.

There are only a small number of empirical studies (Reichwaldt et al. 2004, Reichwaldt and Stibor 2005) and modeling studies (Lampert 1987, Petzoldt et al. 2009) dealing with the consequences of DVM on the pelagic ecosystem. Considering the global amount of zooplankton biomass involved in performing DVM, it seems clear that DVM should have tremendous consequences for the pelagic ecosystem and its food web structures.

1.2 Phytoplankton

Migrations are not restricted to zooplankton. Indeed, phytoplankton species from different algal groups can show distinct migration patterns. The earliest published observations of migrations of phytoplankton species appeared about a century later than those of zooplankton; e.g. *Ceratium* sp. (dinoflagellate) Gran (1919), *Gonyostomum semen* (dinoflagellate) Cowles and Brambel (1936) and *Coscinodiscus bouvet* (diatom) Hardy and Gunther (1935). DVM of motile phytoplankton does not normally span the amplitudes characteristic of zooplankton but can extend to an

amplitude of up to 10 m for freshwater species (Berman and Rodhe 1971) and up to 20 m for marine species (Eppley et al. 1968, Blasco 1978).

Three types of migration patterns have been reported. Flagellates can be concentrated in upper water by day and in deeper strata by night (Sommer and Gliwicz 1986). Flagellates can be concentrated in the upper water during the day and disperse in the whole water column during the night (Sommer 1982). A slight descent during the period of maximum irradiance may be superimposed on both patterns. A reverse migration pattern (concentration near the bottom during daytime, dispersal during night) was reported only for the mountainous Finstertaler Lake (Tilzer 1973). The type of the migrational behavior of phytoplankton species may change during the year (Frempong 1984).

There are various reasons for the migration behavior of phytoplankton. For example, the grazing pressure by zooplankton could force the algae to migrate. Certain algal species such as motile flagellates can move downward during darkness to avoid the predation, which can be seen as a survival adaptation to the increased grazing pressure during the night. Migrating phytoplankton species can also absorb nutrients in the dark in deep water (Gran, 1919, Fogg and Walsby 1971, Villareal and Lipschultz, 1995) in addition to light and CO_2 (Fogg and Walsby 1971, Paerl and Ustach 1982) during the day in shallow water, so that resource uptake may be considered to govern both directions of movement. Raven and Richardson (1984) estimated that at least for dinophytes, this strategy could be energetically very advantageous, and it is now often considered to be the primary adaptive reason for vertical migrations in photosynthetic organisms (Arvola et al. 1991, Salonen and Rosenberg 2000).

Despite the considerable experimentation and speculation over the years, neither the proximate nor the ultimate controlling factors of this phytoplankton behavior are fully understood yet (Bormans et al. 1999). The migration behavior of algae has additional causes, such as optimization of nutrient and light uptake in the vertical gradient. Contrary to zooplankton, the costs of active movement in phytoplankton are nearly not investigated. Estimates of the costs of mobility in terms of growth and biomass composition are rare (e.g. Raven and Richardson 1984) and the influence of these parameters on carbon and phosphorus dynamics of mobile algae species are not yet studied.

2 Zooplankton diel vertical migration – consequences for the pelagic ecosystem

2.1 Reduced grazing

2.1.1 Discontinuous grazing

Numerous studies have shown that mesozooplankton grazing in marine and freshwater ecosystems can affect the phytoplankton community composition and the total phytoplankton biomass (Sarnelle 1992, Sommer et al. 2001, Sommer and Stibor 2002, Stibor et al. 2004a, Smith et al. 2010). Therefore, the predator induced DVM behavior by the zooplankton should influence the grazing pressure and the temporal and spatial grazing pattern in the epi- and hypolimnion and therewith phytoplankton population dynamics in those habitats.

This is a classic example of a "trait mediated effect". Trait mediated effects emerge from the influence of a predator not by direct trophic interactions accompanied by mortality (predation) but from indirect interaction such as behavioral changes of the prey during escape responses. These indirect interactions also affect the resource of the prey. In the case of DVM, the predator (fish) would not only influence the phytoplankton community directly by a reduction of its prey (the zooplankton) but also indirectly by the induced migration behavior of the zooplankton.

The fact that DVM of zooplankton influence pelagic food webs was recognized early (Lampert 1987, 1992). However, despite the general interest in theoretical ecology and in experimental studies of "trait mediated interactions" (Peacor and Werner 2001, Trussell et al. 2003, Schmitz et al. 2004) and the general importance of phytoplankton-zooplankton interactions for pelagic food webs, nearly no empirical data (except Reichwaldt et al. 2004, Reichwaldt and Stibor 2005) exists.

One of the most important points in studying the effects of DVM on the pelagic food web structure is the temporal and local refuge for all edible algal species in the phytoplankton community of shallow water created by the downward migration behavior of the zooplankton. This refuge can affect the growth of the phytoplankton community (Petipa and Makarova 1969) by creating discontinuous predator-caused mortality during the day, which follows with the theory that prey organisms with high growth rates should be able to use this refuge better than slower growing ones.

As a result, fast growing algal species could be fostered disproportionate and shift competition between algal species with different growth rates. A basic theoretical model (Lampert 1987) (Fig. 1) implies that discontinuous grazing could also lead to a higher phytoplankton biomass, compared to similar systems with continuous grazing, even if total grazing of zooplankton under discontinuous and continuous conditions is similar during the observation period. The fostering effect of discontinuous grazing increases with increasing phytoplankton growth rate.



Fig. 1: Model calculation of the effect of different diel grazing patterns of zooplankton on edible phytoplankton net production. In both patterns, the same total algal biomass is consumed by the zooplankton per day. The lower line estimates algal biomass change if grazing is continuously (no DVM). The upper dashed line estimates algal biomass change if grazing takes place only during the night (DVM). The area between the two lines indicates the difference in the relative change of algal biomass for the two grazing patterns. In this example, the grazed algal biomass is equal to the unaffected primary production per day (Lampert 1987).

These theoretical expectations could be confirmed in first laboratory studies. In treatments where the total amount of grazed algae was not different under a continuous and discontinuous grazing regime, Reichwaldt et al. (2004) could show a higher daily algae growth under discontinuous grazing. A second result of this study was the strong influence of the grazing regime on the competition between the algae. In algal communities with different species, highly competitive algae under continuous grazing regime proved to be bad competitors under discontinuous grazing regime.

2.1.2 Temperature effects

Another important aspect of how DVM can influence the phytoplankton community is the temperature difference between the upper and lower water layers, which is the normal case in stratified lakes of temperate regions (Lampert and Sommer 2007). Zooplankton experience a lower temperature in deeper water layers, which can drastically reduce the growth rate of the zooplankton community (Bottrell 1975, Loose and Dawidowicz 1994, Reichwaldt and Stibor 2005). Zooplankton population abundance can for this reason be lower, which would result in a lower grazing pressure on the phytoplankton community. The lower density of migrating compared to nonmigrating zooplankton populations is certainly only the case if one leaves out predation as a potential mortality factor, because if predation is present, a non-migrating population would also have lower growth due to this predation (Stich and Lampert 1981). However, until now little is known about the influence of a fluctuating temperature regime experienced by zooplankton during their migration and the resulting consequences for the pelagic ecosystem. (Note that such temperature effects of DVM were not part of my study but of a previous one, Reichwaldt and Stibor 2005).

This section mentioned aspects of how changes in zooplankton grazing patterns - created by DVM - can influence pelagic ecosystems are rarely studied in field studies. Initial experiments by Reichwaldt and Stibor (2005) indicate the importance of the above mentioned effects on zooplankton-phytoplankton interactions under DVM conditions. They were able to show that DVM of zooplankton could enhance the biomass of the phytoplankton community in the epilimnion and that it can have strong impacts on the composition of the phytoplankton community by fostering small edible algae.

2.2 Nutrient dynamics

In the pelagic ecosystem of a lake, vertical gradients play an important role. In most lakes abiotic parameters such as light, temperature and oxygen concentration decrease with increasing water depth. Additionally, a vertical nutrient gradient exists in nearly every lake. This gradient is caused by the continuous sedimentation of organisms due to gravity and also the demineralization of organisms. Nutrients thereby get lost in upper water layers and concentrated in deeper water layers. In lakes of temperate regions, full circulation of the water column (which mostly happens twice a year in spring and fall) redistributes the nutrients in the whole water column.

However, during stagnant periods of the water column, physical upward transport processes are very unlikely. Therefore, due to the high nutrient demand of primary production, which nearly exclusively takes place in the epilimnion, nutrients are depleted in upper water layers resulting in a strong shortage of nutrients. Even dissolved phosphorus and its biologically relevant form, orthophosphate, which is the most important growth-limiting nutrient in most lakes, is often reduced below the detection limit (for a detailed description of the succession processes in lakes of temperate regions, see Sommer et al. 1986). This depletion of nutrients, therefore, has a strong influence on the often nutrient limited bacterio- and phytoplankton communities in the epilimnion.

DVM of zooplankton could be an upward nutrient transport process. The daily migration behavior of zooplankton provides more nutrients for the phytoplankton community in upper water layers but only if zooplankton have enough food in deeper water layers (Kitchell et al. 1979, Dini et al. 1987, Winder et al. 2003). Seston in deeper water layers often have a high quality as food because the nutrient concentrations are often high in deeper water layers. Additionally, light intensity is low in deeper water layers but often sufficient for low primary production. Phytoplankton in deeper water layers are therefore often characterized by a high nutrient (e.g. phosphorus) uptake and low light-dependent carbon assimilation, which results in a low carbon: phosphorus (C: P) ratio of their biomass (Sterner et al. 1997).

Zooplankton organisms exhibit a lower C: P ratio than algae, and their C: P ratio is not as variable as those of algae; therefore algae with a lower C: P ratio are supposed to be a better food than algae with a high C: P ratio (Urabe and Sterner 1996, Boersma 2000, Becker and Boersma 2003). Additionally, protozoa in deep water layers are also high quality food for zooplankton. For examples copepods, as omnivores, use protozoa as an additionally food source (Zöllner et al. 2003, Stibor et al. 2004b).The conditions found in the upper water layers are often contrary to the conditions found in deep water layers. In surface waters, light availability is high, but nutrient availability, especially phosphorus, is low during periods of stratification. Therefore, algae in the epilimnion often exhibit high C: P ratios and can be seen as low quality food (Urabe and Sterner 1996, Sterner and Schwalbach 2001).

The possible mechanism for upward nutrient transport can be as follows: zooplankton graze on potentially nutrient-rich seston (Winder et al. 2003) during the day in the

hypolimnion, migrate up to the epilimnion in the evening and excrete nutrients in upper water layers (Sterner and Schwalbach 2001), causing a nutrient transport between the epi- and hypolimnion. The quality and quantity of the transported nutrients would depend on the amount and the nutrient content of the food in the hypolimnion, as well as on the metabolic rate of the zooplankton, which is strongly temperature-dependent (Orcutt and Porter 1984). Clearly zooplankton also cause a downward nutrient transport due to their downward migration in the morning. Therefore, whether DVM causes a net nutrient transport to upper or deeper water layers depends on the total amount of food, the quality of food in epi- and hypolimnion, the food demands of the zooplankton, the temperature, and the length of stay by zooplankton in epi- and hypolimnion.

Additionally, the DVM coupled nutrient transport could change the nutrient composition of algae in the epilimnion and lower their C: P ratio, which can increase the quantity and improve the nutritional quality of algae as for food for zooplankton. For this reason, a loop seems possible; the change in seston quality and quantity can influence zooplankton dynamics and therewith the entire pelagic trophic cascade.

3 Phytoplankton vertical migration – consequences for the phytoplankton

Vertical migrations in stratified water columns are not only performed by zooplankton. Light and nutrients are essential components needed for primary production in pelagic ecosystems; the availability of both strongly varies in the water column. Therefore, phytoplankton species often experience contrary vertical gradients of light and nutrients (Olli 1999). Many phytoplankton species cope with this problem by changing their position in the water column through active movement or buoyancy adjustment. These periodic vertical migrations allow motile algae to access deeper nutrient-rich waters and to adjust for optimal irradiance.

Active movements are reflected in higher metabolic rates and higher light requirements for growth. The uptake of nutrients and the rate of light-dependent carbon fixation of phytoplankton are not tightly coupled, and the carbon to nutrient ratio in phytoplankton biomass is often very variable (Sterner et al. 1997, Striebel et al. 2008). The C: P ratio can vary 20-fold as a result of varying light and phosphorus availability (Urabe and Sterner 1996). Therefore, it seems obvious that actively motile and non-motile phytoplankton species should differ in flexibility and range of their biomass C: P ratios.

Motile taxa, which perform periodical vertical migrations between illuminated, upper water layers and nutrient rich, deep water layers, exhibit a more balanced ratio of carbon fixation to phosphorus uptake, compared to non-motile taxa. Additionally, motile taxa respire more carbon and need more phosphorus, due to higher metabolic rates demanded by active movement reflected in lower C: P ratios. Finally, many non-motile taxa of green algae possess cell walls with high carbon compounds, which increase their C: P ratios compared to motile taxa. Studies investigating the different C: P demands and biomass composition of motile and non-motile taxa are until now missing.

In conclusion, the ability to move actively changes the biomass composition of motile species and entails costs in terms of increased energy expenditure and in specific cell structures needed for movement. However, the consequences and costs are not yet known.

4 Hypotheses

This thesis focuses on the consequences of migrating zooplankton and phytoplankton species for pelagic ecosystem composition and dynamics. The following scientific issues are addressed:

1. Modern ecological stoichiometry points towards the fact that herbivores can be important vectors of nutrients. Dependent on the biochemical composition of their food, herbivores can be sources or sinks of important, potentially growth-limiting nutrients, such as phosphorus or nitrogen. Zooplankton DVM therefore could be an important mechanism of how nutrients from nutrient rich deep waters can be transported to normally nutrient poor surface waters. Up to now an estimate of the magnitude and the biological relevance of a zooplankton DVM-mediated nutrient transport for phytoplankton community growth is missing.

2. DVM of zooplankton may also strongly influence the phytoplankton community by migration pattern dependent grazing. Zooplankton DVM creates a spatial and temporal refuge for phytoplankton species in allowing a period of reduced mortality due to less grazing by zooplankton during the day in upper water layers. Theoretical models suggest that especially fast-growing algae could use such a refuge for growth, which would enhance phytoplankton biomass during periods of zooplankton DVM.

3. Body size plays an important role in all ecological interactions. Previous studies made clear that individual size of phytoplankton species determines to a large extent their response to zooplankton DVM. Different size structured phytoplankton communities, as caused by yearly plankton succession, could show a different reaction to zooplankton DVM. Field experiments investigating the effects of zooplankton DVM on phytoplankton community dynamics normally allow only *post hoc* reasoning about mechanisms on how zooplankton DVM can influence phytoplankton performance. To answer whether phytoplankton community structure has an influence on the direction and strength of zooplankton DVM mediated effects, one has to experimentally manipulate phytoplankton community structure *a priori*. Only this will allow investigations of how community structure interacts with zooplankton DVM under identical environmental conditions.

4. In pelagic ecosystems vertical migration is not only restricted to zooplankton; a variety of phytoplankton species also show diurnal vertical migration behavior. One possible reason for this is that algae can thereby position themselves in optimal light and nutrient conditions within the water column. Light is decreasing with depth, whereas nutrients are normally increasing. Migrating into deeper waters can increase nutrient uptake, whereas upwards migration ensures optimal light uptake during day. Such behavior could have consequences for the carbon to nutrient ratio of migrating phytoplankton species with additionally consequences for pelagic nutrient dynamics and phytoplankton-zooplankton interactions.

The above described open research fields motivated me to investigate the following four hypotheses.

- I. DVM of zooplankton cause a measurable and biologically relevant upward nutrient transport between hypolimnion and epilimnion.
- II. DVM of zooplankton influence the growth and biomass of the phytoplankton community by creating a discontinuous grazing regime.
- III. DVM of zooplankton have different effects on phytoplankton communities with different size structures.
- IV. Vertical migration of motile phytoplankton influences the biochemical composition of phytoplankton communities, because motile species have higher nutrient demands compared to non-motile species.

Publications

The above mentioned hypotheses were experimentally tested using field and laboratory experiments. The resulting four studies are presented in detail in the following papers.

5.1 Upward phosphorus transport by *Daphnia* diel vertical migration

Haupt, F., Stockenreiter, M., Reichwaldt, E. S., Baumgartner, M., Lampert, W., Boersma, M. and Stibor, H. (2010)

Limnology and Oceanography, **55**, 529-534.



Limnol. Oceanogr., 55(2), 2010, 529-534 © 2010, by the American Society of Limnology and Oceanography, Inc.

Upward phosphorus transport by *Daphnia* diel vertical migration

Florian Haupt,^{a,*} Maria Stockenreiter,^a Elke S. Reichwaldt,^{b,c} Michaela Baumgartner,^a Winfried Lampert,^b Maarten Boersma,^d and Herwig Stibor^{a,e}

^a Department Biologie II, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München, Planegg-Martinsried, Germany

^bMax Planck Institute for Evolutionary Biology, Plön, Germany

^c Aquatic Ecology and Ecosystem Studies, School of Environmental Systems Engineering, The University of Western Australia, Crawley, Australia

^dAlfred-Wegener-Institut für Polar- und Meeresforschung, Biologische Anstalt Helgoland, Helgoland, Germany

e European Institute for Marine Studies, Technopole Brest-Iroise, Plouzane, France

Abstract

In many lakes, zooplankton show a distinct diel vertical migration (DVM) behavior, especially during periods of stratification. Excretion products of these zooplankton could potentially cause an upward nutrient transport and consequent nutrient enrichment for phytoplankton in the epilimnion. We quantified the upward transport of phosphorus by the cladoceran *Daphnia* DVM experimentally by adding a radioactive tracer (³³P) to the hypolimnion of large indoor mesocosms and measuring tracer accumulation in the epilimnion over time. During the daytime, when all *Daphnia* were found in the hypolimnion, no phosphorus transport from the hypolimnion into the epilimnion took place. As soon as the *Daphnia* started their upward migration, around dusk, we observed a continuous increase in phosphorus concentration in the epilimnion. The amount of phosphorus transported was in a biologically meaningful range. Our results strongly suggest that *Daphnia* vertical migration presents a continuous nutrient supply for the epilimnion.

Diel vertical migration (DVM) of zooplankton is one of the world's largest synchronized movements of animals (Hays 2003). It is a daily habitat shift of zooplankton from deeper water regions during the day to surface waters at night. DVM is a well-investigated phenomenon and both the ultimate and proximate reasons for this behavior have been elucidated (Ringelberg 1991; Lampert 1993; Loose et al. 1993). Previous DVM research has focused primarily on the ecophysiological consequences for the migrating zooplankton (Loose and Dawidowicz 1994; Reichwaldt et al. 2005), since environmental factors such as temperature or feeding conditions vary in different water layers. In contrast, there have been very few studies on the consequences of DVM for the dynamics of the pelagic ecosystem as a whole (Reichwaldt and Stibor 2005; Haupt et al. 2009). This is surprising since, considering the ecosystem-scale amount of biomass involved in DVM, it is likely that DVM also influences ecosystem dynamics.

Implications of DVM for ecosystem dynamics can be manyfold. DVM can influence phytoplankton dynamics by altering grazing patterns, by influencing zooplankton population growth (and thereby grazing pressure on phytoplankton), and by nutrient redistribution due to excretion of migrating zooplankton. DVM results in a discontinuous grazing pattern of zooplankton on phytoplankton in upper pelagic layers during the daytime. Theoretical models and some experimental evidence suggest that such a temporal refuge for algae can promote growth of certain algal species (Lampert et al. 1988; Reichwaldt et al. 2005), and actually increase the diversity of the phytoplankton community (Haupt et al. 2009). DVM also results in a lower growth rate of migrating zooplankton populations (Loose and Dawidowicz 1994), as animals stay in the colder hypolimnion during the daytime. This DVM directly decreases the grazing pressure on phytoplankton communities when lower zooplankton growth rates result in lower population densities. DVM may also result in nutrient transport and redistribution between deeper and upper water layers. This transport may affect the availability of limiting nutrients, such as phosphorus, and thereby influences the temporal and spatial growth dynamics of primary producers.

The interacting mechanisms by which DVM influences phytoplankton dynamics cannot be separated in nature. For example, grazing and release of nutrients are tightly coupled processes. However, to fully understand the consequences of DVM on phytoplankton dynamics, separate estimates are needed for the different mechanisms by which DVM influences pelagic food webs. Hence, detailed studies examining the effects of DVM on nutrients are needed. Although Lampert and Grey (2003) showed that *Daphnia* could transport nitrogen from the hypolimnion into the epilimnion, their study did not include DVM conditions.

Because of the permanent gravity-induced downward nutrient flux caused by sinking organisms and particles, nutrients tend to concentrate in deeper water layers, especially during periods of stratification, thus depleting the epilimnion of nutrients. Hence, especially during those periods, DVM could be a daily source of nutrients for phytoplankton growth. Physical diffusion processes in the water column can hardly compensate these losses because vertical eddy diffusivities are normally two or three orders of magnitude smaller than horizontal ones (Spigel and Imberger 1987). Hence, biological upward nutrient trans-

^{*} Corresponding author: haupt@zi.biologie.uni-muenchen.de

Haupt et al.

port mediated by migrating zooplankton from deeper water layers may be the only regular internal supply during summer stratification when nutrients, especially phosphorus, are severely limiting in upper water layers (Sommer et al. 1986).

Recent evidence showing that zooplankton release phosphorus continuously (DeMott et al. 1998; Anderson et al. 2005; Boersma and Wiltshire 2006) contradicted the traditional view that suggested that excretion of limiting nutrient should approach zero under severe nutrient limitation (Olsen et al. 1986). A physiological explanation for a continuous release is that animals will generally not approach 100% element assimilation efficiency (DeMott et al. 1998), and do not have perfect retention capacity during excretion. Furthermore, there will be some metabolic phosphorus demand, which also results in a net loss (Anderson et al. 2005).

Migrating zooplankton transport nutrients upward as they migrate up at dusk, and transport material downward when they migrate down at dawn. To our knowledge, no direct measurements exist of nutrients transported by Daphnia DVM. Dini et al. (1987) estimated the amount of phosphorus transported downward by Daphnia DVM to be half of the upward transport. However, the ecological effects of the downward transport are completely different from the effects of upward transport. Downward transport is accompanied by the large gravity-driven sedimentation of particles, and phosphorus is not limiting in deeper water layers. Although upper layers of pelagic ecosystems are often nutrient but not light limited, deeper water layers are usually light limited but have sufficient nutrients. Thus, the input of nutrients into deeper water layers will not enhance primary production. Additionally, the downward migration of zooplankton during DVM also removes phytoplankton from the upper layers and thereby additionally reduces nutrient competition in the upper layers. In contrast, the upward nutrient transport into the nutrientlimited upper layers, where most primary production generally occurs, will immediately result in nutrient uptake by phytoplankton.

The above-mentioned arguments show that the ecosystem-scale consequences of upward and downward nutrient fluxes by DVM are very different. Irrespective of the size of the downward flux, an upward flux will always have direct consequences for phytoplankton primary production. The greater the nutrient limitation of the phytoplankton community in the epilimnion, the larger the effects of upward nutrient import will be. Until now, nutrient transport into upper water layers by migrating zooplankton has not been quantified. Measurements are difficult to perform because it is impossible to distinguish phosphorus originating from upper and lower water layers in natural systems, and also because the amounts of phosphorus involved during migration may be too small to be technically analyzed. The detection limit using photometric methods is far above phosphorus levels that could be important for biological dynamics such as primary production or bacterial growth (Vadstein 2000). The use of radioactive tracers provides an elegant solution to overcome both hindrances.



Fig. 1. Vertical temperature gradient in the two plankton towers. The two profiles are nearly identical and the symbols overlay one another.

Methods

We investigated the upward flux of phosphorus using the radioactive phosphorus tracer 33P during Daphnia DVM in two large indoor mesocosms, the so-called "plankton towers" at the Max Planck Institute for Limnology in Plön, Germany, which have since been removed. The plankton towers were 11.5 m high, had an inner diameter of 0.85 m, and were used in a variety of studies investigating plankton dynamics in controlled large-scale indoor systems. The towers were described in detail elsewhere (Lampert and Loose 1992). We filled the towers with 10 μ m of filtered epilimnetic water from mesotrophic Lake Schöhsee, Germany. The experiment was carried out in August 2006, the period of the year when the epilimnion of Lake Schöhsee is largely nutrient depleted. After filling, water was thermally stratified. Temperatures during the experiment were 20°C in the epilimnion (0 to 2.1 m) and 10°C in the hypolimnion (3.0 to 5.1 m), with a steep thermocline between the layers. The maximum hypolimnion depth of 5.1 m was chosen because earlier experiments in the plankton towers showed that Daphnia would not easily migrate down the entire plankton tower depth (Reichwaldt 2008). To avoid mixing of the algae into the lower layer of the towers (5.5 to 11.5 m), we adjusted the temperature in this layer to 8°C. Figure 1 shows the temperature profiles in the epi- and hypolimnion in both towers. The light : dark cycle was 12:12 h.

After thermal stratification, 0.6 mg C L^{-1} of the chlorophyte *Scenedesmus obliquus* was added into the epilimnion and 0.2 mg C L^{-1} added into the hypolimnion (Fig. 2). *Scenedesmus obliquus* concentrations were deter-

530



Fig. 2. Vertical gradient of particulate organic carbon (POC) concentrations in the two plankton towers.

mined by measuring fluorescence using a FluroProbe (bbe Moldaenke) and subsequent conversion to particulate organic carbon using a previously established calibration curve. Scenedesmus obliquus was cultured in a batch system with Z/4 medium (Zehnder and Gorham 1960) under continuous light conditions. Thereafter, 10,000 to 15,000 Daphnia magna were put into each tower. Daphnia originated from cultures that had been cultivated at the Max Planck Institute for Limnology for several years, and this clone is known to perform DVM (Loose and Dawidowicz 1994). They were reared in 200-liter containers with 10-µm-filtered water from Lake Schöhsee and S. obliquus (> 1 mg C L⁻¹). To induce DVM behavior of Daphnia, each tower was stocked with three fish (Leuciscus idus) in a cage. The cage was located within the epilimnion of each tower at a depth of 0.5 m and was not moved during the experiment. To estimate Daphnia density, vertical hauls with a small plankton net (0.25-m diameter, 150-µm mesh size) were performed in the epilimnion from 2.1 m depth to the surface twice during the light cycle and four times during the dark cycle. We preserved the samples in 4% sucrose-formaldehyde solution (Haney and Hall 1973) and counted all individuals under a dissecting microscope.

To quantify the transport of phosphorus from the hypolimnion into the epilimnion, we incubated 400 mL of a dense culture of *S. obliquus* with the radioactive phosphorus isotope ³³P (total activity 185 MBq; specific activity 92.5 TBq mmol⁻¹). We added 100 mL of an unlabeled orthophosphate solution (50 μ mol L⁻¹ P) to the culture to ensure uniform uptake of radioactive phosphorus by *S. obliquus*. After 24 h of incubation, labeled algae were centrifuged and resuspended in Z/4 medium. At the

beginning of the light period, the labeled cultures were split into equal amounts and added to the hypolimnion of the two towers by injecting them via ports (for a detailed description of the ports, *see* Lampert and Loose 1992) at a depth of 4.1 m.

To estimate the transported and released total phosphorus amount, we measured the total phosphorus concentration in the hypolimnion of both towers and related them to radioactive counts. Water samples from the hypolimnion of both towers were taken 3 h after adding the radioactive tracer algae, at which time labeled algae were homogenously distributed. Water samples were taken via ports at 4.1-m depth and filtered through $250-\mu m$ gauze to exclude Daphnia. Total phosphorus concentrations were measured using standard methods (Wetzel and Likens 1991). Total phosphorus in the hypolimnion was 11.5 μ g L⁻¹ in tower A and 13 μ g L⁻¹ in tower B. For radioactivity measurements, 4 mL of the samples were transferred into scintillation vials and 12 mL of scintillation cocktail (Ultima Gold, Packard) were added. The samples were immediately analyzed with a scintillation counter (Packard Tricarb 2900). The addition of the radioactive tracer algae resulted in 10,223 disintegrations per minute (dpm) mL⁻¹ on average in tower A, and 20,654 dpm mL-1 in tower B within the respective hypolimnion. Therefore, 1 dpm accounted for 1.12 pg P ¹ in tower A and 0.63 pg $P L^{-1}$ in tower B.

After adding the radioactive labeled algae, the epilimnion of both towers was sampled continuously (twice during the light phase, once at the start of the dark phase, and three times during the dark phase) for radioactive phosphorus. Water samples were again filtered through a 250-µm plankton net to exclude Daphnia and 4 mL of each sample were transferred into scintillation vials to analyze radioactivity as above. Additionally, unpreserved Daphnia samples, sampled as described above at the start of the dark cycle in the epilimnion, were used to estimate the amount of labeled algae ingested by Daphnia in the hypolimnion. We transferred the Daphnia into scintillation vials and added 4 mL of a tissue solubilizer (Soluene-350, Packard). After 24 h, we added 12 mL of scintillation cocktail (Hi-Ionic-Fluor, Packard) and analyzed radioactivity immediately with a scintillation counter (Packard Tricarb 2900).

Results

Daphnia density in the epilimnion during the daytime was 0.02 ± 0.00 individuals L^{-1} (mean \pm SE). Immediately after switching the lights off, Daphnia started to migrate into the warmer and food-richer epilimnion. We found 6.14 \pm 1.02 individuals L^{-1} (mean \pm SE) within the epilimnion during the night. A one-way repeated-measure ANOVA calculated with data from both towers revealed no significant differences in Daphnia density in the epilimnion between the time of the dark phase: $F_{1,3} = 0.13$; p = 0.75. Hence, the change in light intensity between day and night, together with the presence of fish, caused a strong DVM behavior in Daphnia, which was already shown in earlier experiments (Loose et al. 1993).

No radioactive phosphorus was found in the epilimnion during the light period, when *Daphnia* almost exclusively

531



Fig. 3. Phosphorus transported and released from the hypolimnion into the epilimnion by *Daphnia* DVM, shown as changes in phosphorus concentration in the epilimnion in each tower along experimental time (point -12 represents the start of the light cycle and addition of labeled algae to the hypolimnion, point 0 represents the start of the dark cycle and onset of upward migration behavior by *Daphnia*). The line represents the regression between transported and released phosphorus in the epilimnion and time for the dark cycle (y = 0.015x + 0.003; $R^2 = 0.94$; p < 0.001). Regression was calculated using data from both towers.

remained in the hypolimnion. Immediately after the start of the dark period, *Daphnia* migrated upward and ³³P concentrations increased in the epilimnion (Fig. 3). The ³³P content of *Daphnia* in the epilimnion shortly after the start of the dark phase accounted for an uptake of 47.4 ± 4.6 ng P *Daphnia*⁻¹ (mean \pm SE) within the hypolimnion during the 12-h light cycle.

The increase of phosphorus within the epilimnion can be described by a linear function of transported phosphorus vs. time in both towers; the linear regressions were significant (tower A: y = 0.017x - 0.009; $R^2 = 0.98$; $F_{1,2}$ = 84.46, p = 0.012; slope: $t_{(2)} = 9.19$, p = 0.01; intercept: $t_{(2)} = 0.66, p = 0.58$. Tower B: $y = 0.012x + 0.015; R^2 =$ 0.97; $F_{1,2} = 75.69$, p = 0.013; slope: $t_{(2)} = 8.70$, p = 0.01; intercept: $t_{(2)} = 1.57$, p = 0.26). An analysis of covariance revealed no statistical difference between the towers at the 5% level (slopes: $F_{1,4} = 5.79$; p = 0.07; intercepts: $F_{1,5} =$ 0.28; p = 0.62.) Therefore, we used data from both towers to calculate a combined regression between phosphorus release in the epilimnion and time (Fig. 3): y = 0.015x +0.003; $R^2 = 0.94$; $F_{1,6} = 91.30$, p < 0.001; slope: $t_{(6)} = 9.56$, p < 0.001; intercept: $t_{(6)} = 0.29$, p = 0.79. On average, the total Daphnia community transported and released 15 ng P L⁻¹ h⁻¹ from the hypolimnion into the epilimnion. This resulted in an overall 180 ng P L-1 transported in the 12-h dark phase.

We estimated the released phosphorus as a total phosphorus fraction. Boersma and Wiltshire (2006) showed

that *Daphnia* sp. release phosphorus in two fractions: 80% as dissolved phosphorus and 20% as particulate phosphorus. Only the dissolved phosphorus fraction can be used immediately by the phytoplankton community. Hence, in our experiment the amount of transported and released dissolved phosphorus by *Daphnia* from the hypo- into the epilimnion can be estimated as 12 ng L⁻¹ h⁻¹ and 144 ng L⁻¹, respectively, during the 12-h dark phase.

Discussion

Phytoplankton compete for released phosphorus within the epilimnion. Phosphorus uptake rates for Scenedesmus sp. depend on dissolved phosphorus concentration within the pelagic environment (Rhee 1973). Rhee (1973) suggested a phosphorus uptake range for Scenedesmus sp. under laboratory conditions between 1×10^{-11} and 3×10^{-11} µmol cell⁻¹ min⁻¹. Applying this value to our *S. obliquus* population (6000 cells mL^{-1}), we can calculate a maximum uptake rate of 110 ng P L⁻¹ h⁻¹ in our experiment. This value is in good agreement with one of the few estimates of phosphorus uptake in a natural bacterial and phytoplankton community in a eutrophic lake, which suggested a maximum total biologically reactive phosphorus uptake of 120 ng L⁻¹ h⁻¹ (Lean 1973). The amount of phosphorus transported and released by migrating Daphnia in our experiment was at least 10% of the maximum uptake rates given by Rhee (1973) and Lean (1973). A recent study of phosphorus dynamics in a stratified eutrophic lake revealed a mean daily uptake rate of the primary producers in the epilimnion of 7.83 mg P m⁻² d⁻¹ (Kamarainen et al. 2009). The transported and released phosphorus in our experiment accounted for 0.36 mg m⁻² in the 12-h dark cycle, and thus the transported phosphorous was about 5% of the daily uptake rate estimated by Kamarainen et al. (2009). Both of the above examples show that the transported and released phosphorus in our experimental pelagic system is certainly biologically relevant and is probably one of the mechanisms fueling primary production in the highly phosphorous-limited epilimnion.

Although the upward flux of phosphorus by zooplankton DVM may be low compared with other processes influencing phosphorus dynamics in the epilimnion, it is a regular nutrient supply during periods of stratification. The phosphorus transported by DVM may comprise a substantial phosphorus source for primary production. During periods of stratification, a constant gravity-driven flux of phosphorus from upper water layers to the sediments often results in limited phytoplankton growth. In this case, new production of phytoplankton biomass relies on direct input of phosphorus from terrestrial sources and nutrient recycling within the epilimnion. Phosphorus concentration is often extremely low within the epilimnion of stratified lakes such that any new input of phosphorus is immediately translated into an increase in primary production. Therefore, even if the nutrient balance resulting from nutrient transport by DVM for the epilimnion is negative, a daily transport of phosphorus into the epilimnion will have consequences for phytoplankton growth. Our results indicate that even at natural Daphnia densities (approximately 6 Daphnia L-1 in our experiment), this transport is within a biologically relevant range.

The phenomenon described here can be considered of real ecological value given that in deeper lakes, during summer stratification, a distinct epilimnion exists with concurrent low exchange rates with deeper water layers and therefore an increasing nutrient depletion in the epilimnion caused by sinking losses. A relatively low mixing depth of the epilimnion would increase the nutrient depletion due to a high light availability for the phytoplankton community, resulting in a higher primary production rate requiring more nutrients (Sommer et al. 1986). The upwardtransported nutrients should hence be mainly of interest in oligo- and mesotrophic lakes with a nutrient-rich hypolimnion. Whether Daphnia DVM causes a net up- or downward nutrient transport depends on the quantity and quality of food in upper and deeper water layers and the duration spent in these layers. Most likely, the upward transport would be most relevant in lakes with a chlorophyl maximum, ample food, and sufficient amount of phosphorous in deeper water (Lampert and Grey 2003; Winder et al. 2003)

DVM is not confined to freshwater systems. Most marine pelagic environments are also affected by DVM of zooplankton (Hays 2003). Longhurst and Harrison (1989) suggested that DVM is a critical component of the "biological pump" that draws organic carbon and atmospheric CO_2 into the ocean. The present results suggest that

zooplankton DVM may also play an important role in the redistribution of other nutrients, such as nitrogen. Further experimental analyses on the role of nutrient transport by migrating marine zooplankton are necessary to fully elucidate the importance of the world's largest synchronized movement of biomass on global carbon and nutrient dynamics.

Acknowledgments

We thank Luc De Meester and two anonymous reviewers for valuable comments on the manuscript.

This study was supported by a grant from the German Research Foundation (DFG STI 180/3).

References

- ANDERSON, T. R., D. O. HESSEN, J. J. ELSER, AND J. URABE. 2005. Metabolic stoichiometry and the fate of excess carbon and nutrients in consumers. Am. Nat. 165: 1–15.
- BOERSMA, M., AND K. H. WILTSHIRE. 2006. Gut passage of phosphorus-limited algae through *Daphnia*: Do they take up nutrients in the process? Arch. Hydrobiol. 167: 489–500.
- DEMOTT, W. R., R. D. GULATI, AND K. SIEWERTSEN. 1998. Effects of phosphorus-deficient diets on the carbon and phosphorus balance of *Daphnia magna*. Limnol. Oceanogr. 43: 1147–1161.
- DINI, M. L., J. O'DONNELL, S. R. CARPENTER, M. M. ELSER, J. J. ELSER, AND A. M. BERGQUIST. 1987. *Daphnia* size structure, vertical migration, and phosphorus redistribution. Hydrobiologia 150: 185–191.
- HANEY, J. F., AND D. J. HALL. 1973. Sugar-coated *Daphnia*: A preservation technique for Cladocera. Limnol. Oceanogr. 18: 331–333.
- HAUPT, F., M. STOCKENREITER, M. BAUMGARTNER, M. BOERSMA, AND H. STIBOR. 2009. *Daphnia* diel vertical migration: Implications beyond zooplankton. J. Plankton Res. 31: 515–524.
- HAYS, G. C. 2003. A review of the adaptive significance and ecosystem consequences of zooplankton diel vertical migrations. Hydrobiologia 503: 163–170.
- KAMARAINEN, A. M., R. M. PENCZYKOWSKI, M. C. VAN DE BOGERT, P. C. HANSON, AND S. R. CARPENTER. 2009. Phosphorus sources and demand during summer in a eutrophic lake. Aquat. Sci. 71: 214–227.
- LAMPERT, W. 1993. Ultimate causes of diel vertical migration of zooplankton: New evidence for the predator-avoidance hypothesis. Adv. Limnol. 39: 79–88.
- , AND J. GREY. 2003. Exploitation of a deep-water algal maximum by *Daphnia*: A stable-isotope tracer study. Hydrobiologia 500: 95–101.
- _____, AND C. J. LOOSE. 1992. Plankton towers—bridging the gap between laboratory and field experiments. Arch. Hydrobiol. 126: 53–66.
- —, R. D. SCHMITT, AND P. MUCK. 1988. Vertical migration of freshwater zooplankton: Test of some hypotheses predicting a metabolic advantage. Bull. Mar. Sci. 43: 620–640.
- LEAN, D. R. S. 1973. Phosphorus dynamics in lake water. Science 179: 678–680.
- LONGHURST, A. R., AND W. G. HARRISON. 1989. The biological pump—profiles of plankton production and consumption in the upper ocean. Prog. Oceanogr. 22: 47–123.
- LOOSE, C. J., AND P. DAWIDOWICZ. 1994. Trade-offs in diel vertical migration by zooplankton—the costs of predator avoidance. Ecology 75: 2255–2263.

533

Haupt et al.

—, E. VON ELERT, AND P. DAWIDOWICZ. 1993. Chemically induced diel vertical migration in *Daphnia*—a new bioassay for Kairomones exuded by fish. Arch. Hydrobiol. 126: 329–337.

OLSEN, Y., A. JENSEN, H. REINERTSEN, K. Y. BORSHEIM, M. HELDAL, AND A. LANGELAND. 1986. Dependence of the rate of release of phosphorus by zooplankton on the P-C ration in the food supply, as calculated by a recycling model. Limnol. Oceanogr. 31: 34-44.

REICHWALDT, E. S. 2008. Food quality influences habitat selection in *Daphnia*. Freshw. Biol. 53: 872–883.

- , AND H. STIBOR. 2005. The impact of diel vertical migration of *Daphnia* on phytoplankton dynamics. Oecologia 146: 50–56.
- —, I. D. WOLF, AND H. STIBOR. 2005. Effects of a fluctuating temperature regime experienced by *Daphnia* during diel vertical migration on *Daphnia* life history parameters. Hydrobiologia 543: 199–205.
- RHEE, G. Y. 1973. Continuous culture study of phosphate uptake, growth-rate and polyphosphate in *Scenedesmus* sp. J. Phycol. 9: 495–506.
- RINGELBERG, J. 1991. A mechanism of predator-mediated induction of diel vertical migration of *Daphnia hyalina*. J. Plankton Res. 13: 83–89.

- SOMMER, U., Z. M. GLIWICZ, W. LAMPERT, AND A. DUNCAN. 1986. The PEG-model of seasonal succession of planktonic events in fresh waters. Arch. Hydrobiol. 106: 433–471.
- SPIGEL, R. H., AND J. IMBERGER. 1987. Mixing processes relevant to phytoplankton dynamics in lakes. N. Z. J. Mar. Fresh. 21: 361–377.
- VADSTEIN, O. 2000. Heterotrophic, planktonic bacteria and cycling of phosphorus—phosphorus requirements, competitive ability, and food web interactions. Adv. Microb. Ecol. 16: 115–167.
- WETZEL, R. G., AND G. E. LIKENS. 1991. Limnological analyses, 2nd ed. Springer Verlag.
 WINDER, M., M. BOERSMA, AND P. SPAAK. 2003. On the cost of
- WINDER, M., M. BOERSMA, AND P. SPAAK. 2003. On the cost of vertical migration: Are feeding conditions really worse at greater depths? Freshw. Biol. 48: 383–393.
- ZEHNDER, A., AND P. R. GORHAM. 1960. Factors influencing the growth of *Microcystis aeruginosa* Kutz Emend Elenkin. Can. J. Microbiol. 6: 645–660.

Associate editor: Luc de Meester

Received: 18 June 2009 Accepted: 03 November 2009 Amended: 05 November 2009

534

5.2 *Daphnia* diel vertical migration: implications beyond zooplankton

Haupt, F., Stockenreiter, M., Baumgartner, M., Boersma, M. and Stibor, H. (2009) *Journal of Plankton Research*, **31**, 515-524.



JOURNAL OF PLANKTON RESEARCH VOLUME 31 NUMBER 5 PAGES 515-524 2009

Daphnia diel vertical migration: implications beyond zooplankton

FLORIAN HAUPT¹*, MARIA STOCKENREITER¹, MICHAELA BAUMGARTNER¹, MAARTEN BOERSMA² AND HERWIG STIBOR^{1†}

¹DEPARTMENT BIOLOGIE II, LUDWIG-MAXIMILIANS-UNIVERSITÄT MÜNCHEN, GROSSHADERNER STR. 2, 82152 PLANEGG-MARTINSRIED, GERMANY AND ²ALFRED-WEGENER-INSTITUT FÜR POLAR- UND MEERESFORSCHUNG, BIOLOGISCHE ANSTALT HELGOLAND, POSTFACH 180, 27483 HELGOLAND, GERMANY

[†]PRESENT ADDRESS: EUROPEAN INSTITUTE FOR MARINE STUDIES, TECHNOPOLE BREST-IROSIE, PLACE NICOLAS COPERNIC, 29280 PLOUZANE, FRANCE.

*CORRESPONDING AUTHOR: haupt@zi.biologie.uni-muenchen.de

Received September 17, 2008; accepted in principle December 9, 2008; accepted for publication December 20, 2008; published online 24 January, 2009

Corresponding editor: Mark J. Gibbons

Diel vertical migration (DVM) is a common behaviour of many pelagic zooplankton species. While the causes (mostly predator avoidance) and ecophysiological consequences of DVM for zooplankton have been well studied, little is known about the consequences of DVM for the pelagic food web. DVM creates a temporal and spatial grazer-free niche for edible phytoplankton, and theoretical models predict that parts of the phytoplankton community should use this niche. Conceivably, DVM could also cause nutrient transport between separated water layers. We experimentally investigated the influence of DVM of the zooplankton species, Daphnia hyalina, on the nutrient and phytoplankton dynamics of an oligotrophic lake. We used 10-m deep field enclosures with a 4-m deep, well-mixed surface layer. The enclosures contained either migrating or nonmigrating Daphnia populations; temperature was kept nearly constant across the entire enclosure depth. Our results show that DVM had significant quantitative and qualitative effects on the phytoplankton community. There was no measurable net nutrient transport between hypolimnion and epilimnion. The gelatinous green alga Planktosphaeria gelatinosa, was the dominant algal species in our experiment. Its abundance decreased in DVM treatments, and thus also influenced the total biomass and diversity of phytoplankton communities.

INTRODUCTION

Trophic cascades, reflecting the indirect impact of carnivores on plants through effects on herbivores, are important in food web dynamics, linking predators to lower trophic levels. Trophic cascades occur in a wide variety of ecosystems, and there has been much debate about their nature, strength and overall importance (Strong, 1992; Polis et al., 2000; Shurin et al., 2002). Most descriptions of trophic cascades focus on numerical decreases in herbivore populations due to direct removal by predators. Lower herbivore abundance relieves predation pressure on plants; thus, carnivores can have positive indirect effects on plants. These mechanisms are called density-mediated indirect effects (Abrams, 1995; Werner and Peacor, 2003). However, prey animals are normally not oblivious to the risk of predation and often respond to the presence of predators through changes in behaviour. For example, prey may hide or seek other habitats, behavioural changes that diminish foraging activities and thereby lessen herbivore impacts on plants (Abrams, 1984, 1995; Werner and Peacor, 2003). These indirect effects of carnivores on plants derive from individual traits of herbivores and are called trait-mediated indirect interactions. Recent analyses suggest that the trait-mediated impact of predators on plants may often be larger than density-mediated effects (Schmitz *et al.*, 2004).

Since the discovery of the importance of traitmediated effects, numerous examples have demonstrated their relevance in a variety of ecosystems (summarized in Schmitz *et al.*, 2004). One of the most important escape responses of aquatic herbivores is the vertical migration of zooplankton (Hays, 2003). Zooplankton in lakes and in the sea often exhibit a significant shift in their vertical distribution, spending the night primarily in upper water

doi:10.1093/plankt/fbp003, available online at www.plankt.oxfordjournals.org

© The Author 2009. Published by Oxford University Press. All rights reserved. For permissions, please email: journals.permissions@oxfordjournals.org

JOURNAL OF PLANKTON RESEARCH VOLUME 31 NUMBER 5 PAGES 515-524 2009

layers, and migrating down at dawn to spend the daytime in deeper, and hence darker and colder, water layers (Lampert, 1989). Many studies on this diel vertical migration (DVM) behaviour have focused on the reasons for the daily migration, and have clearly established predator (mainly fish) avoidance as the ultimate reason for DVM (Gliwicz, 1986); proximate reasons include changes in light intensity around dawn and dusk (Ringelberg, 1991) and the presence of a chemical trigger substance (kairomone) released by fish (Loose *et al.*, 1993).

The escape responses used by zooplankton to avoid their planktivorous predators may have different consequences for phytoplankton communities:

- (i) Vertical migration behaviour creates a refuge for phytoplankton during daytime. Theoretical considerations (Lampert, 1987) assume that algal species can profit from a discontinuous grazing regime if they can use the grazer-free time for growth, and recent studies (Reichwaldt *et al.*, 2004; Reichwaldt and Stibor, 2005) indeed support these assumptions. How much an individual algal species profits from DVM depends on the growth rate of the species: faster-growing species should benefit more from DVM than slower growers.
- (ii) Migration behaviour should reduce the growth of the zooplankton population (Loose and Dawidowicz, 1994). The darker, deeper water layers of the pelagic water column into which zooplankton migrate are usually associated with lower temperatures and diminished food availability (Lampert, 1989). Both factors will limit the growth of zooplankton populations and thereby lessen their grazing impact on phytoplankton.
- (iii) Migration behaviour can cause nutrient transport between nutrient-rich deeper waters to the often nutrient-limited upper layers of the water column. Phytoplankton in surface waters often experience strong nutrient limitations during stratified periods, and concentrations of the limiting nutrient are often near the detection limit (Sommer *et al.*, 1986). An upward transport of nutrients from deeper, nutrient-rich waters by migrating zooplankton would then immediately result in a positive growth response of phytoplankton.

Despite the fact that phytoplankton are very important to global carbon dynamics (Geider *et al.*, 2001), and the behavioural response of zooplankton to predators might result in several mechanisms leading to trait-mediated effects on the phytoplankton community, the consequences of DVM for plankton dynamics have received astonishingly little detailed study. A reason for this may be the difficulties in inducing and regulating migration behaviour in controlled experiments. Although predation is considered to be one of the most important causes of DVM (Zaret and Suffern, 1976), attempts to establish a predatory dynamic by stocking experimental setups with fish is associated with uncertainties caused by indirect effects on the phytoplankton community resulting from nutrients excreted by enclosed fish (Schindler, 1992; Vanni and Layne, 1997; Attayde and Hansson, 1999). In practice, it is also not possible to induce DVM behaviour using kairomones alone because too little is known about the kairomones and their molecular structures.

In this study, we investigated the refuge effect of DVM on the phytoplankton community and the consequences of DVM for nutrient dynamics in a large mesocosm experiment. It is difficult to assess the consequences of the refuge effect of DVM on phytoplankton because depth and temperature are normally coupled in temperate pelagic environments: migrating zooplankton experience lower temperatures in deeper water layers, leading to slower individual growth. In systems lacking predation, such as our mesocosms, this coupling would also result in decreased zooplankton densities. Thus, the refuge effect of DVM on phytoplankton cannot be examined separately from the temperature effect, which also causes a decrease in zooplankton populations and diminishes grazing. Hence, we used a modification of the experimental setup of Reichwaldt and Stibor (Reichwaldt and Stibor, 2005) to separate refuge effects from temperature effects. This method allows the refuge effect of DVM on a natural phytoplankton community to be examined under field conditions in the absence of significant differences in the temperatures experienced by zooplankton migrating between upper and deeper water layers. We hypothesized that algal densities should increase under experimental conditions that induce DVM of zooplankton.

METHOD

Studies were conducted in an experimental enclosure system deployed in oligotrophic Lake Brunnensee in southern Germany (47°59'N, 12°26'E). This is a small (5.8 ha), deep (18.6 m), hardwater lake that is strongly phosphorus-limited (total P: $0.4 \,\mu M \, L^{-1}$) and has high nitrate (NO₃⁻: 80 $\mu M \, L^{-1}$) and silicate concentrations (SiO₂: 70 $\mu M \, L^{-1}$) during summer. We investigated the effect of vertically migrating zooplankton on the natural phytoplankton community of this lake by artificially moving *Daphnia* populations up and down using cages. A vertical temperature gradient within the enclosures

E HAUPT ET AL. DAPHNIA DVM

was prevented by surrounding all enclosures by a 15-m deep, transparent silage film, which acted as a homogenous tempered water bath; uniform mixing was achieved by intermittently blowing compressed air (5 min on, 20 min off) at a depth of 12 m.

Experimental design

Eighteen cylindrical enclosures (transparent Trikoron bags) were suspended from a raft at a depth of 10 m. Each 0.9-m diameter enclosure was heat-sealed at the bottom and open to the atmosphere. In the enclosures, we mimicked an unmixed 6 m deep hypolimnion and a wellmixed, 4-m deep epilimnion; the latter was produced by intermittently blowing compressed air (3 min on, 40 min off) through PVC tubes at a depth of 4 m. The enclosures were filled with 30 µm filtered epilimnetic lake water. In Lake Brunnensee, a 30-µm mesh size is known to effectively exclude all mesozooplankton, while retaining virtually the entire ambient phytoplankton community (Jäger et al., 2008). The chlorophyll-a concentration after filling was 5 μ M L⁻¹ in every enclosure. Potential effects of the strong phosphorus-limited nature of Lake Brunnensee on phytoplankton growth were compensated by enriching each enclosure with 0.5 μ M P L⁻¹ as KH₂PO₄.

Each of the 18 enclosures contained a gauze cage with a mesh size of 224 μ m, a size that ensured that all daphnids were retained within the cages while allowing free exchange of all phytoplankton species. The cage dimensions were 0.7 m \times 3.5 m, and each cage had a re-sealable gauze cap to allow cage contents to be sampled. The volume of the cages was approximately 50% of the epilimnion. DVM, and thus a discontinuous grazing regime in the epilimnion, was mimicked by moving *Daphnia*containing cages up and down within the enclosures.

For the *Daphnia* "migration" treatment group, six cages containing daphnids were kept in the epilimnion (top of cage: 0.25 m depth) at night (20:00-08:00 h), and then lowered into the hypolimnion (top of cage: 5.5 m depth) for the daytime hours (08:00 h to 20:00 h). All "migration" treatment cages were moved up and down manually as slowly as possible (maximum speed: 0.05 m s^{-1}). In six other enclosures (*Daphnia* "no migration" treatment group), the *Daphnia*-containing cages were kept permanently in the epilimnion (top of cage: 0.25 m depth). As controls to test whether the migrating cages themselves influenced plankton and nutrient dynamics, we installed three enclosures with migrating empty cages.

We used a clone of *Daphnia hyalina* that originated from Lake Brunnensee to stock the cages. Daphnids were reared in advance in 30 L buckets with a semi-artificial culture medium in a climate chamber with a constant temperature of 20°C. They were fed *Scenedesmus obliquus* (>1 mg C L⁻¹) every second day, and 50% of their medium was renewed every fifth day. Two days before the beginning of the experiment, all daphnids were transferred to 30-µm-filtered epilimnetic lake water. At the beginning of each experiment, daphnids were released into the cages for "migration" and "no migration" treatment groups at a starting density of 5 individuals L⁻¹ (where the value of L represents the entire epilimnion volume), a density that is typical for this species in Lake Brunnensee (H. Stibor, unpublished data).

The experiment started with the stocking of the daphnids on 15 August 2006, and lasted for 4 weeks until 12 September 2006. This period represents an ecologically meaningful experimental time scale for plankton dynamics: it is long enough to allow a numerical response of plankton to the experimental manipulations, but short enough that it should prevent the development of most unwanted side effects associated with longer experimental durations, such as intensive wall growth and strong nutrient depletion due to sedimentation within the mesocosms.

Sampling program

Water temperature was measured weekly in vertical steps of 1 m using a WTW model Lf 191 meter with LT1/T probe (Wissenschaftlich-Technische Werkstätten). Vertical profiles of photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) were measured in all enclosures once using a spherical quantum sensor (LI-139SA, Licor). In the "no migration" treatment groups, where cages were present in the epilimnion throughout the day, light intensities were measured with the cages present in the epilimnion to account for possible shading effects of the cages. In both "migration" and "no migration" conditions, PAR was measured stepwise from the surface to a depth of 5 m and used to calculate the depth-averaged light attenuation coefficient (Diehl et al., 2002) for each enclosure. A *t*-test revealed no significant differences between the "migration" and "no migration" treatments $(t_{(16)} = 1.75; P = 0.62)$, indicating that "migration" and "no migration" treatments had no effects on shading regimes.

Once a week, water samples were taken from each enclosure outside the cages at a depth of 0.5 m (epilimnion) and 7 m (hypolimnion) using a hand pump. All samples taken before the "migration" treatment cages were lowered in the hypolimnion. The samples were 250-µm filtered and immediately analysed for biological and chemical parameters. Water from each sample was filtered onto pre-combusted and acid-washed glass-fibre JOURNAL OF PLANKTON RESEARCH VOLUME 31 NUMBER 5 PAGES 515-524 2009

filters (Whatman GF/F) to determine seston carbon concentration as particular organic carbon (POC) (Elemental Analyzer, CE Instruments). Concentrations of dissolved inorganic phosphorus (SRP), particulate phosphorus (PP) and total phosphorus (TP) were measured using standard methods (Wetzel and Likens, 1991). Chlorophyll-a concentrations were measured fluorometrically (TD 700, Turner Design). For enumeration and identification of phytoplankton species, subsamples were immediately preserved with acid Lugols iodine and counted later using an inverted microscope (Utermöhl, 1958). If present, at least 100 individuals of each of the species present were counted and the size of 20 individuals was measured using an image analysis programme (Analysis Pro 3.00, Soft Imaging Software). Where present, gelatinous coverings of phytoplankton species were included in the size measurements. The biomass of phytoplankton species was estimated as biovolume, which was calculated by converting size into biovolume using appropriate geometrical figures (Hillebrand et al., 1999). We counted 52 phytoplankton species belonging to six main groups during the experiment: Diatoms (23 species), Chlorophyta (19 species), Cyanophyta (five species), Chrysophyta (three species), Cryptophyta (one species) and Dinophyta (one species). The three dominant groups in terms of biovolume throughout the experimental period were Diatoms, Chlorophyta and Cyanophyta, which together comprised between 97 and 100% of total biovolume in all treatment groups.

Semi-quantitative zooplankton samples were collected weekly from all cages in the morning before the migrating cages were lowered. After opening cages at the top and mixing with a Secchi disc to distribute the *Daphnia* uniformly, a vertical net haul from the bottom to the top inside the cage (net diameter: 0.25 m; mesh size: 150 μ m) was taken. This sampling method allowed direct comparisons between enclosures, although it probably under-sampled actual *Daphnia* densities inside the cages because daphnids staying near the cage bottom are not effectively caught (Haupt, 2004). The samples were preserved in a 4% sucrose-formaldehyde solution (Haney and Hall, 1973) and all individuals were counted under a dissecting microscope.

Data processing

Phytoplankton community diversity was calculated using the Shannon–Wiener index (H):

$$H = -\sum_{i}^{n} \frac{B_{i}}{B_{\text{sum}}} \log_{2}\left(\frac{B_{i}}{B_{\text{sum}}}\right), \qquad (1$$

where B_i is the biovolume of algal species *i*, B_{sum} the biovolume of all algal species and *n* the number of algal species within an enclosure.

Because we were more interested in the ultimate effects of the different treatments than the time-courses leading to these effects, we only used the last sampling date for the analysis of the algal communities in this study. Moreover, because all models and predictions of the effects of DVM on algal communities apply to the epilimnion, we primarily report data from this layer. We used *t*-tests to determine (i) the DVM effect, comparing the epilimnion data from Daphnia "migration" and Daphnia "no migration" treatment groups; (ii) cage effects, comparing the epilimnion data from migrating and non-migrating empty cages and (iii) potential mixing of the two water layers due to cage movements in the Daphnia "migration" treatment groups, comparing phytoplankton data from the epilimnion and hypolimnion. Data are presented as mean \pm one standard error of the mean (mean ± 1 SE). Where appropriate to meet statistical assumptions (Sokal and Rohlf, 1981), data were In-transformed.

RESULTS

General conditions

The water temperature between the enclosures was constant, averaging $11.2 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$ C at all depths. There was virtually no vertical temperature gradient; within the enclosures, the temperature difference between depths of 0 and 10 m was only $0.5 \pm 0.04^{\circ}$ C. Seston carbon concentrations were similar within the water columns of each enclosure, with differences between water depths of 0.5 and 7 m never exceeding 0.1 mg C L^{-1} . Daphnia densities inside the cages averaged 4.7 ± 0.6 individuals L⁻¹, where the value of L represents the entire epilimnion volume. Due to the low temperatures during our study, Dabhnia densities did not increase substantially until the end of the experiment. We found no significant differences in Daphnia densities between Daphnia "migration" and Daphnia "no migration" treatment groups $(t_{(10)} = 0.83, P = 0.43)$. Although control treatments were not stocked with Daphnia, it was not possible to fully avoid the growth of some daphnids in these groups. However, Daphnia densities in control treatments were always lower than 0.1 individuals L^{-1} .

Control treatments

The *Daphnia*-free control treatment groups were included to test for potential effects on nutrient and phytoplankton dynamics due to cage movement. However, *t*-tests revealed no significant differences between migrating and non-migrating control cages for any of the parameters that we measured (i.e. PP: $t_{(4)} = 0.05$, P = 0.97; TP: $t_{(4)} = 1.43$, P = 0.23; seston carbon content: $t_{(4)} = 0.17$, P = 0.87; chlorophyll-*a* concentration: $t_{(4)} = 2.09$, P = 0.10; diversity (H) of the phytoplankton community: $t_{(4)} = 1.00$, P = 0.38). Additionally, we found no significant effect of migrating cages on the total biovolume of any algal species measured (see Table I, cage effect).

Nutrient dynamics

Dissolved inorganic phosphorus (SRP) was always near or below the detection limit $(0.03 \,\mu M \,L^{-1})$ in every treatment; therefore, phosphorus was the limiting nutrient throughout the experiment. In the Daphnia "migration" and Daphnia "no migration" treatments, respectively, PP values were 0.07 \pm 0.004 and 0.08 \pm 0.01 μM $L^{-1},~and~TP$ values were 0.22 \pm 0.01 and 0.21 \pm 0.01 μM L^{-1} (Fig. 1 A and B). t-Tests showed that these values were not significantly different between experimental groups (PP: $t_{(10)} = 0.96$, P = 0.36; TP $t_{(10)} = 0.22$, P = 0.83). Dissolved nitrate and silicate were available in non-limiting concenthroughout the experiment trations (nitrate $> 50 \ \mu M \ L^{-1}$; silicate $> 30 \ \mu M \ L^{-1}$).

Seston carbon content

Seston carbon concentrations were lower in the *Daphnia* "migration" treatment group $(513 \pm 16 \ \mu\text{g} \text{ POC } \text{L}^{-1})$ than in the *Daphnia* "no migration" group $(790 \pm 80 \ \mu\text{g} \text{ POC } \text{L}^{-1})$, a difference that was significant by *t*-test $(t_{(10)} = 2.96, P = 0.01; \text{ Fig. 2A})$.

Phytoplankton concentration and composition

Chlorophyll-*a* concentrations were lower in the *Daphnia* "migration" group $(6.6 \pm 0.4 \ \mu g \ L^{-1})$ than in the *Daphnia* "no migration" group $(9.4 \pm 1.1 \ \mu g \ L^{-1})$, a difference that was marginally significant by *t*-test $(t_{(10)} = 2.15, P = 0.057; \text{ Fig. 2B}).$

Of the 52 counted phytoplankton species, 13 were present in all treatments at the end of the experiment. These 13 species belonged to three groups, Chlorophyta (four species), Diatoms (eight species) and Cyanophyta (one species), which together contributed, on average, $95.3 \pm 1.8\%$ of total phytoplankton biovolume in all enclosures.

Phytoplankton community composition differed between the *Daphnia* "migration" and *Daphnia* "no migration" treatment groups, resulting in differences in the

Table I: Taxonomy of the reported algal species

Main group	Species	Cage effect (<i>P</i>)	DVM effect (P)	Stratification (P)
Chloroph	nyta			
	Ankistrodesmus falcatus	0.40	0.86	<0.001
	Planktosphaeria gelatinosa	0.42	0.003	<0.001
	Scenedesmus obliguus	0.36	0.29	0.009
	Selenastrum gracile	0.84	0.19	-
Diatoms	i della della della Tradella.			
	Achnanthes coarctata	0.76	0.70	<0.001
	Achnanthes microcephala	0.07	<0.001	<0.001
	Cyclotella kützingiana	0.54	0.09	<0.001
	Cymbella helvetica	0.09	0.04	< 0.001
	Fragilaria crotonensis	0.24	0.13	<0.001
	Navicula crvptocephala	0.86	0.23	177
	Navicula radiosa	0.92	0.77	< 0.001
	Synedra ulna	0.15	0.08	0.03
Cyanoph	nyta			
	Pseudoanabaena schmidlei	0.45	0.12	<0.001

Effect of migrating and non-migrating control treatments (cage effect) and effect of *Daphnia* "migration" and *Daphnia* "no migration" treatments (DVM effect) on algal species of the epilimnion. Differences in the abundance of algal species in the epilimnion and hypolimnion (stratification effect) with *Daphnia* "migration" treatment. Significant *P*-values are in bold.

diversity of the phytoplankton community. Phytoplankton community diversity (H) was higher in the *Daphnia* "migration" treatment group (2.9 ± 0.04) than in the *Daphnia* "no migration" group (2.4 ± 0.14) , a difference that was highly significant by *t*-test ($l_{(10)} = 3.24$, P = 0.009; Fig. 3).

One of the most important species of the phytoplankton community in terms of biovolume was the gelatinous Chlorophyta species, *Planktosphaeria gelatinosa*. Despite its small individual biovolume (35 µm³), *P. gelatinosa* contributed the greatest percentage to the total initial phytoplankton community biovolume (25.7 ± 3.9) in all treatments. *Planktosphaeria gelatinosa* abundance at the end of the experiment was lower in the *Daphnia* "migration" treatment group ($5.4 \times 10^8 \pm 1.0 \times 10^8 \mu m^3 L^{-1}$) than in the *Daphnia* "no migration" group ($2.0 \times 10^9 \pm 3.8 \times 10^8 \mu m^3 L^{-1}$), a difference that was highly significant by *t*-test ($t_{(10)} = 3.96$, P = 0.003; Fig. 4A). The remaining three Chlorophyta species did not significantly differ between *Daphnia* "migration" and *Daphnia* "no migration" treatment groups (Table I and Fig. 4A).

In addition to the effects of DVM on *P. gelatinosa*, we found significant effects of DVM on the two Diatom

36


JOURNAL OF PLANKTON RESEARCH VOLUME 31 NUMBER 5 PAGES 515-524 2009

Fig. 1. Mean values of particulate phosphorus (A) and total phosphorus (B) concentrations in *Daphnia* "migration" and *Daphnia* "no migration" treatment groups in the epilimnion. Error bars represent ± 1 SE.

species, Achnanthes microcephala and Cymbella helvetica. In the Daphnia "migration" treatment group, the abundances of both A. microcephala $(7.0 \times 10^6 \pm 4.6 \times 10^5 \,\mu\text{m}^3 \,\text{L}^{-1})$ and C. helvetica $(8.0 \times 10^7 \pm 6.4 \times 10^6 \,\mu\text{m}^3 \,\text{L}^{-1})$ were significantly higher than those in the Daphnia "no migration" group $(2.5 \times 10^6 \pm 3.4 \times 10^5 \,\text{and} 5.0 \times 10^7 \pm 7.0 \times 10^6 \,\mu\text{m}^3 \,\text{L}^{-1}$ for A. microcephala and C. helvetica, respectively) based on t-tests (A. microcephala $t_{(10)} = 5.80, P < 0.001;$ C. helvetica $t_{(10)} = 2.41, P = 0.04;$ Table I and Fig. 4A). Pseudoanabaena schmidlei, the only Cyanophyta species present (>1% of total algal biovolume) in all treatments, showed no significant difference in abundance between the Daphnia "migration" and Daphnia "no migration" treatment groups (Table I and Fig. 4A).

Hypolimnion algal biomass

Of the 13 phytoplankton species present in all epilimnion treatments, 11 were found in all hypolimnion treatments; only *Selenastrum gracile* and *Navicula cryptocephala* could not be detected in the hypolimnion



Fig. 2. Mean values of particulate organic carbon (A) and chlorophyll-a (B) concentrations in *Daphnia* "migration" and *Daphnia* "no migration" treatment groups in the epilimnion. Error bars represent ± 1 SE.



Fig. 3. Mean values of phytoplankton community diversity (H) in *Daphnia* "migration" and *Daphnia* "no migration" treatment groups in the epilimnion. Error bars represent ± 1 SE.

(Fig. 4B). The abundance of all 11 phytoplankton species differed significantly between hypolimnion and epilimnion, indicating the presence of two different water layers (Table I).



E HAUPT ETAL. DAPHNIA DVM

Fig. 4. Mean values of algal species abundance in *Daphnia* "migration" and *Daphnia* "no migration" treatment groups in the epilimnion (**A**) and hypolimnion (**B**). Error bars represent ± 1 SE. Significant differences between *Daphnia* "migration" and *Daphnia* "no migration" treatment groups in the epilimnion are marked by asterisks.

JOURNAL OF PLANKTON RESEARCH VOLUME 31 NUMBER 5 PAGES 515-524 2009

DISCUSSION

The aim of this study was to determine if Daphnia DVM can result in a refuge for phytoplankton growth and influence nutrient dynamics. We were able to maintain a near-constant temperature within our enclosures, thereby negating potential confounding influences of temperature on zooplankton-phytoplankton interactions. Because food conditions within the water columns were also similar, we were able to directly compare Daphnia populations under "migration" and "no migration" treatment conditions. The combination of forced physical mixing of the epilimnion and absence of mixing in the hypolimnion as well as the high depth-to-width ratio of our enclosures resulted in a lack of mixing between epilimnetic and hypolimnetic water layers. Additionally, the cone-shaped design of our cages diminished the effect of cage-migration treatment on total water-column mixing. The fact that the abundances of individual algal species were significantly different in the epilimnion and hypolimnion indeed indicated the presence of two distinct water layers.

In this study, we found no influence of Daphnia DVM on nutrient dynamics in the epilimnion of our mesocosms. In particular, the availability of phosphorus was not affected by the Daphnia "migration" treatments. There could be two reasons for the absence of an increase or decrease in the total phosphorous concentration in the epilimnion. First, nutrient transport between epilimnion and hypolimnion was equal in both directions. Second, the net nutrient transport associated with migrating Daphnia populations was below the detection limit of common nutrient analysis methods. As a result, the differences in the development of phytoplankton communities under Daphnia "migration" and Daphnia "no migration" treatment conditions are unlikely to be caused by differences in nutrient availability. Therefore, the differences between phytoplankton communities are most likely the result of the different grazing regimes.

Trophic cascades are often difficult to detect by investigating whole trophic-level responses. In pelagic total phytoplankton biomass communities. or chlorophyll-a is often used as a bulk parameter representing the phytoplankton trophic level. However, strong responses of individual plant species to the presence of predators can be masked by opposing growth responses of other species, resulting in an undetectable response in the plant community as a whole (Sommer et al., 2003). For this reason, we followed the growth responses of individual algal species to investigate the consequences of Daphnia DVM on phytoplankton dynamics.

In a recent study that included more than 3000 phytoplankton samples, phytoplankton diversity was shown to be the best predictor of resource-use efficiency and stability of natural phytoplankton communities (Ptacnik et al., 2008). Therefore, phytoplankton diversity and knowledge of the mechanisms that influence diversity are essential for developing a detailed understanding of pelagic food web dynamics. In this study, we observed that there was a strong influence of DVM behaviour on phytoplankton diversity, with the highest phytoplankton diversity occurring in those enclosures with migrating Daphnia. It is well known that nutrient availability (Interlandi and Kilham, 2001) and grazing (e.g. Leibold, 1996; Sarnelle, 2005) can influence phytoplankton diversity. Our results show for the first time that not only do the abundance and taxonomy of herbivores influence phytoplankton diversity, but herbivore behaviour also affects this important ecological parameter.

In addition to showing that DVM affects phytoplankton diversity, our results provide insights into the mechanisms by which zooplankton behaviour influences phytoplankton community composition. The DVM behaviour of zooplankton resulted in a species-specific pattern of algal development. Most algae did not show a significant response to our DVM manipulations, whereas others showed either a negative or positive response to migrating Daphnia. The main driver of phytoplankton dynamics in our experiment was the gelatinous green algae, P. gelatinosa. Its species-specific response to DVM influenced the biomass pattern and diversity of the total phytoplankton community. The higher phytoplankton diversity in the Daphnia "migration" treatment group was mainly caused by the lower percentage of *P. gelatinosa* in the total phytoplankton composition.

Planktosphaeria gelatinosa, which is readily ingestable by daphnids due to its small size, was a dominant member of the phytoplankton community in Lake Brunnensee during our study. However, in addition to the positive effects of grazing attributable to nutrient recycling and release from competition, these algae might also benefit directly from grazing as a result of being eaten by Daphnia. Because P. gelatinosa has a gelatinous cover, which partially protects individual cells from being digested in the gut of the daphnids (Porter, 1976), they might be supported by gut nutrients. Thus, within the epilimnion, P. gelatinosa could profit from the greater possibility of being eaten by continuously grazing Daphnia. This positive effect of continuous grazing on the growth of this species is supported by the observation that P. gelatinosa abundance was higher in the Daphnia "no migration" treatment group than in the Daphnia "migration" group.

F. HAUPT ET AL. DAPHNIA DVM

In a study by Elser et al. (Elser et al., 1987), the authors showed empirically that the relation between grazing intensity and algal growth could be complex, with increasing zooplankton grazing resulting in a variety of linear and non-linear positive and negative growth responses. Sommer (Sommer, 1994) summarized these positive and negative effects of zooplankton grazing on phytoplankton growth schematically. The prediction was that, under nutrient-limited conditions, phytoplankton species could even profit from low zooplankton grazing. Increasing zooplankton grazing and high nutrient availability would decrease the importance of the positive effects of zooplankton grazing on phytoplankton growth. In our case, the strong phosphorus limitation and the low Daphnia densities would favour a positive effect of zooplankton grazing and phytoplankton growth. Under these conditions, the positive effects of grazing can be as important for algal growth as the negative impact of grazing-dependent mortality.

The two diatoms, A. microcephala and C. helvetica, responded differently to DVM compared to P. gelatinosa. Their abundance was higher in the Daphnia "migration" treatment group than in the Daphnia "no migration" group. This could result from two effects. First, because both diatoms are edible for D. hyalina from a size standpoint (Geller and Müller, 1981), they could benefit from not being grazed during the day in the DVM treatments. Second, as both algae are semibenthic species capable of growing on the wall of the enclosures, we cannot fully exclude the possibility that the movement of cages in the migration treatments resulted in some of the wall-growing diatoms becoming re-suspended in the water column.

Our results are consistent with earlier observations from field experiments that showed large individual variations in the response of algal species to grazing (Elser et al., 1987). In these previous studies, most algae showed no response to a wide range of Daphnia grazing-intensity manipulations. The authors argued that the type of grazer was more important for phytoplankton dynamics than changes in the intensity of the grazing pressure by a single zooplankton species. Similar observations were made in large field mesocosm experiments, where it could be shown that the grazer type affected the phytoplankton community more than variations in grazing pressure from a single zooplankton species (Sommer et al., 2001, 2003). These studies also showed that grazing has a greater effect on the composition of phytoplankton communities than on total phytoplankton biomass.

The strong impact of zooplankton migration on a single algal species supports the contention that traitmediated effects are strongly species-specific (Schmitz *et al.*, 2004). We might have expected our study to yield a different effect of DVM on the phytoplankton community if mainly highly edible and digestible algae were present. Under such conditions, it is possible for discontinuous grazing resulting from zooplankton DVM to achieve a higher phytoplankton biomass (Reichwaldt and Stibor, 2005). However, our results show that traitmediated effects could also be observed in plankton communities. Thus, the effects of predators on phytoplankton are not only attributable to a decrease in grazer density, but also reflect escape-responses on the part of grazers. In our study, we used Daphnia densities typical for an oligotrophic lake to investigate traitmediated effects instead of forcing trophic cascades using unnaturally high grazer densities. Even at these low densities, we were able to observe effects of DVM on phytoplankton. However, an increase in Daphnia densities (e.g. along a gradient of trophic conditions) would be predicted to result in stronger effects of DVM than those observed in our study.

The response of the phytoplankton community in terms of bulk parameters was contrary to the predictions presented in the introduction. We expected a higher total biomass of algae within the Daphnia "migration" treatment groups; instead, we found that this treatment resulted in lower algal biomasses. Reichwaldt and Stibor (Reichwaldt and Stibor, 2005) showed that higher phytoplankton biomass can develop under DVM conditions. However, it is obvious that the complex effects of zooplankton on phytoplankton development are highly species-specific. Our results show that general predictions about how DVM influences phytoplankton dynamics are not possible using bulk parameters to characterize phytoplankton abundance. Species-specific responses of individual algal species to zooplankton DVM determine total phytoplankton patterns. Different phytoplankton species compositions, different degrees of nutrient limitation and differences in zooplankton grazing influence how DVM affects phytoplankton dynamics. Therefore, we do not expect to find a clear relationship between zooplankton DVM and phytoplankton dynamics across lakes.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank A. Wild, A. Weigert and P. Leuchtenmüller for technical support during the field experiment and the three anonymous reviewers for valuable comments on the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by a grant from the German Research Foundation (DFG STI 180/3).

JOURNAL OF PLANKTON RESEARCH VOLUME 31 NUMBER 5 PAGES 515-524 2009

REFERENCES

- Abrams, P. A. (1995) Implications of dynamically variable traits for identifying, classifying, and measuring direct and indirect effects in ecological communities. *Am. Nat.*, **146**, 112–134.
- Abrams, P. A. (1984) Foraging time optimization and interactions in food webs. Am. Nat., 124, 80–96.
- Attayde, J. L. and Hansson, L. A. (1999) Effects of nutrient recycling by zooplankton and fish on phytoplankton communities. *Oecologia*, 121, 47–54.
- Diehl, S., Berger, S., Ptacnik, R. et al. (2002) Phytoplankton, light, and nutrients in a gradient of mixing depths: field experiments. *Ecology*, 83, 399–411.
- Elser, J. J., Goff, N. C., Mackay, N. A. et al. (1987) Species-specific algal responses to zooplankton—experimental and field observations in 3 nutrient-limited lakes. *7. Plankton Res.*, 9, 699–717.
- Geider, R. J., Delucia, E. H., Falkowski, P. G. et al. (2001) Primary productivity of planet earth: biological determinants and physical constraints in terrestrial and aquatic habitats. *Global Change Biol.*, 7, 849–882.
- Geller, W. and Müller, H. (1981) The filtration apparatus of Cladocera: filter mesh-sizes and their implications on food selectivity. *Oecologia*, **49**, 316–312.
- Gliwicz, Z. M. (1986) Predation and the evolution of vertical migration in zooplankton. *Nature*, **320**, 746–748.
- Haney, J. E and Hall, D. J. (1973) Sugar coated *Daphnia*: a preservation technique for Cladocera. *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, 18, 331–333.
- Haupt, F (2004) Auswirkungen der Epilimniontiefe auf Phytoplankton-Daphnien-Interaktionen mit Schwerpunkt Zooplankton. Diploma Thesis. Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität, München (in German).
- Hays, G. C. (2003) A review of the adaptive significance and ecosystem consequences of zooplankton diel vertical migrations. *Hydrobiologia*, 503, 163–170.
- Hillebrand, H., Durselen, C. D., Kirschtel, D. et al. (1999) Biovolume calculation for pelagic and benthic microalgae. *J. Phycol.*, 35, 403–424.
- Interlandi, S. J. and Kilham, S. S. (2001) Limiting resources and the regulation of diversity in phytoplankton communities. *Ecology*, **82**, 1270–1282.
- Jäger, C. G., Dichl, S., Matauschek, C. et al. (2008) Transient dynamics of pelagic producer—grazer systems in a gradient of nutrients and mixing depths. *Ecology*, 89, 1272–1286.
- Lampert, W. (1987) Vertical migration of freshwater zooplankton: indirect effects of vertebrate predators on algal communities. In Kerfoot, W. C. and Sih, A. (eds), *Predation: Direct and Indirect Impacts on Aquatic Communities*. University press of England, New Hampshire, pp. 291–298.
- Lampert, W. (1989) The adaptive significance of diel vertical migration of zooplankton. *Funct. Ecol.*, 3, 21–27.
- Leibold, M. A. (1996) A graphical model of keystone predators in food webs: trophic regulation of abundance, incidence, and diversity patterns in communities. *Am. Nat.*, **147**, 784–812.
- Loose, C. J. and Dawidowicz, P. (1994) Trade-offs in diel vertical migration by zooplankton: the costs of predator avoidance. *Ecology*, 75, 2255–2263.
- Loose, C. J., Von Elert, E. and Dawidowicz, P. (1993) Chemicallyinduced diel vertical migration in *Daphnia*—a new bioassay for Kairomones exuded by fish. *Arch. Hydmbiol.*, **126**, 329–337.

- Polis, G. A., Scars, A. L. W., Huxel, G. R. et al. (2000) When is a trophic cascade a trophic cascade? *Trends Ecol. Evol.*, 15, 473–475.
- Porter, K. G. (1976) Enhancement of algal growth and productivity by grazing zooplankton. *Science*, **192**, 1332–1334.
- Ptacnik, R., Solimini, A. G., Andersen, T. et al. (2008) Diversity predicts stability and resource use efficiency in natural phytoplankton communities. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA, 105, 5134–5138.
- Reichwaldt, E. S. and Stibor, H. (2005) The impact of diel vertical migration of *Daphnia* on phytoplankton dynamics. *Oecologia*, 146, 50-56.
- Reichwaldt, E. S., Wolf, I. D. and Subor, H. (2004) The effect of different grazing patterns resulting from diel vertical migration on phytoplankton growth and composition: a laboratory experiment. *Occologia*, 141, 411–419.
- Ringelberg, J. (1991) A mechanism of predator-mediated induction of diel vertical migration of *Daphnia hyalina*. J. Plankton Res., 13, 83–89.
- Sarnelle, O. (2005) Daphnia as keystone predators: effects on phytoplankton diversity and grazing resistance. J. Plankton Res., 27, 1229–1238.
- Schindler, D. E. (1992) Nutrient regeneration by Sockeye-salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) fry and subsequent effects on zooplankton and phytoplankton. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci., 49, 2498–2506.
- Schmitz, O. J., Krivan, V. and Ovadia, O. (2004) Trophic cascades: the primacy of trait-mediated indirect interactions. *Ecol. Lett.*, 7, 153–163.
- Shurin, J. B., Borer, E. T., Scabloom, E. W. et al. (2002) A crossecosystem comparison of the strength of trophic cascades. *Ecol. Lett.*, 5, 785–791.
- Sokal, R. R. and Rohlf, F. J. (1981) *Biometry*, Second edn. W.H. Freeman & Company, New York.
- Sommer, U. (1994) Planktologie. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Sommer, U., Gliwicz, Z. M., Lampert, W. et al. (1986) The peg-model of seasonal succession of planktonic events in fresh waters. Arch. Hydmbiol., 106, 433–471.
- Sommer, U., Sommer, E. Santer, B. et al. (2001) Complementary impact of copepods and cladocerans on phytoplankton. *Ecol. Lett.*, 4, 545–550.
- Sommer, U., Sommer, F., Santer, B. et al. (2003) Daphnia versus copepod impact on summer phytoplankton: functional compensation at both trophic levels. Oecologia, 135, 639–647.
- Strong, D. R. (1992) Are trophic cascades all wet—differentiation and donor-control in speciose ecosystems. *Ecology*, 73, 747–754.
- Utermöhl, H. (1958) Zur Vervollkommnung der quantitativen Phytoplanktonmethodik. Mitt. Int. Ver. Theor. Angew. Limnol., 9, 1–38.
- Vanni, M. J. and Layne, C. D. (1997) Nutrient recycling and herbivory as mechanisms in the "top-down" effect of fish on algae in lakes. *Ecology*, **78**, 21–40.
- Werner, E. E. and Peacor, S. D. (2003) A review of trait-mediated indirect interactions in ecological communities. *Ecology*, 84, 1083–1100.
- Wetzel, R. G. and Likens, G. E. (1991) Limnological Analyses, Second edn. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Zaret, T. M. and Suffern, J. S. (1976) Vertical migration in zooplankton as predator avoidance mechanism. *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, 21, 804–813.

41

5.3 Initial size structure of natural phytoplankton communities determines the response to *Daphnia* diel vertical migration

Haupt, F., Stockenreiter, M., Boersma, M. and Stibor, H. (2011) *Aquatic Ecology*, submitted.



Abstract

Body size plays a central role in a number of ecological interactions, such as competition between species or prey selection by predators. Previous studies have shown that the direction and strength of phytoplankton responses to zooplankton diel vertical migration (DVM) most probably depends on the size of phytoplankton species. To examine the influence of zooplankton DVM on different sized phytoplankton communities, we designed an experiment where we manipulated the size distribution of a natural phytoplankton community a priori in field mesocosms. The results indicated that DVM had contrasting effects on the two evaluated phytoplankton communities. Comparison of "migration" and "no migration" zooplankton treatments showed that nutrient availability and total phytoplankton biovolume was higher in (1) "no migration" treatments with phytoplankton communities comprising mainly small algae and (2) "migration" treatments with phytoplankton communities of a broader size spectrum of algae. Hence our study showed two different mechanisms of how zooplankton DVM may influence the phytoplankton community dynamics. Nutrient cycling was an important factor in phytoplankton communities of mainly small algae, whereas the refuge effect was the main driver of phytoplankton dynamics in phytoplankton communities of a large size spectrum of algae.

Keywords: phytoplankton community, size structure, *Daphnia*, diel vertical migration, global change

Introduction

Natural primary producer communities typically comprise many species of various taxonomic levels with vastly different body sizes (Gaston and Lawton 1988). Body size is an important feature in many food web models because of its importance in numerous ecological interactions, including inter-species competition and prey selection by predators (Cohen et al. 1993; Williams and Martinez 2000). The impact of size structure on ecological interactions in pelagic ecosystems may be substantial. For example, predator-prey relationships are almost exclusively based on larger organism eating smaller organisms, with non-lethal herbivory being practically absent in these systems.

The PEG model (Sommer et al. 1986) of annual plankton succession in lakes demonstrates the significant relationship between size structure and pelagic ecosystem dynamics. Interactions are linked to the size structure and composition of the plankton community, which are subject to substantial seasonal fluctuations. Seasonal changes are further influenced by, and linked to, other abiotic and biotic factors, such as temperature gradients, nutrient availability, intra- and interspecific competition, and predation. The greatest annual community shift in temperate pelagic freshwater ecosystems, described by the PEG model, generally occurs at the end of the "clear water" phase in late spring/early summer. At this time, the community of small algae transforms into the summer community of large, grazing-resistant algae, thus influencing food availability for zooplankton.

There is growing evidence indicating that global warming may alter these processes of succession in temperate lakes, with spring algae blooms occurring earlier (Straile 2002; Winder and Schindler 2004; Berger et al. 2010). This shift is mainly caused by the earlier stratification of lakes, due to increased spring air temperatures, which accelerate the thermal stratification process of the water column. The depth of the stratified layer influences the underwater light regime of the surface layer substantially, and hence the onset of the phytoplankton growing season (Diehl et al. 2002). Peeters et al. (2007) proposed that the direct effects of temperature on phytoplankton production are weak under light limited conditions in unstratified lakes, with stratification being required to trigger the onset of phytoplankton spring blooms (Behrenfeld 2010).

In contrast, zooplankton dynamics are primarily governed by water temperature (Bottrell 1975; Reichwaldt et al. 2004) and, to a lesser extent, by earlier stratification and concurrently higher light depending algal food production (Schalau et al. 2008; Berger et al. 2010). Therefore, bloom forming algae could be subject to significant grazing after a lag phase in zooplankton population development. This time lag may result in a mismatch between phytoplankton and zooplankton cycles. If zooplankton communities fail to capitalize on the opportunity of highly edible spring blooms of small algal species, they may be forced to graze on less edible post-bloom phytoplankton communities.

The transition between spring and summer phytoplankton communities (late spring to early summer) is often characterized by a high abundance of juvenile fish, which start to populate the pelagic zone and prey on the zooplankton. Strong predation pressure triggers avoidance behavior in many zooplankton species (such as *Daphnia*), resulting in "diel vertical migration" (DVM) behavior. DVM is one of the most important escape responses exhibited by aquatic herbivores (Hays 2003). Zooplankton spend the night primarily in upper water layers, migrating down the water column at dawn to spend the day in deeper, darker and, colder waters (Lampert 1989). Because fish feed visually, behavioral studies have clearly established predator avoidance as the primary ultimate driver for DVM (Zaret and Suffern 1976). The immediate triggers initiating vertical migration behavior by zooplankton are the changes in light intensity around dawn and dusk (Ringelberg 1991), while the presence of a chemical substance (kairomone) that is released by predatory fish affects the motivation of zooplankton to respond to these triggers (Loose et al. 1993).

There are multiple routes through which DVM may influence epilimnetic phytoplankton communities. Perhaps the most substantial impact is reduced grazing pressure, due to lower zooplankton densities. For example, migrating zooplankton populations encounter lower temperatures in the hypolimnion than in the epilimnion. These lower temperatures lead to slower somatic growth, which may ultimately lead to lower population growth (Loose and Dawidowicz 1994). The lower density of migrating compared to non-migrating zooplankton populations is certainly only the case if one leaves out predation as a potential mortality factor, because if predation was present, a non-migrating population would also have lower growth due to this predation (Stich and Lampert 1984). The second possible mechanism affecting epilimnetic phytoplankton communities is that zooplankton migration leads to the daytime period being generally

free of grazing, which results in intermittent grazing pressure on the phytoplankton community in the epilimnion. Because both of these mechanisms may lead to reduced grazing pressure on phytoplankton, it is assumed that both may significantly enhance phytoplankton biomass (Lampert et al. 1986; Reichwaldt et al. 2004). Results of recent studies also suggest a third mechanism, whereby the migration of zooplankton may have a significant effect on epilimnetic nutrient supplies due to a change in nutrient recycling. Specifically, Lampert and Grey (2003) showed that DVM by *Daphnia* may result in the upward transport of nitrogen, while Haupt et al. (2010) showed an enrichment of upper water layers with phosphorus by *Daphnia* DVM.

Theoretical models have been developed using available data to estimate the impacts of zooplankton DVM on phytoplankton communities, in which discontinuous zooplankton grazing under DVM is indicated to enhance phytoplankton biomass by fostering small and fast growing algal species (Lampert 1987). A model developed by Petzoldt et al. (2009) showed that reduced zooplankton grazing and changed nutrient recycling under DVM are important mechanisms influencing plankton dynamics. The few experiments that have been conducted to investigate the effects of zooplankton DVM on pelagic ecosystems show that it may affect phytoplankton abundance, species composition, and diversity (Reichwaldt and Stibor 2005; Haupt et al. 2009).

One emerging hypothesis from limited experimental studies on changes in phytoplankton community structure as a result of zooplankton DVM, is that the effects are species-specific, probably depending on the size of particular phytoplankton taxon and the acceptable food-size range of zooplankton. Accelerated stratification processes caused by global warming may lead to an earlier "clear water" phase, which would lead to earlier phytoplankton community succession (Berger et al. 2010) from smaller fast growing spring species to larger and slower growing summer phytoplankton species. Phytoplankton succession generally arises from seasonally influenced changes in zooplankton grazing intensity (Sommer et al. 1986). However, Tirok and Gaedke (2006) showed that a "clear water" phase may occur even if Daphnia biomass is very low, and grazing is mainly performed by ciliates and rotifers. Basically, less mixing (by early stratification) may facilitate the early growth of phytoplankton, ciliates, and rotifers despite cold spring water temperatures, which prevent Daphnia development. The resulting enhanced grazing by ciliates and rotifers may shift the phytoplankton community composition from smaller to larger algae, which are consequently less edible for Daphnia.

Irrespective of the status of phytoplankton succession, the presence of fish stimulates mesozooplankton to perform DVM behavior. Because small phytoplankton species normally have higher growth rates than larger species (Reynolds and Irish 1997), they may use spatial and temporal refuges created by zooplankton DVM more efficiently. Hence, small fast growing edible algae may benefit more from DVM than larger slow-growing taxa. Conversely, communities that consist mainly of large inedible algae may benefit from relatively constant uninterrupted grazing by non-migrating zooplankton on the few edible taxa. Additionally, zooplankton release nutrients through sloppy feeding and excretion, which further increases the abundance of inedible algae.

Hence, we hypothesize that differences in the size structure of phytoplankton communities (such as between spring and summer phytoplankton communities) will affect the response of phytoplankton communities to zooplankton DVM. If correct, experimental manipulation of the size distribution of a phytoplankton community should alter its response to zooplankton DVM. To investigate this hypothesis, we manipulated the size distribution of a natural phytoplankton community in large (7000 L) field mesocosms, representing two different phytoplankton communities. Size control was achieved through the selective filtration of a summer phytoplankton community with two different mesh sizes (11 and 64 μ m), each representing spring and summer phytoplankton communities. The resulting communities were exposed to migrating and non-migrating populations of *Daphnia*. We consider our results against theories of phytoplankton community responses to *Daphnia* DVM, and potential trophic web impacts.

Methods

The study was conducted in an experimental enclosure system deployed in oligotrophic Lake Brunnensee, southern Germany (4759'N, 12°26'E), in the summer (June-July) of 2007. This small (5.8 ha), deep (18.6 m), hardwater lake is strongly phosphorus-limited (total P: $0.4 \mu M L^{-1}$), with a high nitrate concentration (NO₃⁻: $80 \mu M L^{-1}$) during the summer. To investigate the effects of vertically migrating zooplankton on two different phytoplankton communities, we moved *Daphnia* populations up and down the water column using cages. To create the two different phytoplankton communities, epilimnetic lake water containing a summer phytoplankton community was filtered using meshes (Sefar Petex, Sefar AG, Switzerland) with either an 11 μ m ("spring" phytoplankton community) or 64 μ m ("summer" phytoplankton community) mesh size.

The submersible cages used in this study had already been successfully applied in earlier experiments (Reichwaldt and Stibor 2005; Haupt et al. 2009). Although predation is considered to be one of the most important causes of zooplankton DVM (Zaret and Suffern 1976), attempts to establish a predatory dynamic by fish stocking have proven very difficult, primarily due to potential indirect effects on phytoplankton caused by nutrients excreted by enclosed fish (Schindler 1992; Vanni and Layne 1997; Attayde and Hansson 1999). In practice, it is also not possible to induce zooplankton DVM behavior using kairomones because too little is known about the structure and dose-effect relationship of these chemical signals.

Experimental design

Twenty four cylindrical enclosures (transparent Trikoron bags, Rheinische Kunststoffwerke Worms, Germany) were suspended vertically from a raft to a depth of 10 m. Each 0.9 m diameter enclosure was heat-sealed at the bottom and open to the atmosphere. In the enclosures, we mimicked an unmixed, 6 m deep hypolimnion and a well-mixed, 4 m deep epilimnion. The latter was produced by intermittently bubbling compressed air (3 min on, 40 min off) through PVC-tubes at a depth of 4 m. To prevent a vertical temperature gradient in the enclosures, all were surrounded by a 15-m deep, transparent silage film (0.2 mm), which acted as a homogenous, tempered water bath. Uniform mixing in the water bath was achieved by the intermittent injection of compressed air (5 min on, 20 min off) at a depth of 12 m.

Homogenous temperature along the vertical gradient was necessary to achieve similar growth in migrating and non-migrating *Daphnia* zooplankton populations. Reichwaldt

and Stibor (2005) showed a fluctuating temperature regime had a significantly negative impact on the population growth and hence abundance of migrating *Daphnia*. In this study, we aimed to investigate the refuge effect of *Daphnia* DVM on phytoplankton communities of different size structures, and the consequences of DVM on nutrient dynamics in such communities. Therefore, we used a modification of the experimental setup of Reichwaldt and Stibor (2005) to separate refuge effects from temperature effects. This method, constructs a well-mixed water bath around all enclosures, allowing the refuge effect of zooplankton DVM to be examined under field conditions without significant temperature differences between upper and deeper water layers.

Twelve enclosures were filled with 64 μ m-filtered epilimnetic water, and another 12 were filled with 11 μ m filtered epilimnetic water. From this point onwards, we refer to the 11 μ m filtered communities as "spring" communities and the 64 μ m-filtered communities as "summer" communities. Filtration and the filling of the enclosures began on 19 June 2007, which took approximately 48 h. The enclosures were filled at random with either "spring" or "summer" phytoplankton. After filling the enclosures, the "spring" community enclosures were enriched with 10 μ g P L⁻¹ to attain similar particulate phosphorus concentrations in all treatments, due to the particulate material having been removed from these enclosures.

Daphnia were placed in a cylindrical mesh cage (224 µm mesh aperture, diameter 0.7 m, length 3.5 m; Sefar Petex, Sefar AG, Switzerland) inside each enclosure. This mesh aperture ensured that all Daphnia were retained within the cages, while allowing the free exchange of algal cells. Each cage had a mesh cap that could be resealed to allow sampling. The volume of the cages was approximately 50% of the epilimnion. To simulate DVM, cages were moved up and down the water column within the enclosures in a diurnal rhythm. For the "migration" treatment group, cages containing Daphnia were kept in the epilimnion (top of cage: 0.25 m depth) at night (20:00-08:00 h), and then lowered into the hypolimnion (top of cage: 5.5 m depth) during the day (08:00 h to 20:00 h). Cages were manually moved as slowly as possible (maximum speed: 0.05 m s⁻¹). For the "no migration" treatment group, the cages containing Daphnia were kept permanently in the epilimnion. Although previous studies detected no plankton or nutrient dynamic effects from the movement of the cages (Reichwaldt and Stibor 2005; Haupt et al. 2009), we again evaluated this possibility by installing enclosures with migrating empty (no Daphnia) cages, and enclosures with nonmigrating empty cages. Therefore, the twelve "spring" enclosures and the twelve "summer" enclosures included three Daphnia "migration" treatments, three Daphnia "no

migration" treatments, three migrating empty cages, and three non-migrating empty cages.

We used a clone of Daphnia hyalina originating from Lake Brunnensee, which is known to perform DVM in this lake (H. Stibor, unpublished data), to stock the cages. Prior to the experiment, Daphnia were reared in 30 L buckets, with an artificial culture medium in an environmental chamber at a constant temperature of 20°C. They were fed Scenedesmus obliguus (>1 mg C L⁻¹) every other day, and 50% of their medium was renewed every 5 d. Two days before the beginning of the experiment, all Daphnia were transferred to 30 µm filtered, epilimnetic lake water. At the beginning of the experiment, Daphnia were released into the Daphnia "migration" and Daphnia "no migration" treatment cages at a starting density of five individuals L⁻¹ within the epilimnion, which is a density that is typical for this species in Lake Brunnensee (H. Stibor, unpublished data). The experiment began with the stocking of Daphnia on 25 June 2007, 5 d after filling the enclosures, to compensate phytoplankton growth from the losses caused by the 11µm filtration in the "spring" community treatments. The experiment lasted for four weeks until 24 July 2007. This has proven to be an ecologically rational time span for enclosure experiments, because it is long enough to show strong effects on the monitored parameters, but short enough to prevent the occurrence of artificial effects in the enclosures, such as extensive wall growth (Reichwaldt and Stibor 2005; Haupt et al. 2009).

Sampling program

Water temperature was measured weekly at 1 m vertical intervals using a WTW model Lf 191 meter with LT1/T probe (Wissenschaftlich-Technische Werkstätten, Germany). Vertical profiles of photosynthetically-active radiation (PAR) were measured in all enclosures on day 14, using a LI-139SA spherical quantum sensor (Licor, USA). In the "no migration" treatment groups, where cages remained in the epilimnion throughout the day, light intensity was measured with the cages in place, to account for possible shading effects. In both "migration" and "no migration" conditions, PAR was measured stepwise at 1 m intervals from the surface to a depth of 7 m, and was used to calculate the depth-averaged light attenuation coefficient (Diehl *et al.* 2002) for each enclosure. A *t*-test revealed no significant differences in PAR between the "migration" and "no migration" treatments in the "spring" and "summer" enclosures ("spring" community: $t_{(10)} = 0.02$; P = 0.98; "summer" community: $t_{(10)} = 0.39$; P = 0.70). This data validated

that "migration" and "no migration" treatments were not impacted by different shading regimes in either phytoplankton community.

Once a week, water samples were collected from outside the cages in each enclosure at a depth of 0.5 m (epilimnion) and 7 m (hypolimnion) using a hand pump. All samples were collected before the "migration" treatment cages were lowered to the hypolimnion. The samples were filtered through a 250 µm mesh screen, and immediately analyzed for biological and chemical parameters. Water from each sample was filtered over precombusted and acid-washed glass-fiber filters (Whatman GF/F) to determine seston carbon concentration as particular organic carbon (POC) (Elemental Analyzer, CE Instruments, UK). Concentrations of total phosphorus (TP), soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP), particulate phosphorus (PP), and silicate (SiO₂) were measured following standard methods (Wetzel and Likens 1991). Nitrate concentration was measured by ion chromatography (Model 300, Dionex Corporation, USA). Chlorophyll-*a* concentrations were determined fluorometrically (TD 700, Turner Design, USA).

To analyze the total biovolume and size spectrum of the two phytoplankton communities, we immediately preserved subsamples of the collected water samples with acid Lugol's iodine. These samples were measured with a particle counter (Casy 1, Schärfe Systems, Germany). Plankton particles were sorted according to equivalent spherical diameter (ESD). The ESD was then used to determine 22 size classes. For each size class, we pooled the biovolume of all particles around ± 0.5 µm of each respective ESD size class. Hence the smallest size class was 4 µm ESD, including the biovolume of all particles between 3.5 µm and 4.5 µm ESD, while the largest size class was 25 µm ESD, including the biovolume of all particles between 24.5 µm and 25.5 µm ESD.

At the end of the experiment zooplankton samples from all cages were collected to test the potential effects of the migrating cage on *Daphnia* growth. To accomplish this, in the morning before the migrating cages were lowered, all cages were opened at the top and mixed with a Secchi disc (the Secchi disc was lowered and brought up two times in each cage) to uniformly distribute the zooplankton. A vertical net haul from the bottom to the top inside the cage (net diameter: 0.25 m; mesh size: 150μ m) was then taken. This sampling method allowed direct comparisons between enclosures, although it probably under-sampled actual *Daphnia* densities inside the cages, because *Daphnia* that remain near to the cage bottom are not effectively caught (Haupt et al. 2009). The samples were preserved in 4% sucrose-formaldehyde solution (Haney and Hall 1973), and all zooplankton individuals were counted under a dissecting microscope.

Data processing

In this study we were interested mainly in the mechanisms of how zooplankton DVM may influence phytoplankton communities. Therefore, we used the last sampling date, in which we expected to observe the largest effects on the monitored parameters, for the analysis of the algal communities. Because all available theoretical models investigating DVM are focused on the effects of DVM on epilimnetic algal communities, we primarily report data from this layer.

The total biovolume and biovolume of each size class of the phytoplankton communities were used to calculate the percentage biovolume of each size class at the start (day 0) and the end of the experiment (day 29). We used this data to predict the development of phytoplankton biomass $r_{(i)}$ of each size class during the experiment from the logarithms of the biovolume percentage:

$$r_{(i)} = (\ln BVP(i)_{end} \ln BVP(i)_{start})$$
(1)

where $BVP(i)_{end}$ is the biovolume percentage in size class *i* at the end of the experiment, and $BVP(i)_{start}$ is the biovolume percentage in size class *i* at the start of the experiment. We analyzed the biomass development *r* of the phytoplankton size classes in "migration" and "no migration" treatments by using standard regression models. Lack of fit tests were used to determine the validity of linear models, and ANCOVA methods were used to compare the slope and intercepts of linear regressions.

Cage effects were analyzed using *t*-tests to compare migrating and non-migrating empty cage data. Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) (with phytoplankton community type and *Daphnia* migration treatment as fixed factors) was used to compare soluble reactive phosphorus concentrations, chlorophyll-*a* and total phytoplankton biovolume between *Daphnia* "migration" and *Daphnia* "no migration" treatments. If a significant interaction between fixed factors was indicated, we performed *post hoc* tests using all pair wise multiple comparison procedures (Holm-Sidak method). Data are mainly presented as mean \pm one standard error of the mean. Where appropriate to meet statistical assumptions (Sokal and Rohlf 1981), data were In-transformed.

Results

Success of the experimental design

Filtration and initial conditions

Total phytoplankton biovolume at the start of the experiment (five days after filling the mesocosm) was $2.8 \times 10^9 \pm 1.6 \times 10^8 \,\mu\text{m}^3 \,\text{L}^{-1}$ in the "spring" and $2.7 \times 10^9 \pm 3.8 \times 10^8 \,\mu\text{m}^3 \,\text{L}^{-1}$ in the "summer" communities. *T*-tests revealed no significant differences in biovolume between both phytoplankton communities: $t_{(22)} = 0.67, P = 0.51$.

Linear regressions were calculated to test for significant differences between size class biovolume percentages in the "spring" and "summer" phytoplankton communities at the start of the experiment. Biovolume percentages after filtration may be described as a linear function of size classes, with the linear regressions being significant for both communities: "spring" community: $y = -0.57 \times +12.08$, $R^2 = 0.56$, $F_{1,87} = 111.91$, P < 0.001; "summer" community: $y = -0.29 \times +7.85$, $R^2 = 0.31$, $F_{1,85} = 37.61$, P < 0.001 (Fig. 1). The analysis of covariance revealed statistical differences in the biovolume percentage of size classes in both communities: slopes: $F_{1,172} = 14.88$, P < 0.001; intercepts: $F_{1,173} = 15.02$, P < 0.001. Therefore, filtration was successful, with the "spring" phytoplankton community containing more small algae size classes (size < 15 µm ESD), while the summer community contained larger algae size classes (individual size > 15 µm ESD).

Initial particulate phosphorus (PP) concentrations showed no significant differences between "spring" (4.5 ± 0.5 µg P L⁻¹) and "summer" (5.2 ± 0.3 µg P L⁻¹) phytoplankton communities: $t_{(10)} = 1.43$, P = 0.18.

General conditions during the experiment

Water temperature was constant in all enclosures, averaging 17.4 °C ± 0.03 at all depths. There was virtually no vertical temperature gradient, with the difference between temperature at the surface and maximum depth (10 m) being just 1.5 °C ± 0.07.

Dissolved nitrate (>50 μ M L⁻¹) and silicate (>30 μ M L⁻¹) were measurable in high concentrations, and obviously were not limiting during the experimental duration. There were no significant differences (*P* ≥ 0.11 in all treatments) in seston carbon

concentrations between the epilimnion and the hypolimnion in all enclosures. Differences in seston carbon concentrations between water depths of 0.5 m and 7 m never exceeded 0.05 mg C L^{-1} .

Daphnia densities inside the cages averaged 4.7 ± 0.6 individuals L⁻¹based on total epilimnion volume. We found no significant differences in *Daphnia* densities between *Daphnia* "migration" and *Daphnia* "no migration" treatment groups for both phytoplankton communities: "spring": $t_{(4)} = 0.65$, P = 0.55; "summer": $t_{(4)} = 1.07$, P = 0.35. Although control treatments were not initially stocked with *Daphnia*, some animals were present in the water, and a *Daphnia* population did develop. However, *Daphnia* densities in the control treatments were always less than 0.1 individuals L⁻¹. Additional mesozooplanktonic organisms were, for the most part, excluded by the initial filtration, although some animals, mainly copepods, were found at densities of less than 0.1 individuals L⁻¹.

Control treatments (empty cages)

Analysis using *t*-tests revealed no significant differences between migrating and nonmigrating control treatments for any of the measured parameters: "spring" communities: soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP) concentration: $t_{(4)} = 0.85$, P = 0.44; chlorophyll-*a* concentration: $t_{(4)} = 0.02$, P = 0.98; total phytoplankton biovolume: $t_{(4)} = 0.07$, P = 0.95. "Summer" communities: soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP) concentration: $t_{(4)} = 1.84$, P = 0.14; chlorophyll-*a* concentration: $t_{(4)} = 1.81$, P = 0.14; total phytoplankton biovolume: $t_{(4)} = 1.65$, P = 0.17. To evaluate the possible effects of the cages on large diatoms we compared the silicate (SiO₂) concentrations between migrating and non-migrating empty cages, with no significant differences being found: "spring" communities: $t_{(4)} = 1.74$, P = 0.16; "summer" communities: $t_{(4)} = 0.91$, P = 0.41.

Experimental results

Nutrients

In the "spring" communities, SRP concentrations were lower in the "migration" treatments (2.0 \pm 0.03 µg P L⁻¹) than in the "no migration" treatments (2.3 \pm 0.3 µg P L⁻¹) (Fig. 2). The pattern was reversed in the "summer" communities, with SRP concentrations being higher in the "migration" treatments (2.1 \pm 0.01 µg P L⁻¹) than in the "no migration" treatments (1.5 \pm 0.02 µg P L⁻¹). Two-way ANOVA indicated a significant interaction effect of phytoplankton community type and migration behavior on SRP ($F_{(1,8)} = 5.67$, P = 0.044). *Post hoc* analyses showed that the SRP concentrations in "summer" communities were significantly higher in the "migration" treatments (P = 0.036). When considering only the "no migration" treatments, SRP concentrations in the "spring" communities were significantly higher than in the "summer" communities (P = 0.018).

Phytoplankton abundance

In the "spring" communities, measured mean chlorophyll-*a* concentrations were lower $(3.5 \pm 0.4 \ \mu g \ chl-a \ L^{-1})$ in the "migration" treatments than in the "no migration" treatments (6.0 ± 2.0 \ \mu g \ chl-a \ L^{-1}) (Fig. 3). The order was reversed in the "summer" communities, where the mean chlorophyll-*a* concentrations were higher in the "migration" treatments ($5.5 \pm 0.7 \ \mu g \ chl-a \ L^{-1}$) than in the "no migration" treatments ($2.2 \pm 0.1 \ \mu g \ chl-a \ L^{-1}$). There was a significant interaction effect of phytoplankton community type and migration behavior on chlorophyll-*a* concentrations ($F_{(1,8)} = 7.01$, P = 0.029). *Post hoc* analyses indicated that there was not a significant difference between "migration" and "no migration" treatments in the "spring" communities. However, in the "summer" communities, chlorophyll-*a* of the "migration" treatments was significantly higher (P = 0.029) than in the "no migration" treatments. Also, when considering only the "migration" treatments, chlorophyll-*a* of the "summer" communities were significantly higher (P = 0.038) than in the "spring" communities.

As with chlorophyll-*a*, mean total phytoplankton biovolume in the "migration" treatments of the "spring" communities was lower $(4.6 \times 10^8 \pm 5.4 \times 10^7 \,\mu\text{m}^3 \,\text{L}^{-1})$ than in the "no migration" treatments $(8.4 \times 10^8 \pm 2.7 \times 10^8 \,\mu\text{m}^3 \,\text{L}^{-1})$; Fig. 4). Similar to chlorophyll-*a* measurements, "migration" treatments in the "summer" communities had higher biovolume $(1.0 \times 10^9 \pm 4.6 \times 10^7 \,\mu\text{m}^3 \,\text{L}^{-1})$ than in the "no migration" treatments $(5.1 \times 10^8 \pm 4.8 \times 10^7 \,\mu\text{m}^3 \,\text{L}^{-1})$. There was a significant interaction effect of phytoplankton community type and migration behavior on total phytoplankton biovolume $(F_{(1.8)} = 7.55, P = 0.025)$. *Post hoc* analyses indicated that in the "summer"

communities, "migration" biovolume was significantly higher (P = 0.044) than in the "no migration" treatments. Also, considering only the "migration" treatments, phytoplankton biovolume of the "summer" communities was significantly higher (P = 0.030) than the "spring" communities.

Phytoplankton community size dependent growth rates

To identify size dependent responses of both phytoplankton communities to the "migration" and "no migration" treatments, we analyzed the biomass development of phytoplankton (r) as a function of size.

Linear regressions of phytoplankton biomass development as a function of size in the "spring" communities were significant for both migration treatments: "migration": y = 0.09 x - 1.24, $R^2 = 0.41$, $F_{1,43} = 29.63$, P < 0.001; "no migration": y = 0.08 x - 0.87, $R^2 = 0.22$, $F_{1,42} = 12.16$, P = 0.001. Analysis of covariance revealed no statistical differences between slopes ($F_{1,85} = 0.12$, P = 0.73), but there were statistical differences between the intercepts of the regression ($F_{1,85} = 15.02$, P < 0.001). These results allow a new calculation of linear regressions with a combined mean slope: "migration" treatments, y = 0.09 x - 1.19, $R^2 = 0.41$, P < 0.001; "no migration" treatments, y = 0.09 x - 0.92, $R^2 = 0.22$, P = 0.001 (Fig. 5). The results indicate higher biomass development in the "no migration" treatments compared to "migration" treatments of the "spring" communities. Additionally, growth rates were positive for phytoplankton species larger than 11 µm ESD for "no migration" treatments, whereas this was only the case for size classes larger than 14 µm ESD in the migration treatments.

Linear regressions of phytoplankton biomass development as a function of size in the "summer" communities were only significant for "migration" treatments: y = 0.07 x - 0.33, $R^2 = 0.27$, $F_{1,46} = 17.32$, P < 0.001. "No migration" treatments showed no significant relationship between biomass development and size: y = 0.03 x - 0.23, $R^2 = 0.07$, $F_{1,36} = 2.53$, P = 0.12. Analysis of covariance revealed no statistical differences in the slopes ($F_{1,82} = 2.70$, P = 0.10), but there were statistical differences in the intercepts ($F_{1,83} = 9.88$, P = 0.002) between regressions. These results allow a new calculation of linear regressions with a combined mean slope: "migration" treatments, y = 0.05 x - 0.18, $R^2 = 0.27$; "no migration" treatments, y = 0.05 x - 0.50, $R^2 = 0.07$ (Fig. 6). The results indicate higher biomass development in the "migration" treatments compared to "no migration" treatments of the "summer" communities. Additionally, biomass development was positive for all phytoplankton size classes in "migration" treatments.

"No migration" treatments had no clear effect on size dependent biomass development in the "summer" communities.

Discussion

We experimentally manipulated the size distribution of a natural summer phytoplankton community in a small oligotrophic lake. We exposed the resulting communities to migrating and non-migrating zooplankton populations. In general, both phytoplankton communities responded with the higher growth of larger algae when exposed to grazing by *Daphnia*, which was indicated by the positive relationship between biomass development and algal size. This general response was similar between "migration" and "no migration" treatments, as shown by the similar slopes of the size-biomass development relationships.

Nevertheless, zooplankton DVM had a different effect on phytoplankton growth, which was dependent on phytoplankton size structure. Our hypothesis that different phytoplankton size distributions could affect the direction and strength of the community response to zooplankton DVM is therefore supported by the results. We were able to show experimentally, that the effects of zooplankton DVM on phytoplankton may be modified by phytoplankton size structure manipulations. However, our general expectations were mainly met by the results from treatments with the "summer" communities.

The "summer" communities, which represented early summer algal populations in small oligotrophic temperate lakes, followed the general predictions (stated in the introduction) that zooplankton DVM would cause higher phytoplankton abundance by promoting algae that are able to use the temporal refuge from grazing for growth. However, it seems that a full phytoplankton community size spectrum was necessary for zooplankton DVM to induce a refuge effect for algae. Phytoplankton only profited from zooplankton DVM in treatments containing large algae. However, contrary to the expectations stated in the introduction that mainly small algae should profit, larger algae also profited from "migration" treatments in the "summer" communities. The results obtained from the "spring" communities, which were mainly absent of large algae, suggest impacts to the contrary. For example, continuous grazing instead of discontinuous grazing resulted in higher phytoplankton biomass.

However, permanent grazing may result in higher phytoplankton abundance (Haupt et al. 2009) by fostering small phytoplankton species with gelatinous sheaths (Porter 1973). Therefore, the results of the spring treatments fit well to an earlier mesocosm

study in the same lake, in which a non-manipulated phytoplankton community was exposed to zooplankton DVM (Haupt et al. 2009). Additionally, theoretical concepts and empirical studies suggest that under oligotrophic conditions, the benefits of grazing mediated by nutrient recycling may balance or even over-yield mortality related grazing losses (Sterner 1990; Elser and Urabe 1999; Nugraha et al. 2010). Other possible explanations could be based on the interactions between microzooplankton, such as ciliates, and *Daphnia* (Juergens 1994). "Spring" phytoplankton communities suffering from serious predation by ciliates could benefit from the continuous presence of *Daphnia*, which are known to be able to drastically reduce microzooplankton biomass (Zoellner et al. 2003). Hence, more detailed studies are necessary to disentangle the different possibilities of how small, ingestible algae in natural lake communities are able to still profit from permanent grazing.

Since all other variables were controlled in the experiment, the observed differences in phytoplankton response to zooplankton DVM were directly associated with the manipulation of phytoplankton size structure. The phosphorus data also suggest that nutrient recycling by *Daphnia* appeared to be crucial for phytoplankton development in "spring" treatments containing high proportions of small, algae. In the "spring" treatments with continuous grazing, sustained removal of edible algae resulted in noticeably more dynamic nutrient recycling with higher phosphorus availability. Boersma and Wiltshire (2006) showed that *Daphnia* excrete up to about 80% phosphorus as soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP), which means that higher nutrient recycling by grazing should be coupled with a higher release of SRP. This hypothesis is supported in our study, whereby significantly higher SRP concentrations in the "spring" community "no migration" treatments compared to the "migration" treatments with discontinuous zooplankton grazing.

Obviously, the response of phytoplankton communities to zooplankton DVM was dependent on the presence or absence of large algae. The phytoplankton data, together with the nutrient measurements, indicate that the refuge effects of zooplankton DVM were larger in communities with a higher proportion of large algae ("summer" communities) compared to the effects of nutrient recycling. Large algae have the potential to store nutrients more effectively, and remove larger parts of the dissolved phosphorus pool (Wen et al. 1997). Furthermore, their lower edibility would also lead to lower recycling of phosphorus in communities with a higher proportion of large algae. In direct contrast, small algae with lower storage abilities for phosphorus and higher

edibility would foster higher nutrient turnover and recycling. Therefore, in communities mainly consisting of small algae ("spring" communities) the effect of nutrient recycling (which would be even higher in "no migration" treatments with constant grazing) may be more important than the refuge effects of zooplankton DVM. The observed size dependent interactions of zooplankton DVM with phytoplankton community structure support that both the refuge effects and size structure depend on nutrient recycling as the main drivers of how zooplankton DVM affects phytoplankton abundance.

Diel vertical migration is a classic example of a so called trait mediated effect. Trait mediated effects describe trophic cascades that are not mediated by direct mortality but by the behavioral responses of herbivores through predators (Schmitz et al. 2004). Our experimental results suggest that the direction and strength of trait mediated effects may depend on the distribution of functional traits within a community. If functional traits, such as body size, determine the flow of energy and matter within trophic cascades, the distribution of these functional traits should also influence the strength and the direction of cascade flows. In our experimental system, algal cell size not only influenced direct mortality by grazers, but also the supply of dissolved nutrients available for total phytoplankton growth. Substantial dominance by small algae resulted in trait mediated trophic cascades that were different in strength and direction from that observed for the community in which size classes were more evenly distributed, and where large species were more common. Whether the indirect trophic cascade mediated by zooplankton DVM resulted in a positive or negative effect on the trophic level of primary producers, it was clearly a function of the size distribution of the phytoplankton.

Since trait mediated trophic cascades appear to depend on functional trait distributions within primary producer communities, significant alterations in environmental factors could severely affect conditions within lake ecosystems. Global warming may be one such factor. For example, increasing temperatures could result in earlier stratification and spring algae blooms (Winder et al. 2004; Berger et al. 2010). Zooplankton communities are more restricted by cold water temperature (Bottrell 1975), and may therefore miss the opportunity to graze on a spring phytoplankton communities in which small edible algal species are present. Hence, zooplankton species may be forced to rely on nutrient poor post-bloom summer phytoplankton communities with a broader size class distribution. This negative impact on zooplankton growth could cascade to young fish, which consume zooplankton (including *Daphnia*) as a significant part of

their diet. Therefore, the complex interaction between phytoplankton size structure, fish predation, and zooplankton DVM may adjust in response to increasing warming.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by a grant from the German Research Foundation (DFG STI 180/3). We thank A. Wild, A. Weigert and M. Schlössler for technical support during the field experiment.

References

Attayde JL, Hansson LA (1999) Effects of nutrient recycling by zooplankton and fish on phytoplankton communities. Oecologia 121: 47-54

Behrenfeld MJ (2010) Abandoning Sverdrup's Critical Depth Hypothesis on phytoplankton blooms. Ecology 91: 977-989

Berger SA, Diehl S, Stibor H, Trommer G, Ruhenstroth M (2010) Water temperature and stratification depth independently shift cardinal events during plankton spring succession. Global Change Biology 16: 1954-1965

Boersma M, Wiltshire KH (2006) Gut passage of phosphorus-limited algae through *Daphnia*: do they take up nutrients in the process? Arch Hydrobiol 167: 489-500

Bottrell HH (1975) Relationship between temperature and duration of egg development in some epiphytic cladocera and copepoda from river Thames, Reading, with a discussion of temperature functions. Oecologia 18: 63-84

Cohen JE, Pimm SL, Yodzis P, Saldana J (1993) Body sizes of animal predators and animal prey in food webs. J Anim Ecol 62: 67-78

Diehl S, Berger S, Ptacnik R, Wild A (2002) Phytoplankton, light, and nutrients in a gradient of mixing depths: Field experiments. Ecology 83: 399-411

Elser JJ, Urabe J (1999) The stoichiometry of consumer-driven nutrient recycling: Theory, observations, and consequences. Ecology 80: 735-751

Gaston KJ, Lawton JH (1988) Patterns in body size, population-dynamics, and regional distribution of bracken herbivores. Am Nat 132: 662-680

Haney JF, Hall DJ (1973) Sugar coated *Daphnia*: a preservation technique for Cladocera. Limnol Oceanogr 18: 331-333

Haupt F, Stockenreiter M, Baumgartner M, Boersma M, Stibor H (2009) *Daphnia* diel vertical migration: implications beyond zooplankton. J Plankt Res 31: 515-524

Haupt F, Stockenreiter M, Reichwaldt ES, Baumgartner M, Lampert W, Boersma M, Stibor H (2010) Upward phosphorus transport by *Daphnia* diel vertical migration. Limnol Oceanogr 55: 529-534

Hays GC (2003) A review of the adaptive significance and ecosystem consequences of zooplankton diel vertical migrations. Hydrobiologia 503: 163-170

Juergens K (1994) Impact of *Daphnia* on planktonic microbial food webs: A review. Marine Microbial Food Webs 8: 295-324

Lampert W (1987) Vertical migration of freshwater zooplankton: Indirect effects of vertebrate predators on algal communities. In: Kerfoot WC, Sih A. (ed). Predation: direct and indirect impacts on aquatic communities, 1st edn, University press of England, New Hampshire, pp 291-298

Lampert W (1989) The adaptive significance of diel vertical migration of zooplankton. Functional Ecology 3: 21-27

Lampert W, Fleckner W, Rai H, Taylor BE (1986) Phytoplankton control by grazing zooplankton - a study on the spring clear-water phase. Limnol Oceanogr 31: 478-490

Lampert W, Grey J (2003) Exploitation of a deep-water algal maximum by *Daphnia*: a stable-isotope tracer study. Hydrobiologia 500: 95-101

Loose CJ, Dawidowicz P (1994) Trade-offs in diel vertical migration by zooplankton -The costs of predator avoidance. Ecology 75: 2255-2263

Loose CJ, Von Elert E, Dawidowicz P (1993) Chemically-induced diel vertical migration in *Daphnia* - a new bioassay for Kairomones exuded by fish. Arch Hydrobiol 126: 329-337

Nugraha A, Pondaven P, Treguer P (2010) Influence of consumer-driven nutrient recycling on primary production and the distribution of N and P in the ocean. Biogeosciences 7: 1285-1305

Peeters F, Straile D, Lorke A, Livingstone DM (2007) Earlier onset of the spring phytoplankton bloom in lakes of the temperate zone in a warmer climate. Global Change Biology 13: 1898-1909

Petzoldt T, Rudolf L, Rinke K, Benndorf J (2009) Effects of zooplankton diel vertical migration on a phytoplankton community: A scenario analysis of the underlying mechanisms. Ecol Model 220: 1358-1368

Porter KG (1973) Selective grazing and differential digestion of algae by zooplankton. Nature 244: 179-180

Reichwaldt ES, Stibor H (2005) The impact of diel vertical migration of *Daphnia* on phytoplankton dynamics. Oecologia 146: 50-56

Reichwaldt ES, Wolf ID, Stibor H (2004) The effect of different zooplankton grazing patterns resulting from diel vertical migration on phytoplankton growth and composition: a laboratory experiment. Oecologia 141: 411-419

Reynolds CS, Irish AE (1997) Modelling phytoplankton dynamics in lakes and reservoirs: the problem of in-situ growth rates. Hydrobiologia 349: 5-17

Ringelberg J (1991) A mechanism of predator-mediated induction of diel vertical migration of *Daphnia hyalina*. J Plankt Res 13: 83-89

Schalau K, Rinke K, Straile D, Peeters F (2008) Temperature is the key factor explaining interannual variability of *Daphnia* development in spring: a modelling study. Oecologia 157: 531-543

Schindler DE (1992) Nutrient regeneration by Sockeye-salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*) fry and subsequent effects on zooplankton and phytoplankton. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 49: 2498-2506

Schmitz OJ, Krivan V, Ovadia O (2004) Trophic cascades: the primacy of traitmediated indirect interactions. Ecology Letters **7**: 153-163

Sokal RR, Rohlf FJ (1981) Biometry. W. H. Freeman and Company, New York

Sommer U, Gliwicz ZM, Lampert W, Duncan A. (1986) The peg-model of seasonal succession of planktonic events in fresh waters. Arch Hydrobiol 106: 433-471

Sterner RW (1990) The ratio of nitrogen to phosphorus resupplied by herbivores – zooplankton and the algal competitive arena. Am Nat 136: 209-229

Stich HB, Lampert W (1984) Growth and reproduction of migrating and non-migrating *Daphnia* species under simulated food and temperature conditions of diurnal vertical migration. Oecologia 61: 192-196

Straile D (2002) North Atlantic Oscillation synchronizes food-web interactions in central European lakes. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 269: 391-395

Tirok K, Gaedke U (2006) Spring weather determines the relative importance of ciliates, rotifers and crustaceans for the initiation of the clear-water phase in a large, deep lake. J Plankt Res 28: 361-373

Vanni MJ, Layne CD (1997) Nutrient recycling and herbivory as mechanisms in the "top-down" effect of fish on algae in lakes. Ecology 78: 21-40

Wen YH, Vezina A, Peters RH (1997) Allometric scaling of compartmental fluxes of phosphorus in freshwater algae. Limnol Oceanogr 42: 45-56

Wetzel RG, Likens GE (1991) Limnological analyses. Springer, New York

Williams RJ, Martinez ND (2000) Simple rules yield complex food webs. Nature 404: 180-183

Winder M, Schindler DE (2004) Climatic effects on the phenology of lake processes. Global Change Biology 10: 1844-1856

Zaret TM, Suffern JS (1976) Vertical migration in zooplankton as a predator avoidance mechanism. Limnol Oceanogr 21: 804-813

Zoellner E, Santer B, Boersma M, Hoppe HG, Juergens K (2003) Cascading predation effects of *Daphnia* and copepods on microbial food web components. Freshwater Biol 48: 2174-2193

Figure legends

Fig.1: Biovolume percentages of size classes in "spring" (filled circles) and "summer" (open circles) phytoplankton communities at the beginning of the experiment. Lines represent linear regressions: "spring" community, y = -0.29 x + 7.85, $R^2 = 12.08$, $R^2 = 0.56$, P < 0.001 (solid line); "summer" community, y = -0.29 x + 7.85, $R^2 = 0.31$, P < 0.001 (dotted line).

Fig. 2: Mean (± 1 SE) SRP (soluble reactive phosphorus) concentrations in *Daphnia* "migration" (light grey) and *Daphnia* "no migration" (dark grey) treatments of the "spring" and "summer" communities.

Fig. 3: Mean (\pm 1 SE) chlorophyll-*a* concentrations in *Daphnia* "migration" (light grey) and *Daphnia* "no migration" (dark grey) treatments of the "spring" and "summer" communities.

Fig. 4: Mean (± 1 SE) total phytoplankton biovolume in *Daphnia* "migration" (light grey) and *Daphnia* "no migration" (dark grey) treatments of the "spring" and "summer" communities.

Fig. 5: Phytoplankton biomass size class development in "migration" (gray circles) and "no migration" (black circles) treatments of "spring" communities. Lines represent combined linear regressions: "migration" treatments, y = 0.09 x - 1.19; $R^2 = 0.41$ (gray line); "no migration" treatments, y = 0.09 x - 0.92; $R^2 = 0.22$ (dotted line).

Fig.6: Phytoplankton biomass size class development in "migration" (gray circles) and "no migration" (black circles) treatments of "summer" communities. Lines represent combined linear regressions: "migration" treatments, y = 0.05 x - 0.18; $R^2 = 0.27$ (gray line); "no migration" treatments, y = 0.05 x - 0.50; $R^2 = 0.07$ (dotted line).



Fig. 1







Fig. 3













5.4 Carbon sequestration and stoichiometry of motile and nonmotile green algae

Striebel, M., Bartholmé, S., Zernecke, R., Steinlein, C., Haupt, F., Diehl, S. and Stibor, H. (2009)

Limnology and Oceanography, 54, 1746-1752.



Limnol. Oceanogr., 54(5), 2009, 1746-1752 © 2009, by the American Society of Limnology and Oceanography, Inc.

Carbon sequestration and stoichiometry of motile and nonmotile green algae

Maren Striebel,^{1,*} Silvia Bartholmé, Rebekka Zernecke, Christina Steinlein, Florian Haupt, Sebastian Diehl, and Herwig Stibor²

Department of Biology II, Aquatic Ecology, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München, Planegg-Martinsried, Germany

Abstract

Actively motile, flagellated phytoplankton taxa often exploit vertical gradients in the availability of light and nutrients. The ability to move actively usually goes along with low investment in structural carbon components and should entail costs in terms of increased energy expenditure. This should be reflected in higher metabolic rates and higher light requirements for growth and, consequently, in lower light-dependent specific production rates, carrying capacities, and carbon-to-phosphorus (C:P) ratios (during phosphorus limitation) of flagellated compared to nonmotile taxa. Laboratory experiments with four flagellated and five nonmotile species of green algae, performed over a light gradient, corroborated these expectations. Parameter fits to short-term production-irradiance measurements suggest that flagellated taxa had higher respiration rates and higher light requirements for growth than nonmotile taxa. Accordingly, both short-term photosynthetic rates and longer-term (14 d) biomass accrual were lower for flagellated than for nonmotile taxa. While most of the variance in algal C:P ratios was explained by species-specific effects, there was also a tendency for algal C:P ratios to be lower in flagellated that in nonmotile taxa. Collectively, these results point at significant costs of motility, which may explain why flagellated taxa are often outcompeted by nonmotile taxa in turbulently mixed environments, where active motility is of little use.

Primary production in aquatic systems is strongly dependent on the supply with two fundamentally different kinds of essential resources: light and nutrients. While light is always supplied externally from above and decreases exponentially with depth, mineral nutrients are often scarce in the upper, illuminated water layers but abundant in deeper zones, where mineralization rates exceed uptake rates. The availabilities of light and mineral nutrients therefore frequently exhibit opposing vertical gradients (Klausmeier and Litchman 2001; Huisman et al. 2006; Jäger et al. 2008). Many phytoplankton taxa cope with this environmental challenge by influencing their vertical position in the water column through active movement or buoyancy regulation. For example, periodic vertical migrations allow motile algae to access deeper, nutrient-rich water and to adjust for optimal irradiance (Olli 1999). Hence, motile species seem to have a considerable advantage over nonmotile species, especially at low turbidity and in stratified water columns (Jones 1993; Ralston et al. 2007; Jäger et al. 2008).

The capacity to perform vertical movements is, however, of little use in deeply and well-mixed water columns, where both motile and nonmotile phytoplankton taxa are displaced passively by turbulent forces. Correspondingly, shifts from stratified to well-mixed conditions are commonly associated with shifts from flagellated or buoyant to nonmotile phytoplankton taxa (Reynolds et al. 1983; Jones and Gowen 1990; Huisman et al. 2004). The latter suggests that there are costs to motility that play out when its potential benefits cannot be exploited. Motility should indeed involve costs in terms of energy expenditure and the provision of specific cell structures that are required for movement. While costs of motility are thus very plausible, surprisingly little is known about the nature of these costs. Theoretical considerations suggest that most planktonic protists should expend only a low (<1%) to moderate (1– 10%) proportion of their total metabolic rate on motility (Raven and Richardson 1984; Crawford 1992). Intriguingly, however, empirical estimates of the cost of locomotion in rotifers amounted to 38% of total metabolism, which greatly exceeded a theoretical expectation of 1% (Epp and Lewis 1984). We are unaware of any actual measurements of the costs of motility in unicellular algae. Clearly, there is a need for more research in this area.

The uptake of dissolved inorganic nutrients and the rate of light-dependent carbon fixation by phytoplankton are not tightly coupled. For nutrients that can be effectively stored (such as phosphorus), the carbon-to-nutrient ratio in phytoplankton biomass is therefore often highly flexible and varies with environmental conditions (Sterner et al. 1997; Berger et al. 2006). For example, the carbon-tophosphorus (C:P) ratio of phytoplankton can vary more than 20-fold as a function of the supply ratio with light and phosphorus (Urabe and Sterner 1996; Sterner et al. 1997; Striebel et al. 2008). For a number of reasons, it seems plausible to expect that actively motile and nonmotile phytoplankton taxa should, on average, differ in the flexibility and range of their biomass C: P ratios. First, in nonturbulent water columns, motile taxa can perform periodical vertical migrations between upper, illuminated. and deeper, nutrient-rich layers and should thus achieve more balanced ratios of carbon fixation to phosphorus uptake compared to nonmotile taxa. Second, everything

^{*} Corresponding author: Striebel@zi.biologie.uni-muenchen.de

Present addresses:

¹Department of Biology, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway ²European Institute for Marine Studies, Technopôle Brest-Iroise, Plouzané, France
else being equal, motile taxa, in particular flagellated ones, should respire more carbon and need more phosphorus than nonmotile taxa because active movement requires increased metabolism and a sufficient turnover of the phosphorus-rich molecule adenosine triphosphate (ATP). Higher metabolic rates and higher phosphorus requirements should, in turn, be reflected in lower C:P ratios of flagellated taxa. Finally, many nonmotile species of (green) algae possess cell walls containing large amounts of phosphorus-free, structural carbon compounds, such as cellulose, which shifts their C:P ratio toward higher values, especially compared to flagellated taxa.

On the basis of the previously mentioned considerations, we hypothesized that flagellated and nonmotile phytoplankton taxa should, on average, differ with respect to their energetic costs, their phosphorus requirements, and their structural carbon requirements. These differences should be reflected in on average higher metabolic rates and higher light requirements for growth and, consequently, in lower light-dependent specific production rates, carrying capacities, and C:P ratios of flagellated compared to nonmotile taxa. To test these expectations, we performed short-term production and longer-term biomass accrual experiments with four flagellated and five nonmotile phytoplankton species over a gradient of light supplies.

Methods

To minimize trait variability among the study species stemming from other sources than motility (e.g., major differences in pigment constitution), all taxa were chosen from a single taxonomic group, that is, green algae. All in all, we used nine different species: four motile, flagellated ones (*Chlamydomonas* sp., *Haematococcus pluvialis, Phacotus lenticularis*, and *Carteria* sp., all Chlorophyceae, order Volvocales) and five nonmotile ones (*Scenedesmus* sp. and *Golenkinia brevispicula*, both Chlorophyceae, order Chlorococcales; *Tetraedron minimum* and *Monoraphidium* sp., both Chlorophyceae, order Sphaeropleales; and *Staurastrum tetracerum*, Zygnematophyceae, order Zygnematales). We tested for group-specific differences concerning biovolume per cell (t = 1.747; df = 7; p = 0.12), carbon content per cell (t = 0.597; df = 7; p = 0.57). The *t*-tests revealed no significant differences between groups.

The algae were precultured over a period of several weeks prior to the experiments in a phosphorus-reduced growth medium (WC medium after Guillard and Lorenzen [1972] containing 10 μ g P L⁻¹). The same medium was subsequently used in all growth experiments. We established five levels of continuous incident photosynthetically active radiation: 3, 10, 20, 110, and 290 μ mol quanta m⁻² s⁻¹. Each algal treatment was established with the same initial biovolume (2 × 10⁶ μ m³ mL⁻¹) and replicated three times. The treatments were arranged as semibatch cultures (10% exchange d⁻¹) in 250-mL translucent cell culture bottles in a climate chamber at 20°C. To maintain a

to counteract sedimentation of nonmotile species, bottles were shaken two times per day.

The growth experiments lasted for 14 d, at which point phytoplankton populations had reached the stationary phase; that is, no increase in algal biomass (as measured with an automatic particle counter) had been observed for three or more consecutive days. Particulate organic carbon and particulate phosphorus were analyzed at the start of the experiment and after 14 d of incubation. To determine particulate organic carbon and particulate phosphorus, we filtered samples from each culture bottle onto precombusted, acid-washed glass-fiber filters (Whatman GF/F). Particulate organic carbon was measured with an elemental analyzer (CE Instruments), and particulate phosphorus was measured photometrically after sulfuric acid digestion followed by molybdate reaction.

We measured specific net primary production of all nine species over the same gradient of light intensities as used in the growth experiments. We quantified primary production with the oxygen method after 4 h of incubation (Wetzel and Likens 2003). The algae were precultured, and the measurements were conducted in the same phosphorusreduced growth medium as was used in the growth experiments. Again, each algal treatment (taxon × light intensity combination) was started at the same initial algal biovolume and replicated three times.

The data on biomass accrual (particulate organic carbon), phytoplankton C:P ratios, and specific net primary production were all analyzed with a nested 2-way analysis of covariance with incident radiation as a continuous treatment factor, algal motility as a categorical treatment factor, and species as a random factor nested within motility. All response variables and incident radiation were log transformed prior to statistical analyses.

To quantitatively describe the dependence of specific net primary production of each species on light intensity, we used nonlinear least square regressions to fit a modified Michaelis–Menten–type model to the data from the primary production assays:

$$sNPP = y_0 + \frac{(P_{max} \times \text{light intensity})}{(k_s + \text{light intensity})}$$
(1)

This allowed us to estimate light saturated specific photosynthetic rates (P_{max}), half-saturation constants (k_s), and basal respiration rates (y_0) for each species. In addition, the intercept of the fitted net photosynthesis curves with the x-axis was used to estimate the light intensity (light_{comp}) at which gross photosynthesis is sufficient to compensate for respiratory losses. As an additional measure of the costs of motility, we determined the ratio of specific respiration to maximal specific production (Harris 1978).

Results

Specific net primary production—Specific net primary production in the short-term incubations increased with light availability (Fig. 1; Table 1). Equation 1 gave excellent fits to the relationships between light intensity



Fig. 1. Specific net primary production (µg carbon assimilation per mg initial biomass [POC] per hour) of nonmotile species triangles; (A) Golenkinia brevispicula; (B) Monoraphidium sp.; (C) Scenedesmus sp.; (D) Staurastrum tetracerum; (E) Tetraedron minimum—and motile species—circles; (F) Carteria sp.; (G) Chlamydomonas sp.; (H) Haematococcus pluvialis; (I) Phacotus lenticularis as a function of incident radiation. (J) Mean values of motile (circles) and nonmotile (triangles) species with standard errors; note different y-axis scaling.

and specific net primary production of all nine species (R^2 \geq 0.97 and *p* < 0.0001 for all species except *Carteria*, where $R^2 = 0.71$ and p = 0.0006). There was no clear difference in the estimated half-saturation constants (k_s) between motility categories (flagellated vs. nonmotile species; Table 2). In contrast, there was a trend for lower maximum photosynthetic rates (P_{max}) and higher specific respiration rates in flagellated compared to nonmotile species (Table 2). While none of these trends was statistically significant, their combination yielded significant differences in primary production between flagellated and nonmotile taxa. In particular, flagellated species needed higher light intensities to balance respiratory losses (light_{comp}; Table 2) and had a higher ratio of respiration to P_{max} (Table 2), and their specific net primary production was on average lower over the entire range of light intensities compared to nonmotile species (Fig. 1J; Table 1).

Phytoplankton biomass and C: P ratios—In agreement with the short-term primary production essays, the biomasses of all flagellated and nonmotile taxa in the stationary phase increased with increasing light availability in the longer-term experiments, reaching maximum values close to 5 mg C L⁻¹ and about 3 mg C L⁻¹ for the most

productive nonmotile and flagellated species, respectively (Fig. 2; Table 1). The light levels at which different species reached their maximum biomasses ranged from 20 to 290 μ mol quanta m⁻² s⁻¹. On average, flagellated species attained lower biomasses than nonmotile species, the differences being small at light intensities $\leq 10 \mu$ mol quanta m⁻² s⁻¹ but rather large at light intensities of 20 μ mol quanta m⁻² s⁻¹ and above (Fig. 2J; motility × light interaction, Table 1).

Phytoplankton C: P ratios also increased with increasing light availability, with several species reaching molar ratios of up to 1200 at light intensities of 110 μ mol quanta m⁻² s⁻¹ and above (Fig. 3; Table 1). On average, nonmotile species tended to have higher C: P ratios than flagellated ones at all but the lowest light intensity (Fig. 3J; motility × light interaction, Table 1). Most of the variance in algal C: P ratios was, however, explained by species-specific differences within rather than between motility categories, suggesting that some species within each motility category have inherently low C: P ratios (e.g., *Tetraedron* sp., *Phacotus* sp., and *Carteria* sp.), while others attain inherently high C: P ratios (e.g., *Scanedesmus* sp., *Staurastrum* sp., and *Haematococcus pluvialis*) in high-light environments.

Table 1. Summary of nested analyses of covariance of the contributions of light availability, motility, and species (nested within motility) to the total variances in specific net primary production (sNPP), carbon biomass accrual (POC), and molar carbon-to-phosphorus ratios (C: P).

	sNPP			POC			C : P		
	SS	df	р	SS	df	р	SS	df	р
Light	12.86	1, 124	0.0001	3.63	1, 122	0.0001	3.58	1, 122	0.0001
Motility	3.82	1, 7	0.011	1.29	1. 7	0.175	0.33	1, 7	0.588
Motility \times light	0.15	1, 124	0.0001	0.39	1, 122	0.0001	0.13	1, 122	0.097
Species	2.26	7, 124	0.011	3.97	7, 122	0.0001	7.16	7, 122	0.0001

wit	an	
s (tile	
ate	not	
E.	DI I	
est) fc	
er	ors	
net	SIT	
rar	p	
pa	daı	
te	an	
ara	1 st	
ep	vitl	
e	S	
ar	ne	
U.M.	Val	
sho	ter	es.
	me	pec
÷	ara	e s]
Ĕ	c b	11 O
to	ge.	m
ng	ver	non
rdi	e a	d r
20	th	an
1 20	1 as	tile
tec	vel	no
Ē	AS A	-JC
ves	6	SS
Sur	8	alue
y	0.0	L V
Isit	VI	eter
nter	II P	III
.н П	(a	ara
ghi	fits	e p
T	uo	rag
esi	ssi	IVe
nth	gre	60
syn	: re	Li.
otc	the	du
hq	of	con
E	les	ts
fre	/alu	tes
ed	÷	5
nat	WI.	s o
stir	ies	lue
G	pec	-va
ters	h s	e p
me	cac	th
ara	DI (are
d	() f	E
etic	eses	NOL
th	th	ls c
SyI	rer	Also
oto	pa	S. 1
Ph	Е.	cie
	IOI.	spe
0	ler	le
ble	arc	oti
Ta	pu	nnn
	sta	no

	olenkinia sp.	Monora- phidium sp.	Scene- desnus sp.	Staura- strum sp.	Tetrae- dron sp.	nonmotile species	Carteria sp.	Chlamy- domonas sp.	Haemato- coccus sp.	Phacotus sp.	motile	mottle vs. nonmotile (p)
ight _{comp} (µmol	2.5	2.03	6.6	2.16	5.11	3.98	10.78	12.95	9.67	34.03	16.86	0.005
photons m-2 s-1)						(1.01)					(5.77)	
tespiration (µg C	8.06	7.48	19.55	3.94	9.40	69.6	5.29	18.05	19.9	21.43	16.17	0.25
mg $C_{init}^{-1}h^{-1}$)	(5.39)	(5.8)	(6.34)	(3.08)	(2.59)	(2.63)	(4.21)	(1.47)	(3.9)	(2.17)	(3.69)	
max (µg C mg 1	123.99	149.02	171.64	64.79	110.25	123.94	24.29	197.98	80.24	52.43	88.74	0.23
Cinit -1 h-1)	(5.59)	(6.3)	(8.43)	(3.11)	(3.74)	(18.15)	(4.47)	(6.36)	(3.81)	(2.82)	(38.16)	
, (umol photons	35.93	38.38	51.32	33.26	54.86	42.75	38.64	129.04	29.32	49.23	61.56	0.51
m ⁻² s ⁻¹)	(8.58)	(8.78)	(13.03)	(8.3)	(9.48)	(4.33)	(37.10)	(12.48)	(6.98)	(14.04)	(22.86)	
cespiration ×	0.07	0.05	0.11	0.06	0.09	0.08	0.22	0.09	0.25	0.41	0.24	0.031
$\dot{P}_{\rm max}^{-1}$						(0.01)					(0.07)	
							0.71	0 00				
$m^{-2} s^{-1}$) (espiration $\times P_{max}^{-1}$	(8.58) 0.07	(8.78) 0.05	(13.03) 0.11	(8.3) 0.06	(9.48) 0.09	(4.33) 0.08 (0.01)	(37.10) 0.22	(12.48) 0.09	0	5.98) 0.25	5.98) (14.04) 0.25 0.41	$\begin{array}{ccccc} 5.98 & (14.04) & (22.86) \\ 0.25 & 0.41 & 0.24 \\ 0.07) & (0.07) \end{array}$
							12.0	0.00				
		0000	200	100			1/ 0	000	10 C C	10 A 10		

Discussion

We had hypothesized that, compared to nonmotile algae, flagellated algal taxa should have higher metabolic rates and higher light requirements for growth, and, as a result, lower light-dependent specific production rates, carrying capacities, and C:P ratios. These expectations were largely fulfilled in our comparison of nonmotile and motile, flagellated green algae. While the trend for higher respiration rates of flagellated compared to nonmotile species was not statistically significant, flagellated taxa required a higher light intensity for positive net photosynthesis and attained lower photosynthetic rates at all levels of incident radiation than did nonmotile taxa. Indeed, our photosynthetic measurements corroborate earlier measurements (Harris 1978; Cushing 1989) showing that the ratio of specific respiration to maximal specific production is higher for motile than for nonmotile species.

Lower photosynthetic rates of flagellated taxa in shortterm incubations were subsequently reflected in lower steady-state biomasses and C:P ratios, the differences between flagellated and nonmotile taxa being most pronounced at the highest levels of incident radiation. Specific net primary production, for example, was negative for all flagellated taxa at the lowest incident radiation but positive for nonmotile taxa. Nevertheless, longer-term biomass accrual did not differ between flagellated and nonmotile taxa at the lowest incident radiation. This suggests that compensatory physiological and/or ecological adaptations (e.g., increased mixotrophic nutrition at low light levels) may have taken place over the course of the biomass accrual experiments. It also suggests that the most important costs of motility may be in terms of a reduced capacity to effectively use a higher light supply rather than in terms of a higher basic metabolism.

The primary production measurements suggest that, at least in the short term, flagellated species needed higher minimal light intensities to have a positive carbon balance (Table 2), indicating that actively motile species needed more energy to compensate for respiration losses. Our laboratory experiment was conducted in well-mixed vessels with limited volume. Thus, significant spatial heterogeneity in resource availability was absent from our experiment, and flagellated species could not take advantage of their ability to move. The lower biomasses attained by flagellated species compared to nonmotile species therefore point at the costs and disadvantages of this strategy in a spatially homogeneous environment. In turbulent pelagic environments, where directional movement is impossible, flagellated species would thus be expected to be inferior competitors. Conversely, flagellated species would be expected to be superior competitors in stably stratified environments, where the spatial separation of high-light and high-nutrient environments is often pronounced. A recent mesocosm experiment investigating the effects of turbulence and water column depth on phytoplankton community composition is in agreement with this hypothesis. Turbulent water columns were dominated by nonmotile species such as diatoms, whereas stratified water

- T



Fig. 2. Biomass, determined as particulate organic carbon at the end of the experiment (day 14), of (A–E) nonmotile (triangles) and (F–I) motile (circles) species (labeling as in Fig. 1) as a function of incident radiation. (J) Mean values of motile (circles) and nonmotile (triangles) species with standard errors; note different y-axis scaling.

columns were dominated by flagellated taxa (Jäger et al. 2008).

Nearly all flagellates use a combination of phototrophic and phagotrophic production (Raven 1997), suggesting that they might use mixotrophic nutrition as a means of gaining sufficient phosphorus for motility and growth in environments where dissolved phosphorus is scarce. Phosphorus is often several orders of magnitude more concentrated in the biomass of bacteria than in the water (Vadstein 2000). Mixotrophic algae that feed on bacteria could access this additional phosphorus source. In a study of the effect of mixotrophy on phytoplankton carbon to phosphorus stoichiometry, mixotrophic species showed indeed considerably lower C: P ratios than purely autotrophic algae (Katechakis et al. 2005). The mixotrophic species studied by Katechakis et al. (2005) were all flagellated, while the autotrophs were all nonmotile. Thus, the question remains whether lower C:P ratios of flagellates are a consequence of motility, mixotrophic nutrition, or both. Our data suggest that motility per se may not be sufficient to explain the generally lower C:P ratios of flagellates since we found substantial variation among species within motility categories, indicating that other traits in addition to motility contribute to species-specific responses. Therefore, future research should examine the amount of mixotrophic nutrition within motile phytoplankton species and the contribution of mixotrophy and motility to phytoplankton biomass stoichiometry.

While experimental manipulations of light and phosphorus availability have frequently resulted in strong



Fig. 3. Molar carbon-to-phosphorus ratios at the end of the experiment (day 14) of (A–E) nonmotile (triangles) and (F–I) motile (circles) species (labeling as in Fig. 1) as a function of incident radiation. (J) Mean values of motile (circles) and nonmotile (triangles) species with standard errors; note different y-axis scaling.

effects on the carbon-to-phosphorus stoichiometry of phytoplankton biomass (Urabe et al. 2002; Diehl et al. 2005; Striebel et al. 2008), sometimes such manipulations may induce only weak stoichiometric responses. On the basis of our data, we suggest that the relative contribution to total phytoplankton biomass by taxa with highly flexible C: P ratios (such as nonmotile green algae) vs. taxa with limited stoichiometric flexibility (such as flagellates) can explain some of the variation in phytoplankton stoichiometric responses to variations in light and nutrient supply. In line with this, Jäger et al. (2008) observed that variation in algal C:P ratios among mesocosms differing in water column depth (and thus in ratios of light to phosphorus supply) was considerably lower in stratified water columns with a high proportion of motile algae than in turbulently mixed water columns dominated by nonmotile taxa.

Shifts in biomass composition of phytoplankton communities may have consequences beyond phytoplankton ecophysiology. Phytoplankton-zooplankton interactions can be strongly influenced by phytoplankton stoichiometry (Sterner and Hessen 1994; Andersen et al. 2004; Diehl 2007). Fast-growing herbivorous zooplankton species, such as Daphnia, have high demands for phosphorus and therefore exhibit relatively low biomass C:P ratios. Consequently, low biomass C:P ratios and the absence of distinct cell walls can result in high assimilation efficiencies of actively motile phytoplankton taxa when grazed by Daphnia (Katechakis et al. 2005). The proportion of motile species within phytoplankton communities may therefore influence the transfer efficiency between phytoplankton and fast-growing zooplankton and thus potentially strongly affect pelagic ecosystem dynamics. Studies manipulating the proportion of motile species in phytoplankton communities grazed by Daphnia are needed to investigate this possible link between the functional composition of phytoplankton communities and herbivorous zooplankton dynamics.

Acknowledgments

We thank Margit Feißel and Angelika Wild for technical support during the experiments and John Albert Raven and two anonymous reviewers for helpful comments on this manuscript. This study was supported by funding from Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (STI 180/2-1, DI 745/2-4).

References

- ANDERSEN, T., J. J. ELSER, AND D. O. HESSEN. 2004. Stoichiometry and population dynamics. Ecol. Lett. 7: 884–900.
- BERGER, S. A., S. DIEHL, T. J. KUNZ, D. ALBRECHT, A. M. OUCIBLE, AND S. RITZER. 2006. Light supply, plankton biomass, and seston stoichiometry in a gradient of lake mixing depths. Limnol. Oceanogr. 51: 1898–1905.
- CRAWFORD, D. W. 1992. Metabolic cost of motility in planktonic protests-theoretical considerations on size scaling and swimming speed. Microbial Ecol. 24: 1–10.
- CUSHING, D. H. 1989. A difference in structure between ecosystems in strongly stratified waters and in those that are only weakly stratified. J. Plankton Res. 11: 1–13.

- DIEHL, S. 2007. Paradoxes of enrichment: Effects of increased light versus nutrient supply on pelagic producergrazer systems. Am. Nat. 169: E173–E191, doi: 10.1086/ 516655.
- —, S. BERGER, AND R. WOHRL. 2005. Flexible nutrient stoichiometry mediates environmental influences, on phytoplankton and its resources. Ecology 86: 2931–2945.
- EPP, R. W., AND W. M. LEWIS. JR. 1984. Cost and speed of locomotion for rotifers. Oecologia 61: 289–292.
- GUILLARD, R. R., AND C. J. LORENZEN. 1972. Yellow-green algae with chlorophyllide c. J. Phycol. 8: 10–14.
- HARRIS, G. P. 1978. Photosynthesis, productivity and growth: The physiological ecology of phytoplankton. Arch. Hydrobiol. Berl. Ergebn. Limnol. 10: 1–171.
- HUISMAN, J., J. SHARPLES, J. M. STROOM, P. M. VISSER, W. E. A. KARDINAAL, J. M. H. VERSPAGEN, AND B. SOMMEIJER. 2004. Changes in turbulent mixing shift competition for light between phytoplankton species. Ecology 85: 2960–2970.
- , N. N. P. THI, D. M. KARL, AND B. SOMMEUER. 2006. Reduced mixing generates oscillations and chaos in the oceanic deep chlorophyll maximum. Nature 438: 322– 325.
- JÄGER, C. G., S. DIEHL, AND G. M. SCHMIDT. 2008. Influence of water depth and mixing intensity on phytoplankton biomass and functional community composition. Limnol. Oceanogr. 53: 2361–2373.
- JONES, K. J., AND R. J. GOWEN. 1990. Influence of stratification and irradiance regime on summer phytoplankton composition in coastal and shelf seas of the British-isles. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 30: 557–567.
- JONES, R. I. 1993. Phytoplankton migrations: Patterns, processes and profits. Arch. Hydrobiol. Beih. Ergebn. Limnol. 39: 67–77.
- KATECHAKIS, A., T. HASENEDER, R. KLING, AND H. STIBOR. 2005. Mixotrophic versus photoautotrophic specialist algae as food for zooplankton: The light:nutrient hypothesis might not hold for mixotrophs. Limnol. Oceanogr. 50: 1290–1299.
- KLAUSMEIER, C. A., AND E. LITCHMAN. 2001. Algal games: The vertical distribution of phytoplankton in poorly mixed water columns. Limnol. Oceanogr. 46: 1998–2007.
- OLLI, K. 1999. Diel vertical migration of phytoplankton and heterotrophic flagellates in the Gulf of Riga. J. Mar. Syst. 23: 145–163.
- RALSTON, D. K., D. J. MCGILLICUDDY, AND D. W. TOWNSEND. 2007. Asynchronous vertical migration and bimodal distribution of motile phytoplankton. J. Plankton Res. 29: 803–821.
- RAVEN, J. A. 1997. Phagotrophy in phototrophs. Limnol. Oceanogr. 42: 198–205.
- —, AND K. RICHARDSON. 1984. Dinophyte flagella: A costbenefit analysis. New. Phytol. 98: 259–276.
- REYNOLDS, C. S., S. W. WISEMAN, B. M. GODFREY, AND C. BUTTERWICK. 1983. Some effects of artificial mixing on the dynamics of phytoplankton populations in large limnetic enclosures. J. Plankton Res. 5: 203–234.
- STERNER, R. W., J. J. ELSER, E. J. FEE, S. J. GUILDFORD, AND T. H. CHRZANOWSKI. 1997. The light:nutrient ratio in lakes: The balance of energy and materials affects ecosystem structure and process. Am. Nat. 150: 663–684.
- —, AND D. O. HESSEN. 1994. Algal nutrient limitation and the nutrition of aquatic herbivores. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 25: 1–29.
- STRIEBEL, M., G. SPÖRL, AND H. STIBOR. 2008. Light-induced changes of plankton growth and stoichiometry: Experiments with natural phytoplankton communities. Limnol. Oceanogr. 53: 513–522.

1752

Striebel et al.

- URABE, J., M. KYLE, W. MAKINO, T. YOSHIDA, T. ANDERSEN, AND J. J. ELSER. 2002. Reduced light increases herbivore production due to stoichiometric effects of light/nutrient balance. Ecology 83: 619–627.
- —, AND R. W. STERNER. 1996. Regulation of herbivore growth by the balance of light and nutrients. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93: 8465–8469.
- VADSTEIN, O. 2000. Heterotrophic, planktonic bacteria and cycling of phosphorus—phosphorus requirements, competitive ability, and food web interactions. Adv. Microb. Ecol. 16: 115–167.
- WETZEL, R. G., AND G. E. LIKENS. 2003. Limnological analyses, 3rd ed. Springer-Verlag.

Associate editor: John Albert Raven

Received: 11 February 2009 Accepted: 21 May 2009 Amended: 02 June 2009

6 Discussion of methods

The studies presented in the papers I - IV have shown that strong effects on the pelagic ecosystem can arise from zooplankton DVM and that effects of migrating phytoplankton species on individual stoichiometry can be examined. Preceding the general discussion of the results, I will discuss why, despite the indisputable effects of plankton vertical migrations, there is only a small number of studies dealing with those migration effects and how I dealt with the problems that arise from studying effects of plankton vertical migrations.

6.1 Studying zooplankton DVM – problems and consequences

It is very surprising that the consequences of large plankton mass movements on pelagic ecosystem dynamics have not been well studied, even though reasons of zooplankton migrations and related costs for zooplankton species are well understood (Zaret and Suffern 1976, Stich and Lampert 1981, Ringelberg1991, Loose 1993, Lass et al. 2000, Reichwaldt et al. 2004). Although phytoplankton are very important to global carbon dynamics (Geider et al. 2001) and are the basis of freshwater and marine food webs, the consequences of zooplankton DVM for phytoplankton dynamics have received astonishingly little detailed study. A reason may be the difficulties in inducing, regulating and controlling migration behavior in experiments.

Predation is considered one of the most important causes of DVM (Zaret and Suffern 1976) and has also proven to induce DVM under a changing light regime in mesocosm studies (Loose et al. 1993, own study on the upward phosphorus transport by zooplankton DVM paper I). However, stocking experimental setups with predatory fish is associated with uncertainties because excreted nutrients by fish can also affect phytoplankton dynamics (Schindler 1992, Vanni and Layne 1997, Attayde and Hansson 1999). Using only the chemical signals released by fish, the kairomones would be an elegant solution to overcome those hindrances. However, it is not practicable to induce DVM behavior by using kairomones alone, because the chemical structure of the kairomones is not well known.

6.2 Experimental setup – field mesocosm studies

In my studies on the effects of zooplankton DVM on natural lake phytoplankton communities, I used an innovative new technique of using mesh cages in enclosure systems, that was developed in the group I was working in, to artificially induce zooplankton DVM. The experimental setup was first described by Reichwaldt and Stibor (2005) and gave me full control of *Daphnia* DVM with no significant artificial impact of "migration" and "non-migration" treatments on any of the reported parameters in my studies. Therefore, I was able to investigate the consequences of DVM for phytoplankton growth, composition and dynamics in natural lake communities while avoiding experimental artefacts arising from using fish.

Another important aspect of zooplankton DVM in temperate regions is the decreasing water temperature with depth. The main aim of my studies with natural lake phytoplankton communities was to determine if Daphnia DVM can create a grazer-free refuge for phytoplankton species. However, it is difficult to assess the consequences of such a refuge effect of zooplankton DVM on phytoplankton because depth and temperature can normally not be separated in temperate pelagic environments. Migrating zooplankton populations experience lower temperatures in the hypolimnion, leading to slower individual growth, which would result in decreased zooplankton densities compared to non-migrating populations (assuming that mortality by predators is absent, as it was the case in my enclosure systems). Thus, the refuge effect of DVM on phytoplankton cannot be examined separately from the temperature effect, which also causes a decrease in zooplankton populations and diminished grazing. Reichwaldt and Stibor (2005) showed the drastic impact of a fluctuating temperature regime experienced by migrating Daphnia on their population growth, which resulted in a significant lower Daphnia abundance in migrating populations. However, such temperature related costs and effects of DVM were not part of my study.

The strong temperature effects in the study by Reichwaldt and Stibor (2005) impressively showed that for an understanding of zooplankton DVM effects on phytoplankton, it is important to separate refuge effects from temperature effects. Therefore, I excluded the temperature factor by surrounding the mesocosms with a fully mixed water bath to prevent vertical temperature gradients. This method allowed me to investigate the refuge effect of DVM on natural phytoplankton communities without significant differences in the temperatures experienced by zooplankton

migrating between the hypolimnion and epilimnion. As a result, *Daphnia* densities did not differ between "migration" and "non-migration" treatments.

6.3 Experimental setup – laboratory mesocosm studies

As mentioned above, it is also possible to work with predatory fish in enclosures to induce zooplankton DVM. However, this approach has several restrictions. These restrictions are mainly related to the nutrient excretions of enclosed fish that can additionally affect phytoplankton growth and mask or promote the effects of migrating zooplankton. It is difficult to distinguish the effects of DVM on phytoplankton from the effects of fish nutrient excretions on phytoplankton. The use of fish to induce zooplankton DVM was therefore restricted to experiments where nutrients are strictly controlled, as was the case in my study in the well controlled laboratory "plankton towers" at the former Max-Planck-Institute for Limnology in Plön, Germany, now Max-Planck-Institute for Evolutionary Biology (paper I).

Nutrient measurements, especially analyses of phosphorus dynamics, are difficult to perform in DVM studies, because it is impossible to distinguish phosphorus originating from the hypolimnion and epilimnion. Additionally, the concentrations of phosphorus during migration may be too small to be analyzed by classical photometric techniques. The detection limit for dissolved phosphorus using photometric methods is far above levels that are relevant for biological dynamics such as primary production or bacterial growth (Vadstein 2000). The use of radioactive tracers provides an elegant solution to overcome both hindrances. My setup with stocking ³³P labeled algae in the hypolimnion enabled a differentiation between phosphorus from the epi- and hypolimnion, combined with a high resolution of the transported phosphorus.

6.4 Experimental setup – laboratory microcosm studies

Phytoplankton can also perform vertical migrations, and species showing such behavior have to be motile. In my study regarding phytoplankton migrations I investigated the energetic costs, phosphorus requirements, and structural carbon requirements of motile and non-motile phytoplankton taxa. To investigate these parameters, I performed microcosm laboratory experiments with four flagellated and five non-motile phytoplankton species. These laboratory experiments were conducted in vessels with limited volume, where mobile species had no possibility to profit from their ability to move and all samples received the same amount of the limiting nutrient, phosphorus. For this reason, motile and non-motile species had the same general conditions, which was important to point out advantages, disadvantages and costs of both strategies.

7 General discussion of results

According to a recent review by Vellend (2010), community ecology is often perceived as a confusion. The seemingly endless number of processes that can underlie the investigated patterns and the apparent uniqueness of each study system accounts for that. For example, Palmer (1994) already identified 120 different hypotheses to explain the maintenance of species diversity. Adding real organisms to simple Lotka – Volterra formulations of interactions between two species can result easily in more than 2000 different model solutions (Vellend 2010). Therefore, Vellend (2010) recommended using only four classes of processes: selection, drift, speciation and dispersal to understand community dynamics.

Ecology studies mainly assume ecological interactions in fixed habitat space but seldom consider interactions that regularly vary between different habitats. The movement of organisms across space, or dispersal, is usually considered from a biogeography point of view. The influence of habitat selection on community dynamics is hardly addressed in experimental studies investigating ecosystem processes. However, habitat selection behavior is an important part of predator avoidance behavior of many organisms. The actual expression of this behavior is thereby often explained as the result of a trade off between avoiding predators and gaining resources. Vertical migration of organisms in the pelagic zone is a characteristic example of this trade off.

Decaestecker et al. (2002) stated: "In the face of antagonistic interactions, habitat selection strategies in time and space are essential for the survival of many organisms." Many studies on predation have documented the ecological costs of antipredatory habitat selection behavior, such as reduced food intake, reduced competitive strength, and increased susceptibility to predation by a different kind of predator (Orcutt and Porter 1983, Loose and Dawidowicz 1994, Tollrian and Harvel 1999, Lass et al. 2000).

In pelagic ecosystems no clear habitat structure exists, with the exception of vertical light attenuation. Hiding is only possible in deeper and therefore darker water. Additionally, light clearly separates the water column in two habitats: one with enough

light for photosynthesis and one without. Inorganic nutrients, such as nitrogen or phosphorus, are the second factor that changes with depth. In aquatic environments light and nutrients are not distributed as in terrestrial ecosystems, but clearly show opposite trends that light decreases with depth, whereas nutrients increase with depth (Diehl 2002), which separates the water column in different habitats. Migrations of plankton in pelagic water columns must therefore be viewed from this perspective considering the clear separation of light and nutrients in space.

7.1 Predator avoidance migrations

Migrations can occur regularly between habitats of different environmental conditions. This is the case with large herbivorous zooplankton species, which make a habitat shift twice daily between the epi- and hypolimnion. In this context, I studied the effects of zooplankton DVM on ecosystem dynamics.

DVM of zooplankton can act as a nutrient vector in the water column; nutrient availability for the phytoplankton community in the epilimnion can be influenced by DVM. I was able to show that *Daphnia* DVM can cause a measurable upward phosphorus transport (paper I). Furthermore, the amount of phosphorus transported and released by *Daphnia* was within a biologically meaningful range. Therefore, nutrient transport by *Daphnia* DVM could be a significant mechanism in fuelling primary production in the nutrient limited epilimnion.

Although the upward flux of phosphorus by zooplankton DVM may be low compared to other processes influencing phosphorus dynamics in the epilimnion, it is a regular and most probably the only internal nutrient supply during periods of stratification. The phosphorus transported by DVM may comprise a substantial phosphorus source for primary production. Phosphorus concentration is often extremely low within the epilimnion of stratified lakes due to a constant gravity-driven flux of phosphorus bound in particles from the epilimnion to the benthos. Therefore, any new input of phosphorus will be immediately translated into an increase in primary production (Schindler 1987).

DVM of zooplankton can also be a significant vector in the mortality and growth for the phytoplankton community. My studies suggest that DVM of zooplankton had significant effects on quantitative and qualitative characteristics of the phytoplankton community. DVM also influenced the diversity of the phytoplankton community, which was higher in

those treatments with migrating *Daphnia*. Nutrient availability (Interlandi and Kilham 2001) and grazing (e.g. Leibold 1996, Sarnelle 2005) can influence phytoplankton diversity. My results show for the first time that phytoplankton diversity is not only influenced by the abundance and grazing characteristics of herbivores but also by predator induced herbivorous behavior.

On the other hand, my results show that under nutrient-limited conditions, phytoplankton species could even profit from permanent grazing by zooplankton (Sommer 1994). Under certain conditions the positive effects of grazing, mediated by nutrient recycling, can be just as influential on algal growth as the negative impact of grazing-dependent mortality. Therefore, trophic cascades are often difficult to detect by investigating whole trophic-level responses, represented by bulk parameters, such as chlorophyll-*a* or particulate organic carbon.

The strong impact of *Daphnia* DVM on a single algal species (*Planktosphaeria gelatinosa*) in my study (paper II) shows that the effects of DVM are highly species-specific. This means that general predictions about how DVM influences phytoplankton dynamics are not possible using only bulk parameters to characterize phytoplankton abundance. Instead, species-specific responses of individual algal species to zooplankton DVM may determine total phytoplankton community patterns. Different phytoplankton species compositions, different degrees of nutrient limitation strength, and differences in zooplankton grazing all influence how DVM on differently size structured communities.

The results in the study with size manipulated phytoplankton communities (paper III) showed that zooplankton DVM affected phytoplankton growth and nutrient recycling differently, depending on phytoplankton size structure. A comparison of *Daphnia* "migration" and "no migration" treatments showed that total phytoplankton abundance and nutrient availability was higher in "no migration" treatments of communities with mainly small algae, whereas it was higher in "migration" treatments of communities with a wider size range of algae. Also the size structure of the two communities was influenced differently by DVM.

The results provide evidence that the direction and strength of trait mediated effects depend on the dominance or evenness of functional traits within a community. If functional traits such as body size determine the flow of energy and matter within trophic cascades, the distribution of these functional traits will also influence the strength and the direction of cascade flows. My results also show that a regular migration of grazers between habitats with high and low or with no primary production has consequences for the structure and the dynamics of the primary producer community in the epilimnion. Additionally, the results indicate that zooplankton migration can change the phytoplankton community composition and its growth through several mechanisms. In summary, zooplankton migration affects pelagic ecosystems not only by a single trait mediated effect but also by a combination of mechanisms related to both the biomass composition and the activity of migrating animals.

7.2 Migrations to optimize resource uptake

As it is the case in many motile phytoplankton species, migrations can also be motivated by optimization of resource uptake within the water column. These migrations are characterized by a steady habitat shift along light and nutrient gradients within the water column.

Most of the phytoflagellates use a combination of phototrophy and phagotrophy (Raven 1997), which suggests that this mixotrophy is an important additional phosphorus source for motility and growth, especially in environments where phosphorus is scarce and nutrient transport and/or recycling by *Daphnia* is low or absent. Phosphorus is often several orders of magnitude more concentrated in the biomass of bacteria than in the water (Vadstein 2000). Mixotrophic algae that feed on bacteria could access this additional phosphorus source. Therefore, mixotrophic algae are known to show lower C: P ratios than autotrophic ones.

My results in the study about the carbon sequestration and stoichiometry of motile and non-motile algae (paper IV) point at significant costs of motility, which may explain why flagellated taxa are often outcompeted by non-motile taxa in turbulently mixed environments where active motility is of little use. But there was also a tendency for algal C: P ratios to be lower in flagellated than in non-motile taxa. The shifts in biomass composition of phytoplankton could have consequences beyond phytoplankton ecophysiology. Fast-growing herbivorous zooplankton species, like *Daphnia* sp., have a high demand for phosphorus and therefore low inherent C: P ratios. Therefore, the

low biomass C: P ratios and the easily digestible cell walls of active motile taxa can result in high assimilation efficiency when grazed upon by zooplankton (Katechakis et al. 2005). Thus, the proportion of motile, migrating species within phytoplankton communities can strongly influence the transfer efficiency between phytoplankton and zooplankton, which could have consequences for ecosystem dynamics.

7.3 Resume

In summary, my results indicate that migration behavior must not only be viewed from the perspective that organisms move across space and therefore change the community composition of different habitats. The migrating organisms also act as a vector transporting energy, organic matter and "ecological interactions" determined by the organisms' activity and characterized by their life history. Aquatic pelagic ecosystems, including phytoplankton, zooplankton and predators, have a long evolutionary history and are most likely among the longest existing communities consisting of multicellular organisms on earth. Migration between habitats must therefore have had a clear evolutionary imprint on pelagic ecosystem dynamics. Still, the question remains how strongly existing pelagic ecological dynamics have been shaped by migrations of organisms within water columns.

8 Outlook

8.1 Zooplankton DVM effects on a global scale

Zooplankton DVM behavior has been described in all marine environments, from polar to tropical regions (Hays 2003). While cladocerans are the most important migrating zooplankton species in freshwater ecosystems, copepods are the dominate zooplankton species performing DVM in marine ecosystems and copepods are possibly the most common animal species in the world (Humes 1994). Marine phytoplankton are responsible for 50 % of global primary production, and indeed marine primary production strongly influences the composition of the atmosphere and major global nutrient and element fluxes (Falkowski and Raven 2007). In addition to being the basis of marine food webs, phytoplankton are also the basis of global fish production, which is the main food source for a large part of human population.

Due to the importance of marine zoo- and phytoplankton, the potential effects of DVM on marine pelagic ecosystems can have global impacts. There is no reason to doubt that the basic mechanisms observed in my studies on how DVM influences freshwater ecosystems effects are also valid for marine ecosystems. Although mesocosm experiments in marine environments are often difficult and expensive to maintain, it is important to study DVM effects on marine phytoplankton and marine nutrient fluxes under natural conditions. The next step in DVM research should be the study DVM effects on marine pelagic ecosystems.

Additionally, DVM is extremely important for distributing particulate organic matter (POM) in the ocean. Small, slow sinking particles are concentrated by detrivores, such as copepods, into larger fecal pellets (Smetacek 1980). These fecal pellets sink very rapidly into the ocean and represent the main faction of sinking POM. This organic matter transfer is fostered by vertical migrating organisms, which feed at night in the epilimnion and migrate down at dawn and release their fecal pellets in the hypolimnion. The POM in these pellets act as a basal resource in the benthic zone of the ocean. DVM can therefore be seen as one of the most important biomass vectors in the ocean, with significant consequences for deep sea ecosystems.

8.2 Research with other zooplankton groups

Zooplankton DVM research in marine ecosystems also raises the questions whether DVM effects on phytoplankton are related to zooplankton taxonomy. As mentioned above, cladocerans represent the most important zooplankton species in freshwater ecosystems, and copepods are the dominating zooplankton in marine ecosystems (Humes 1994). Although both groups perform DVM, their impacts on the phytoplankton community differ. This is mainly due to differing feeding strategies and differing elemental growth demands of both mesozooplankton groups.

Herbivorous cladocerans feed as unselective grazers with a food spectrum only limited by the mesh size of the filtration apparatus (Geller and Müller 1981), whereas copepods are active predators (Fryer 1957), selecting their prey, which mainly consists of algae. Therefore, only little overlap in the food spectrum of both groups exists: cladocerans mainly feed on small algal species and copepods, in most cases, on larger algae. This different size selectivity can have diverse effects on phytoplankton community composition (Sommer et al. 2001). Sommer et al. (2001) tested these theories and could demonstrate the consequences of the different feeding behavior of both zooplankton groups in experiments. Additionally, the food spectrum of cladocerans and copepods in their study showed no overlap, and the effects of both zooplankton groups on the phytoplankton were completely contrary.

My results showed that the altered grazing pattern of migrating zooplankton species is one of the most important mechanisms of how zooplankton DVM influences phytoplankton dynamics. Therefore, the feeding strategy (grazer vs. predator) of the migrating species could have additional, yet completely unknown consequences.

Besides the altered feeding pattern, nutrient recycling and transportation was an important mechanism of how zooplankton DVM can influence the pelagic ecosystem. Hence, copepods and cladocerans differ not only in their feeding behavior, but also in their nutrient recycling. Cladocerans excrete diffuse fecal material (Boersma and Wiltshire 2006), which is quickly dissolved in the water so that the nutrients are available in the epilimnion. Copepods produce compact and solid "fecal pellets" (Smetacek 1980) that tend to quickly sink. Therefore, the nutrients bound in fecal pellets are unavailable to the epilimnion. A DVM based upward nutrient transport caused by migrating copepods, as demonstrated in my studies with the cladoceran

Another important difference in the comparison of copepod and cladoceran DVM consequences for pelagic ecosystems may arise from the different biomass stoichiometry of copepods and cladocerans. Both groups differ in their biomass carbon to phosphorus (C: P) and carbon to nitrogen (C: N) ratios. These differences also influence the elemental composition of the feces and subsequently the nutrient recycling of both groups. In general, fast growing cladocerans have a high P demand resulting in low biomass C: P ratios, whereas copepods exhibit low biomass C: N ratios, therefore, in relative terms, cladocerans recycle more N, whereas copepods recycle more P (Sommer and Stibor 2002). The biomass C: P and C: N ratios of phytoplankton in the epi- and hypolimnion of a stratified water column could additionally influence the different nutrient recycling of cladocerans and copepods during DVM.

In summary, different feeding behaviors, nutrient recycling and stoichiometric needs of copepods and cladocerans could affect phytoplankton dynamics in different ways. This has already been shown in experiments; however, these experiments did not involve zooplankton DVM. Future experimental studies investigating these contrary effects of copepods and cladocerans under DVM conditions are needed to unravel the conspicuous effects of both zooplankton groups in natural pelagic ecosystems were DVM is nearly always present.

8.3 Research with migrating phytoplankton

Studies manipulating the proportion of motile species in phytoplankton communities grazed upon by *Daphnia* are needed to investigate this possible link between the functional composition of phytoplankton communities and herbivorous zooplankton dynamics. The differing biomass stoichiometry of mobile and non-motile species may influence the transfer efficiency between phytoplankton and zooplankton. Low phytoplankton C: P ratios are seen as a high food quality for cladocerans and herbivorous zooplankton species may therefore follow migrating phytoplankton species because of their lower C: P ratios.

The question remains whether the observed lower biomass C: P ratios of flagellates are a consequence of motility, mixotrophic nutrition, or both (Katechakis et al. 2005).

My data suggest that motility per se may not be sufficient to explain the lower C: P ratios of flagellates, since we found substantial variation among species within motility categories, indicating that other traits in addition to motility contribute to species-specific responses. Additionally, estimates of phytoplankton DVM across different lakes are completely missing. Future research should bridge the gap between phytoplankton mobility and phytoplankton migrations to optimize resource uptake of light and nutrients and zooplankton performance.

8.4 Methodological improvements in studying zooplankton DVM effects

My experimental studies made clear that the effects of zooplankton DVM on phytoplankton (caused by nutrient transport, refuge effects or induced phytoplankton migration behavior) are in a range that is detectable and measurable. However, the experimental study and analysis of the effects of zooplankton DVM, by inducing DVM without the kairomones, is very laborious due to the necessity for large and sophisticated experimental setups with a high number of controls to test for experimental cage effects. Therefore, only strong effects of DVM are likely to be found by such experiments, even if a high number of replicates are included into the experimental design. With these experimental restrictions minor effects of zooplankton DVM are unlikely to be found.

The use of fish kairomones for inducing zooplankton DVM would allow easier and more detailed experiments. Unfortunately, the chemical structure of the kairomones is not yet known in detail, although there are some first results suggesting some molecules (Akkas et al. 2010, Bentkowski et al. 2010). The large mesh cages I used in my field experiments ensured a full control over zooplankton DVM but are accompanied by the risk of artefacts. Inducing DVM by fish kairomones would allow to ability to carry out more precise experiments under more natural conditions without the nutrient input by fish. Even whole lake experiments based on complete new research questions regarding effects of DVM would be possible, e.g. inducing DVM in naturally fish-free lakes or the comparison of DVM effects between fish-free lakes and lakes with fish. Additionally, it would be possible to induce DVM in seasons when normally no DVM studies and give new insights into mechanistic aspects of pelagic ecosystem functioning.

8.5 Modelling the effects of migrations on pelagic ecosystems

The results of my studies can be used to improve existing models regarding effects of migrating zoo- and phytoplankton on pelagic ecosystem functioning. One advantage of modeling plankton migrations is the possibility of manipulating time. Experimental studies (such as the mesocosm experiments in my studies) are often limited to a time span of a couple of weeks, due to an increase of experimental structure effects , e.g. extensive growth of algae at the enclosure walls, whereas theoretical models can easily cover longer time spans, e.g. a complete succession period between spring and fall circulations. Additionally, models can include more environmental variation and conditions than experiments can. Therefore, models can help construct a framework of possible theoretical effects of migrating plankton on pelagic ecosystem functioning. My experiments can provide initial data in helping to parameterize such models.

References

- Akkas, S. B., Kepenek, A. O., Beklioglu, M. and Severcan, F. (2010) Molecular approach to the chemical characterization of fish-exuded kairomone: a fourier transform infrared spectroscopic study. *Aquatic Sciences*, **72**, 71-83.
- Arvola, L., Ojala, A., Barbosa, F. and Heaney, S. I. (1991) Migration behaviour of 3 cryptophytes in relation to environmental gradients - an experimental approach. *British Phycological Journal*, **26**, 361-373.
- Attayde, J. L. and Hansson, L. A. (1999) Effects of nutrient recycling by zooplankton and fish on phytoplankton communities. *Oecologia*, **121**, 47-54.
- Becker, C. and Boersma, M. (2003) Resource quality effects on life histories of Daphnia. Limnology and Oceanography, **48**, 700-706.
- Bentkowski, P., Markowska, M. and Pijanowska, J. (2010) Role of melatonin in the control of depth distribution of *Daphnia magna*. *Hydrobiologia*, **643**, 43-50.
- Berman, T. and Rodhe, T. (1971) Distribution and migration of Peridinium in Lake Kinneret. *Mitteilungen. Internationale Vereinigung für theoretische und angewandte Limnologie*, **19**, 266-276.
- Blanc, H. (1898) Le plankton nocturne du lac Léman. Archives des Sciences physiques et naturelles, 6, 182.
- Blasco, D. (1978) Observations on diel migration of marine dinoflagellates off the Baja California coast. *Marine Biology*, **46**, 41-47.
- Boersma, M. (2000) The nutritional quality of p-limited algae for *Daphnia*. *Limnology and Oceanography*, **45**, 1157-1161.
- Boersma, M. and Wiltshire, K. H. (2006) Gut passage of phosphorus-limited algae through *Daphnia*: do they take up nutrients in the process? *Archiv für Hydrobiologie*, **167**, 489-500.
- Bormans, M., Sherman, B. S. and Webster, I. T. (1999) Is buoyancy regulation in cyanobacteria an adaptation to exploit separation of light and nutrients? *Marine and Freshwater Research*, **50**, 897-906.
- Bottrell, H. H. (1975) Relationship between temperature and duration of egg development in some epiphytic cladocera from River Thames, Reading, with discussion of temperature functions. *Oecologia*, **18**, 63-84.

- Cowles, R. P. and Brambel, C. E. (1936) A study of the environmental conditions in a bog pond with special referenc to the diurnal vertical distribution of *Gonyostomum semen. Biological Bulletin*, **71**, 286-298.
- Cushing, D. H. (1951) The vertical migration of planktonic crustacea. *Biological Reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society*, **26**, 158-192.
- Dawidowicz, P., Pijanowska, J. and Ciechomski, K. (1990) Vertical migration of chaoborus larvae is induced by the presence of fish. *Limnology and Oceanography*, **35**, 1631-1637.
- Decaestecker, E., De Meester, L. and Ebert, D. (2002) In deep trouble: habitat selection constrained by multiple enemies in zooplankton. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **99**, 5481-5485.
- Dice, L. R. (1914) The factors determining the vertical movement of *Daphnia*. *Journal* of *Animal Behavior*, **4**, 229-265.
- Diehl, S. (2002) Phytoplankton, light, and nutrients in a gradient of mixing depths: Theory. *Ecology*, **83**, 386-398.
- Dini, M. L. and Carpenter, S. R. (1988) Variability in *Daphnia* behavior following fish community manipulations. *Journal of Plankton Research*, **10**, 621-635.
- Dini, M. L., Odonnell, J., Carpenter, S. R., Elser, M. M., Elser, J. J. and Bergquist, A. M. (1987) *Daphnia* size structure, vertical migration, and phosphorus redistribution. *Hydrobiologia*, **150**, 185-191.
- Enright, J. T. and Hamner, W. M. (1967) Vertical diurnal migration and endogenous rhythmicity. *Science*, **157**, 937-941.
- Eppley, R. W., Holm-Hansen, O. and Strickland, J. D. H. (1968) Some observations on vertical migration of dinoflagellates. *Journal of Phycology*, **4**, 333-340.
- Falkowski, P. G. and Raven, J. A. (2007) *Aquatic photosynthesis*. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- Fogg, G. E. and Walsby, A. E. (1971) Buoyancy regulation and the growth of planktonic blue-green algae. *Mitteilungen der Internationalen Vereinigung für Limnologie*, **19**, 182-188.
- Forel, F. A. (1877) Faune profonde du Léman xxxii. Faune pélagique. *Bulletin de la Société Vaudoise des sciences naturelles*, **14**, 210-223.
- Forel, F. A. (1878) Faunistische Studien in den Süßwasserseen der Schweiz. Zeitschrift Wissenschaftliche Zoologie, **30**, 383-391.

Francé, R. H. (1894) Zur Biologie des Planktons. *Biologisches Zentralblatt*, **14**, 33-38.

- Frempong, E. (1984) A seasonal sequence of diel distribution patterns for the planktonic dinoflagellate *Ceratium hirundinella* in a eutrophic lake. *Freshwater Biology*, **14**, 401-421.
- Fryer, G. (1957) The food of some fresh-water cyclopoid copepods and its ecological significance. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **26**, 263-286.
- Geider, R. J., Delucia, E. H., Falkowski, P. G., Finzi, A. C., Grime, J. P., Grace, J., Kana, T. M., La Roche, J., Long, S. P., Osborne, B. A., Platt, T., Prentice, I. C., Raven, J. A., Schlesinger, W. H., Smetacek, V., Stuart, V., Sathyendranath, S., Thomas, R. B., Vogelmann, T. C., Williams, P. and Woodward, F. I. (2001) Primary productivity of planet earth: biological determinants and physical constraints in terrestrial and aquatic habitats. *Global Change Biology*, 7, 849-882.
- Geller, W. and Müller, H. (1981) The filtration apparatus of cladocera-filter mesh-sizes and their implications on food selectivity. *Oecologia*, **49**, 316-321.
- Gran, H. H. (1919) Quantitative investigations as to phytoplankton and pelagic protozoa in the Gulf of St. Lawrence and outside the same. *Canadian Fisheries Expedition, 1914-1915*, 489-495.
- Hardy, A. C. and Gunther, E. R. (1935) The plankton of the South Georgia whaling ground and adjacent waters, 1926-1927. *Discovery Reports*, **12**, 1-456.
- Hays, G. C. (2003) A review of the adaptive significance and ecosystem consequences of zooplankton diel vertical migrations. *Hydrobiologia*, **503**, 163-170.
- Humes, A. G. (1994) How many copepods? Hydrobiologia, 292-293, 1-7.
- Interlandi, S. J. and Kilham, S. S. (2001) Limiting resources and the regulation of diversity in phytoplankton communities. *Ecology*, **82**, 1270-1282.
- Katechakis, A., Haseneder, T., Kling, R. and Stibor, H. (2005) Mixotrophic versus photoautotrophic specialist algae as food for zooplankton: the light: nutrient hypothesis might not hold for mixotrophs. *Limnology and Oceanography*, **50**, 1290-1299.
- Kikuchi, K. (1930) Diurnal migration of plankton crustacea. *Quarterly Review of Biology*, **5**, 189-206.
- Kitchell, J. F., Oneill, R. V., Webb, D., Gallepp, G. W., Bartell, S. M., Koonce, J. F. and Ausmus, B. S. (1979) Consumer regulation of nutrient cycling. *Bioscience*, **29**, 28-34.

Kozhov, M. (1963) Lake baikal and its life. *Monographiae Biologicae*, **11**, 228-266.

- Lampert, W. (1987) Vertical migration of freshwater zooplankton indirect effects of vertebrate predators on algal communities. In Kerfoot, W. C. and Sih, A. (eds). *Predation: Direct and indirect impacts on aquatic communities. University Press* of New England, New Hampshire, pp 291-299.
- Lampert, W. (1992) Zooplankton vertical migrations implications for phytoplanktonzooplankton interactions. *Archiv für Hydrobiologie / Beihefte Ergebnisse der Limnologie*, **35**, 69-78.
- Lampert, W. (1993) Ultimate causes of diel vertical migration of zooplankton: new evidence for the predator-avoidance hypothesis. *Archiv für Hydrobiologie / Beihefte Ergebnisse der Limnologie*, **39**, 79-88.
- Lampert, W. and Sommer, U. (2007) *Limnoecology*. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Lampert, W., Schmitt, R. D. and Muck, P. (1988) Vertical migration of fresh-water zooplankton - test of some hypotheses predicting a metabolic advantage. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, **43**, 620-640.
- Lass, S., Boersma, M. and Spaak, P. (2000) How do migrating daphnids cope with fish predation risk in the epilimnion under anoxic conditions in the hypolimnion? *Journal of Plankton Research*, **22**, 1411-1418.
- Leibold, M. A. (1996) A graphical model of keystone predators in food webs: trophic regulation of abundance, incidence, and diversity patterns in communities. *American Naturalist*, **147**, 784-812.
- Loose, C. J. (1993) Lack of endogenous rhythmicity in *Daphnia* diel vertical migration. *Limnology and Oceanography*, **38**, 1837-1841.
- Loose, C. J. and Dawidowicz, P. (1994) Trade-offs in diel vertical migration by zooplankton the costs of predator avoidance. *Ecology*, **75**, 2255-2263.
- Loose, C. J., von Elert, E. and Dawidowicz, P. (1993) Chemically-induced diel vertical migration in *Daphnia* a new bioassay for kairomones exuded by fish. *Archiv fürr Hydrobiologie*, **126**, 329-337.
- Lozeron, H. (1902) Sur la répartition verticale du plankton dans de lac de Zürich, de décembre 1900 à décembre 1901. *Vierteljahresschrift der naturforschenden Gesellschaft in Zürich*, **47**, 115-198.
- Olli, K. (1999) Diel vertical migration of phytoplankton and heterotrophic flagellates in the Gulf of Riga. *Journal of Marine Systems*, **23**, 145-163.

- Orcutt, J. D. and Porter, K. G. (1983) Diel vertical migration by zooplankton constant and fluctuating temperature effects on life-history parameters of *Daphnia*. *Limnology and Oceanography*, **28**, 720-730.
- Orcutt, J. D. and Porter, K. G. (1984) The synergistic effects of temperature and food concentration on life-history parameters of *Daphnia*. *Oecologia*, **63**, 300-306.
- Paerl, H. W. and Ustach, J. F. (1982) Blue-green-algal scums an explanation for their occurrence during fresh-water blooms. *Limnology and Oceanography*, **27**, 212-217.
- Palmer, M. W. (1994) Variation in species richness towards a unification hypotheses. *Folia Geobotanica & Phytotaxonomica*, **29**, 511-530.
- Pavesi, P. (1882) Altra serie di ricerche e studi sulla fauna pelagica dei laghi italiani. *Atti della Società Veneto-Trentina di Scienze Naturali*, **8**, 340-403.
- Peacor, S. D. and Werner, E. E. (2001) The contribution of trait-mediated indirect effects to the net effects of a predator. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **98**, 3904-3908.
- Pearre, S. (2003) Eat and run? The hunger/satiation hypothesis in vertical migration: history, evidence and consequences. *Biological Reviews*, **78**, 1-79.
- Petipa, T. S. and Makarova, N. P. (1969) Dependency of phytoplankton production on rhythm and rate of elimination. *Marine Biology*, **3**, 191-195.
- Petzoldt, T., Rudolf, L., Rinke, K. and Benndorf, J. (2009) Effects of zooplankton diel vertical migration on a phytoplankton community: a scenario analysis of the underlying mechanisms. *Ecological Modelling*, **220**, 1358-1368.
- Raven, J. A. (1997) Phagotrophy in phototrophs. *Limnology and Oceanography*, **42**, 198-205.
- Raven, J. A. and Richardson, K. (1984) Dinophyte flagella a cost-benefit-analysis. *New Phytologist*, **98**, 259-276.
- Reichwaldt, E. S. and Stibor, H. (2005) The impact of diel vertical migration of *Daphnia* on phytoplankton dynamics. *Oecologia*, **146**, 50-56.
- Reichwaldt, E. S., Wolf, I. D. and Stibor, H. (2004) The effect of different zooplankton grazing patterns resulting from diel vertical migration on phytoplankton growth and composition: a laboratory experiment. *Oecologia*, **141**, 411-419.

- Reichwaldt, E. S., Wolf, I. D. and Stibor, H. (2005) Effects of a fluctuating temperature regime experienced by *daphnia* during diel vertical migration on *Daphnia* life history parameters. *Hydrobiologia*, **543**, 199-205.
- Ringelberg, J. (1991) Enhancement of the phototactic reaction in *Daphnia hyalina* by a chemical mediated by juvenile perch (*Perca fluviatilis*). *Journal of Plankton Research*, **13**, 17-25.
- Ringelberg, J. (1993) Phototaxis as a behavioural component of diel vertical migration in a pelagic *Daphnia*. *Archiv für Hydrobiologie / Beihefte Ergebnisse der Limnologie*, **39**, 45-55.
- Ringelberg, J. (2010) *Diel vertical migration of zooplankton in lakes and oceans*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Ringelberg, J., Flik, B. J. G., Lindenaar, D. and Royackers, K. (1991) Diel vertical migration of *Daphnia hyalina* (sensu latiori) in Lake Maarsseveen. 1. Aspects of seasonal and daily timing. *Archiv für Hydrobiologie*, **121**, 129-145.
- Ringelberg, J., Van Kasteel, J. and Servaas, H. (1967) Sensitivity of Daphnia magna straus to changes in light intensity at various adaptation levels and its implication in diurnal vertical migration. Zeitschrift für vergleichende Physiologie, 56, 397-407.
- Salonen, K. and Rosenberg, M. (2000) Advantages from diel vertical migration can explain the dominance of *Gonyostomum semen* (raphidophyceae) in a small, steeply-stratified humic lake. *Journal of Plankton Research*, **22**, 1841-1853.
- Sarnelle, O. (1992) Nutrient enrichment and grazer effects on phytoplankton in lakes. *Ecology*, **73**, 551-560.
- Sarnelle, O. (2005) *Daphnia* as keystone predators: effects on phytoplankton diversity and grazing resistance. *Journal of Plankton Research*, **27**, 1229-1238.
- Schindler, D. E. (1992) Nutrient regeneration by sockeye-salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) fry and subsequent effects on zooplankton and phytoplankton. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 49, 2498-2506.
- Schindler, D. W. (1987) Detecting ecosystem responses to anthropogenic stress. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, **44**, 6-25.
- Schmitz, O. J., Krivan, V. and Ovadia, O. (2004) Trophic cascades: the primacy of traitmediated indirect interactions. *Ecology Letters*, **7**, 153-163.

- Siebeck, O. (1960) Investigations of the vertical migration of planktonic crustacea under the influence of the conditions of light. *Internationale Revue der* gesamten Hydrobiologie und Hydrographie, **45**, 381-454.
- Smetacek, V. S. (1980) Zooplankton standing stock, copepod fecal pellets and particulate detritus in Kiel Bight. *Estuarine and Coastal Marine Science*, **11**, 477-490.
- Smith, V. H., Sturm, B. S. M., Denoyelles, F. J. and Billings, S. A. (2010) The ecology of algal biodiesel production. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **25**, 301-309.
- Sommer, U. (1982) Vertical niche separation between 2 closely related planktonic flagellate species (*Rhodomonas lens* and *Rhodomonas minuta v nannoplanctica*). Journal of Plankton Research, **4**, 137-142.
- Sommer, U. (1994) Planktologie. Springer Verlag, Berlin.
- Sommer, U. and Gliwicz, Z. M. (1986) Long-range vertical migration of volvox in tropical Lake Cahora Bassa (Mozambique). *Limnology and Oceanography*, **31**, 650-653.
- Sommer, U., Gliwicz, Z. M., Lampert, W. and Duncan, A. (1986) The peg-model of seasonal succession of planktonic events in fresh waters. *Archiv für Hydrobiologie*, **106**, 433-471.
- Sommer, U., Sommer, F., Santer, B., Jamieson, C., Boersma, M., Becker, C. and Hansen, T. (2001) Complementary impact of copepods and cladocerans on phytoplankton. *Ecology Letters*, **4**, 545-550.
- Sommer, U. and Stibor, H. (2002) Copepoda-cladocera-tunicata: the role of three major mesozooplankton groups in pelagic food webs. *Ecological Research*, **17**, 161-174.
- Sterner, R. W., Elser, J. J., Fee, E. J., Guildford, S. J. and Chrzanowski, T. H. (1997) The light: nutrient ratio in lakes: the balance of energy and materials affects ecosystem structure and process. *American Naturalist*, **150**, 663-684.
- Sterner, R. W. and Schwalbach, M. S. (2001) Diel integration of food quality by *Daphnia*: Luxury consumption by a freshwater planktonic herbivore. *Limnology and Oceanography*, **46**, 410-416.
- Steuer, A. (1901) Die Entomostrakenfauna der "Alten Donau" bei Wien. Zoologische Jahrbücher. Abteilung für Systematik, Geographie und Biologie der Tiere, **15**, 1-156.

- Stibor, H., Vadstein, O., Diehl, S., Gelzleichter, A., Hansen, T., Hantzsche, F., Katechakis, A., Lippert, B., Loseth, K., Peters, C., Roederer, W., Sandow, M., Sundt-Hansen, L. and Olsen, Y. (2004a) Copepods act as a switch between alternative trophic cascades in marine pelagic food webs. *Ecology Letters*, 7, 321-328.
- Stibor, H., Vadstein, O., Lippert, B., Roederer, W. and Olsen, Y. (2004b) Calanoid copepods and nutrient enrichment determine population dynamics of the appendicularian Oikopleura dioica: A mesocosm experiment. Marine Ecology-Progress Series, 270, 209-215.
- Stich, H. B. and Lampert, W. (1981) Predator evasion as an explanation of diurnal vertical migration by zooplankton. *Nature*, **293**, 396-398.
- Stich, H. B. and Lampert, W. (1984) Growth and reproduction of migrating and nonmigrating *Daphnia* species under simulated food and temperature conditions of diurnal vertical migration. *Oecologia*, **61**, 192-196.
- Striebel, M., Spörl, G. and Stibor, H. (2008) Light-induced changes of plankton growth and stoichiometry: Experiments with natural phytoplankton communities. *Limnology and Oceanography*, **53**, 513-522.
- Tilzer, M. M. (1973) Diurnal periodicity in phytoplankton assemblage of a high mountain lake. *Limnology and Oceanography*, **18**, 15-30.
- Tollrian, R. and Harvell, C. D. (1999) *The ecology and evolution of inducible defenses*. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- Trussell, G. C., Ewanchuk, P. J. and Bertness, M. D. (2003) Trait-mediated effects in rocky intertidal food chains: predator risk cues alter prey feeding rates. *Ecology*, 84, 629-640.
- Urabe, J. and Sterner, R. W. (1996) Regulation of herbivore growth by the balance of light and nutrients. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **93**, 8465-8469.
- Vadstein, O. (2000) Heterotrophic, planktonic bacteria and cycling of phosphorus phosphorus requirements, competitive ability, and food web interactions. *Advances in Microbial Ecology*, **16**, 115-167.
- Vanni, M. J. and Layne, C. D. (1997) Nutrient recycling and herbivory as mechanisms in the "top-down" effect of fish on algae in lakes. *Ecology*, **78**, 21-40.
- Vellend, M. (2010) Conceptual synthesis in community ecology. *Quarterly Review of Biology*, **85**, 183-206.

- Villareal, T. A. and Lipschultz, F. (1995) Internal nitrate concentrations in single cells of large phytoplankton from the Sargasso-Sea. *Journal of Phycology*, **31**, 689-696.
- Weissmann, A. (1877) Das Tierleben im Bodensee. Schriften des Vereins für Geschichte des Bodensees und seiner Umgebung, **7**, 1-31.
- Winder, M., Boersma, M. and Spaak, P. (2003) On the cost of vertical migration: are feeding conditions really worse at greater depths? *Freshwater Biology*, **48**, 383-393.
- Zaret, T. M. and Suffern, J. S. (1976) Vertical migration in zooplankton as a predator avoidance mechanism. *Limnology and Oceanography*, **21**, 804-813.
- Zoellner, E., Santer, B., Boersma, M., Hoppe, H.-G. and Juergens, K. (2003) Cascading predation effects of *Daphnia* and copepods on microbial food web components. *Freshwater Biology*, **48**, 2174-2193.

Personal notes

Curriculum vitae

Name: Florian Haupt
Date of birth: 09.04.1978
Place of birth: München, Germany
Martial status: unmarried
Citizenship: German
Address: Florianweg 1, 83317 Teisendorf, Germany
Email: flo_haupt@web.de

School education

September 1984 - July 1988	Grundschule Teisendorf
September 1988 - June 1997	Rottmayr Gymnasium Laufen
June 1997	Allgemeine Hochschulreife (matriculation standard)

Civilian service

August 1997 - December 1997	Kolping Ferienhotel Teisendorf
January 1998 – August 1998	Klinikum Traunstein

Academic education

November	1998	-	December	Studies	in	biology	at	Ludwig-Maximilians-
2004				Universitä	at Mü	nchen		
				Main subj	ect: e	ecology		
				Minor sul	bjects	s: zoology	, info	ormatics; landscaping
				and natur	e coi	nservation	(at T	echnische Universität
				München))			
				Diploma t	thesis	s: "The inf	luenc	e of mixing depth on
				phytoplan	kton-	Daphnia-i	ntera	ctions with focus on
				zooplankt	on" (i	in german)		

December 2004	Diploma in Biology
Since June 2006	PhD studies at Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München, Department Biology II, Aquatic Ecology, Advisor: Prof. Dr. Herwig Stibor (DFG founded project)
Professional experience	
January 2005 – May 2006	DRG appointee for vascular surgery, Klinikum Traunstein
Since November 2009	Case manager for vascular surgery, Klinikum Traunstein

Publications

- Haupt, F., Stockenreiter, M., Baumgartner, M., Boersma, M. and Stibor, H. (2009) Daphnia diel vertical migration: Implications beyond zooplankton. Journal of Plankton Research, 31, 515-524.
- Haupt F., Stockenreiter, M., Reichwaldt, E. S., Baumgartner, M., Lampert, W., Boersma, M. and Stibor, H. (2010) Upward phosphorus transport by *Daphnia* diel vertical migration. *Limnology and Oceanography*, **55**, 529-534.
- Haupt, F., Stockenreiter, M., Boersma, M. and Stibor, H. (2011) The effect of phytoplankton size structure on its response to *Daphnia* diel vertical migration. *Aquatic Ecology*, submitted.
- Striebel, M., Bartholmé, S., Zernecke, R., Steinlein, C., Haupt, F., Diehl, S. and Stibor,
 H. (2009) Carbon sequestration and stoichiometry of motile and nonmotile green algae. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 54, 1746-1752.
- Stockenreiter, M., Graber, A.-K., Haupt, F. and Stibor, H. (2011) The effect of species diversity on lipid production by micro-algal communities. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, DOI 10.1007/s10811-010-9644-1.

Presentations

Oral presentations

- Haupt, F., Striebel, M. and Diehl, S. The influence of mixing depth on phytoplankton-Daphnia-interactions: A field experiment. ASLO international meeting, June 2005, Santiago de Compostella, Spain.
- Haupt, F., Stockenreiter, M., Baumgartner, M., Boersma, M. and Stibor, H. Does diel vertical migration of *Daphnia* influence the phytoplankton community structure? SIL international meeting, August 2007, Montreal, Canada.
- Haupt, F., Stockenreiter, M., Baumgartner, M., Reichwaldt, E. S., Boersma, M. und Stibor, H. Aufwärtsgerichteter Nährstofftransport durch vertikalwandernde Daphnien. DGL Jahrestagung, September 2008, Konstanz, Germany.
- Haupt, F., Stockenreiter, M., Baumgartner, M., Reichwaldt, E. S., Boersma, M. and Stibor, H. Upward nutrient transport by *Daphnia* diel vertical migration. ASLO aquatic science meeting, January 2009, Nice, France.
- Haupt, F., Stockenreiter, M., Boersma, M., and Stibor, H. Does diel vertical migration of *Daphnia* influence the phytoplankton community structure? ASLO aquatic science meeting, Feburay 2011, San Juan, Puerto Rico.

Poster presentations

 Haupt, F., Stockenreiter, M., Baumgartner, M., Reichwaldt, E. S., Boersma, M. und Stibor, H. Aufwärtsgerichteter Nährstofftransport durch vertikalwandernde Daphnien. Munich Interact, April 2009, München, Germany.

Acknowledgments

I want to thank:

- Prof. Dr. Herwig Stibor for his endless help and support during this work as my supervisor
- Prof. Dr. Maarten Boersma for his support and his helpful comments on the manuscripts
- Prof. Dr. Sebastian Diehl for his help during the work and the funding
- Prof Dr. Wilfried Gabriel for his support
- Michaela Baumgartner, Mareike Forthmann, Philipp Trummer, Bernd Babl, and Angelina Waigel who conducted several experiments with me during their diploma and exam thesis
- Margit Feissel, Angelika Wild, and Achim Weigert for their help during the field and laboratory experiments.
- Dr. Maren Striebel, Dr. Stella Berger, Dr. Christoph Jäger, Dr. Michael Effenberger, Stephan Behl, Sabine Wollrab, Karin Haas
- Everybody in the Aquatic Ecology Group, especially Mechthild Kredler

Especially I want to thank Maria Stockenreiter for her infinite support, encouragement, and understanding during this work!

Declaration

Diese Promotion wurde im Sinne §12 der Promotionsordnung von Prof. Dr. Herwig Stibor betreut. Ich erkläre hiermit, dass die Dissertation keiner anderen Prüfungskommission vorgelegt worden ist und dass ich mich nicht anderweitig einer Doktorprüfung ohne Erfolg unterzogen habe.

Ehrenwörtliche Versicherung

Ich versichere hiermit, dass die vorgelegte Dissertation von mir selbständig, ohne unerlaubte Hilfe angefertigt wurde.

Ort, Datum

Unterschrift

Beitrag der Koautoren und eigener Beitrag

Paper I

Maria Stockenreiter und Michaela Baumgartner waren im Rahmen ihrer Diplomarbeit an der Durchführung und Auswertung (Auszählen der Zooplanktonproben) des Experiments beteiligt. Elke Reichwaldt half bei der Planung und Durchführung des Experiments und half bei der Fertigstellung des Manuskripts. Winfried Lampert half bei der Fertigstellung des Manuskripts.

Paper II

Maria Stockenreiter und Michaela Baumgartner waren im Rahmen ihrer Diplomarbeit an der Durchführung und Auswertung (Auszählen der Phytoplanktonproben) des Experiments beteiligt.

Paper III

Maria Stockenreiter war an der Durchführung und Auswertung (Auszählen der Phytoplanktonproben) des Experiments beteiligt und half bei der Fertigstellung des Manuskripts.

Paper IV

Ich war an der Konzeption, Durchführung und Auswertung der Experimente beteiligt und half beim Verfassen des Manuskripts.

Maarten Boersma unterstütze mich bei der Konzipierung der Versuche und half beim Anfertigen der Manuskripte I – III. Herwig Stibor unterstütze mich bei der Konzipierung der Versuche, war an der Diskussion der Ergebnisse beteiligt und half beim Anfertigen der Manuskripte I – IV.